FATTY ACID METABOLISM MEDIATED BY 12/15-LIPOXYGENASE IS A NOVEL REGULATOR OF HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELL FUNCTION AND MYELOPOIESIS

Michelle Kinder

A Dissertation in

Immunology

Presented to the Faculties of the University of Pennsylvania

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements For the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

2010

Dissertation Committee

Yvonne Paterson, Ph.D. Professor, Department of Microbiology (Chair) Michael Atchison, Ph.D. Professor, Department of Animal Biology Martin P. Carroll, M.D., Associate Professor, Department of Medicine Warren Pear, M.D. Ph.D. Associate Professor, Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine

Dissertation Advisor: Ellen Puré, Ph.D. Professor, Molecular and Cellular Oncogenesis Program, Wistar Institute

Graduate Group Chair: Steven Reiner, M.D. Professor Immunology Department, University of Pennsylvania

Fatty Acid Metabolism Mediated by 12/15-Lipoxygenase is a Novel Regulator of Hematopoietic Stem Cell Function and Myelopoiesis COPYRIGHT 2010

Michelle Kinder

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to my grandparents William and Santina Kinder. My promises to them have driven me towards my career goals. With this dissertation, I am keeping my promises.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge my parents, William and Frances Kinder, who instilled in me the value of hard work, determination, pride and dedication. Without these values, I would have given up long ago.

I acknowledge my fiancé, soon to be husband, James Walter. He has always been an ear for me to vent all my frustrations and a cheerleader whenever I needed him to be. I love him with all my heart and I am grateful for all the support he has unconditionally given to me.

I acknowledge my former scientific mentors, Mrs. Rita Tomlinson and Dr. Andrea Mastro. Mrs. Tomlinson helped to spark my interest in the biological sciences. Dr. Andrea Mastro gave me the first opportunity to understand what it is to do scientific research.

I acknowledge my mentor, Dr. Ellen Puré. She has given me a sense of whom I am as a scientist and of whom I will become. She was never afraid to push me when I needed it or to back away when appropriate. I have certainly grown as a scientist and as an individual during this graduate school experience and I am grateful for the opportunity to do this in Dr. Puré's laboratory.

That being said, I have to acknowledge lab members past and present of the Puré laboratory whom were always willing to help me including I. Crichton, R. Majumdar, L. Todd, R. Evans, E. Lee, A. Zukus and Drs. P. Mrass, M. Middleton, M. Fan, M. Jacob, H. Ra, A. Santos and L. Zhao. I thank them for their patience and our conversations scientific or otherwise.

I have to acknowledge our collaborators whose contributions were

iv

instrumental to this work including Drs. S. Shelat, M. Kundu, J. Thompson and I. Blair and his predoctoral trainee C. Wei. I want to thank my thesis committee members Drs. M. Carroll, W. Pear, Y. Paterson and M. Atchison for their helpful insights, collaborations and additional mentoring. I also need to acknowledge the Immunology Graduate Group and chair Dr. Steven Reiner. I am grateful to be associated with such an outstanding training program.

I am obliged to acknowledge my training grants, 5-T32-CA09171-31 and 5-T32-GM07229-32, which provided me with funding during my predoctoral training.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FIGURES AND TABLES	_vii
PUBLICATION OF WORK IN THIS DISSERTATION	xi
ABBREVIATIONS	xii
ABSTRACT	<u>xvi</u>
I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. EXPERIMENTAL WORK	
EXPERIMENTAL METHODS	38
CHAPTER 1: Alox15 mice exhibit alterations in hematopoietic compartments	46
CHAPTER 2: 12/15-LOX is a critical regulator of LT-HSC self-renewal	62
<u>CHAPTER 3:</u> IRF-8-driven monopoiesis is dependent upon <u>12/15-lipoxygenase -mediated redox signaling</u>	105
III. DISCUSSION	140
IV. LITERATURE CITED	160

FIGURES AND TABLES

Figure 1. Overview of hematopoiesis	2
Figure 2. Factors in HSC function	5
Figure 3. Schematic of myelopoiesis	9
Figure 4. Overview of arachidonic acid fatty acid metabolism	19
Figure 5. 12/15-LOX-Mediated Fatty Acid Metabolism	24
Figure 6. 12/15-Lipoxygenase products initiate multiple signaling pathways	26
Figure 7. Overview of hypothesis and aims	37
Figure 8. Alox15 mice exhibit multiple hematopoietic defects	49
Figure 9. Disrupted hematopoiesis throughout Alox15 lifespan compared	
to B6	50
Figure 10. 12/15-LOX regulates erythroid development	52
Figure 11. Alox15 exhibits disrupted splenic architecture due to increased	
numbers of erythroid progenitors	54
Figure 12. Disrupted erythroid cell parameters throughout Alox15 lifespan	
compared to B6	55
Figure 13. No significant phenotype in heterozygous Alox15 hematopoietic	
compartment	56
Figure 14. Defects in Alox15 hematopoiesis are cell-autonomous	58
Figure 15. Summary of dysregulated hematopoietic compartment in Alox15	
mice	59
Figure 16. 12/15-LOX is expressed in HSC and does not effect homing to BM	65

Figure 17. Schematic of competitive reconstitution assays	67
Figure 18. Alox15 HSCs are functionally defective	<u>68</u>
Figure 19. Multiple defects in Alox15 progenitor development during 9:1	
competitive reconstitution	69
Figure 20. Alox15 hematopoietic development is defective during 1:1	
competitive reconstitutions	70
Figure 21. Alox15 heterozygous mice do not display gross defects in	
HSC function	72
Figure 22. 12/15-LOX directly regulates HSC function	73
Figure 23. HSC-derived from Alox15 fetal livers are functionally defective	
during 1:1 competitive reconstitutions	75
Figure 24. 12/15-LOX regulates the function of LT-HSCs	76
Figure 25. 12/15-LOX does not regulate apoptosis of LSK	78
Figure 26. Increased proliferation of Alox15 HSC compared to B6	<u>79</u>
Figure 27. 12/15-LOX regulates self-renewal of HSC	81
Figure 28. Schematic of enhanced differentiation and decreased	
self-renewal in Alox15 HSCs	83
Figure 29. Alox15 HSCs exhibit decreased self-renewal capacity	84
Figure 30. Reduction in 12/15-LOX-generated ROS in Alox15 HSC	86
Figure 31. Alox15 HSCs have select defects in 12/15-LOX generated lipid	
mediators	88
Figure 32. 12(S)-HETE and 15(S)-HETE inhibit proliferation of bone marro	ow cells
but not HSCs in vitro. 90	

Figure 33. 12/15-LOX regulates ICSBP/IRF-8 in HSC	92
Figure 34. Decreased canonical Wnt signaling in Alox15 Lin ⁻ cKit ⁺	
progenitors	94
Figure 35. Proliferation of Alox15 LSK is not dependent on mTOR	96
Figure 36. Alox15 cells exhibit sensitivity to retroviral transduction	97
Figure 37. Schematic of canonical Wnt signaling in wildtype cells and	
dysregulated signaling in Alox15 HSC	103
Figure 38. 12/15-LOX is expressed during myeloid differentiation	108
Figure 39. Enhanced granulopoiesis at the expense of monopoiesis of	
Alox15 progenitors in methylcellulose assays	110
Figure 40. Alox15 progenitors have enhanced granulopoiesis and	
CFU-GM in the presence of myeloid cytokines	111
Figure 41. Excess accumulation of GMP in Alox15 mice	114
Figure 42. Accumulation of Alox15 GMP is not due to enhanced	
proliferation or survival	115
Figure 43. Alox15 GMP exhibit defective monocyte differentiation	117
Figure 44. Diagram of GMP differentiation in Alox15 mice	119
Figure 45. Defective IRF-8 transcriptional activity in Alox15 CMP, GMP	
and BMM is associated with altered products of fatty acid metabolism	121
Figure 46. ROS-signaling regulates IRF-8 nuclear accumulation in	
Alox15 cells	123
Figure 47. ROS-signaling restores monocyte development in Alox15 BM	
and GMP 125	

Figure 48. Increasing ROS levels in B6 cells or addition of 12SHETE	
in both B6 and Alox15 cells have no effect on myeloid cell development	126
Figure 49. The SHP1/2 inhibitor NSC-87877 restores monocyte developm	ent in
Alox15.	129
Figure 50. ROS and SHP2 regulate IL-12p40 expression in Alox15	
Macrophages	131
Figure 51. Model of 12/15-LOX regulation of IRF-8 nuclear accumulation	133
Figure 52. Schematic-12/15-LOX regulates multiple stages of	
Hematopoiesis	<u>141</u>
Figure 53. Schematic of fatty acid metabolism in myelopoiesis	144
Figure 54. Schematic of Fatty Acid Metabolism in normal HSC function	<u>147</u>
Figure 55. Schematic of fatty acid metabolism in leukemic HSC function	<u>151</u>
Figure 56. Fatty acid enzymes and metabolites during cancer progression	155

PUBLICATION OF WORK IN THIS DISSERTATION

Kinder, M., Thompson J., Wei, C., Blair, I., Carroll, M., Puré, E. 2009. IRF-8driven monopoiesis is regulated by 12/15-lipoxygenase mediated redox signaling. Submitted.

Kinder, M., Shelat, S., Kundu, M., Zhao, L, Puré, E. 2009. Hematopoietic stem cell function is dependent on 12/15-Lipoxygenase-mediated fatty acid metabolism. In revision.

ABBREVIATIONS

5-FU: 5-fluorouracil

AA: Arachidonic Acid

AP-1: activator protein-1

ATM: ataxia telangiectasia mutated

B6: C57BL/6

Blimp-1: B-lymphocyte-induced maturation protein-1

BM: Bone Marrow

BSO: buthionine sulfoximine

BrdU: bromodeoxyuridine

C/EBP α : CCAAT/enhancer binding protein- α

CFU-G: colony-forming units-granulocyte

CFU-GM: colony-forming units- granulocyte macrophage

CFU-M: colony-forming units-macrophage

CLP: common lymphoid progenitor

CML: chronic myelogenous leukemia

CMP: common myeloid progenitor

COX: cyclooxygenase

Dab2: disabled-2

DC: dendritic cells

DP: double positive

EET: epoxyeicosatrienoic acids

Egr-1: early growth response factor-1

Epo: erythropoietin

Erk: extracellular signal-regulated kinase

FCS: fetal calf serum

FoxO: forkhead box subgroup O

FoxP3: forkhead box P3⁺

GAPDH: glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase

G-CSF: granulocyte colony stimulating factor

Gfi-1: growth factor independent-1

GM-CSF: granulocyte-macrophage stimulating factor

GMP: granulocyte-macrophage progenitors

H&E: hematoxylin and eosin

HCT: hematocrit

HETE: hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acids

HGB: hemoglobin

HODE: hydroxyoctadecadienoic acid

Hox: homeobox

HpETE: hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acids

HpODE: hydroperoxyoctadecadienoic acid

HSC: Hematopoietic Stem Cells

ICSBP: interferon consensus sequence binding protein

IFN-γ: interferon-γ

lg: immunoglobulin

IKK: IkB kinase

IL-12p40: interleukin-12p40

IRF: interferon regulatory factor

Keap1: kelch like-ECH-associated protein 1

LT: leukotriene

LOX: lipoxygenase

LPS: lipopolysaccharide

LSK: Lin⁻Sca1⁺cKit⁺

LT-HSC: long-term hematopoietic stem cells

LX: lipoxin

M-CSF: macrophage colony stimulating factor

MAPK: mitogen activated protein kinase

MCV: mean cell volumes

MEP: megakaryocyte-erythroid progenitors

mTOR: mammalian target of rapamycin

MPD: myeloproliferative disease

MP: myeloid progenitors

MPN: myeloproliferative neoplasms

MPP: multipotent progenitors

Nab-2: NGFI-A binding protein 2

NAC: N-acetylcysteine

NF-1: neurofibromin

NK: natural killer

NADPH: nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate

- Nrf2: nuclear factor erythroid-derived-like 2
- NF-kB: nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
- PBS: phosphate buffered saline
- PGE₂: prostaglandin E2
- phox91: phagocyte oxidase 91
- phosphoinositide 3-kinase PI3-K
- PKC: protein kinase C
- PLCγ2: phospholipase Cγ2
- PP1 α : protein phosphatase-1 α
- PTEN: phosphatase tensin homolog
- Rac1: ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1
- RBC: red blood cell
- ROS: reactive oxygen species
- SCF: stem cell factor
- SHP-2: Src homology 2-containing tyrosine phosphatase-2
- SLAM: signaling lymphocytic activation molecule
- STAT: signal transducers and activators of transcription
- ST-HSC: short-term HSCs
- TSC: tuberous sclerosis complex
- TUNEL: terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUTP nick end labeling
- WBC: white blood cell

ABSTRACT

FATTY ACID METABOLISM MEDIATED BY 12/15-LIPOXYGENASE IS A NOVEL REGULATOR OF HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELL FUNCTION AND

MYELOPOIESIS

Michelle Kinder

Advisor: Ellen Puré

Fatty acid metabolism governs critical cellular processes in multiple cell types. The goal of my dissertation was to investigate the intersection between fatty acid metabolism and hematopoiesis. Although fatty acid metabolism has been extensively studied in mature hematopoietic subsets during inflammation, in developing hematopoietic cells the role of fatty acid metabolism, in particular by 12/15-Lipoxygenase (12/15-LOX), was unknown. The observation that 12/15-LOX-deficient (Alox15) mice developed a myeloid leukemia instigated my studies since leukemias are often a consequence of dysregulated hematopoiesis. This observation lead to the central hypothesis of this dissertation which is that polyunsaturated fatty acid metabolism mediated by 12/15-LOX participates in hematopoietic development. Using genetic mouse models and *in vitro* and *in* vivo cell development assays, I found that 12/15-LOX indeed regulates multiple stages of hematopoiesis including the function of hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) and the differentiation of B cells, T cells, basophils, granulocytes and monocytes. Within hematopoietic development, I concentrated on the mechanisms that underlie the defects in HSC function and monocyte development since these

xvi

defects likely contribute to the myeloid leukemogenesis in Alox15 mice. Interestingly, I determined that 12/15-LOX promotes HSC self-renewal and quiescence, which is associated with the activation of canonical Wnt signaling. Moreover, my studies demonstrate that 12/15-LOX-mediated redox signaling of SHP-2 and the transcription factor ICSBP/IRF-8 promotes monocyte development while inhibiting granulocyte development. This pathway is also conserved in IL-12p40 expression in macrophages. Therefore, I establish 12/15-LOX as a critical regulator of hematopoiesis and provide insight into novel mechanisms whereby HSC function and monocyte cell fate decisions are regulated. These findings have implications for leukemogenesis and immunity.

INTRODUCTION

Hematopoiesis is the dynamic process whereby all blood cells develop from a common progenitor, the hematopoietic stem cell (HSC). Under homeostatic conditions, hematopoiesis must continuously replenish billions of cells of the blood system daily including erythrocytes and neutrophils, which exhibit short half-lives. As HSC are relatively rare, but there is an abundance of blood cells, the process of hematopoiesis must be tightly regulated to produce appropriate numbers of each blood cell type. Moreover, the process of hematopoiesis must adapt to stresses such as infection. Dysregulation of hematopoiesis can result in immunodeficiencies, anemias or leukemias. Therefore, it is important to study the molecular processes that underlie normal and malignant hematopoietic development. In this dissertation, I define polyunsaturated fatty acid metabolism mediated by 12/15-Lipoxygenase (12/15-LOX) as a critical regulator of hematopoiesis. Specifically, I elucidate the mechanisms whereby 12/15-LOX regulates HSC function and myelopoiesis. Hematopoietic Stem Cells

HSCs are multipotent cells that give rise to all of the cells of the blood during hematopoiesis (Figure 1). HSCs possess the unique ability to undergo asymmetric division by proliferating in a fashion that preserves self-renewal and also allows for differentiation to give rise to mature blood cells. Because markers for HSCs have been identified (Wilson et al., 2007) and assays for measuring HSC function are well defined (Purton and Scadden, 2007),



Figure 1. Overview of hematopoiesis. Hematopoiesis is the process whereby the HSC differentiate to all the cells of the blood including lymphoid, erythroid and myeloid lineages. Only HSCs have the ability to self-renew and are enriched within the LSK subset. LT-HSCs are generally quiescent, and have a high capacity to self-renew and function, or reconstitute a lethally irradiated mouse, while ST-HSCs are more proliferative, and have a decreased ability to self-renew and function.

HSCs are an attractive model system for understanding tissue stem cells in general. The study of HSCs provides insight into the regulation of stem cells during infection, aging, and oncogenesis.

HSCs have been identified using various phenotypic markers. Although murine HSCs are enriched within the Lin-Sca1+cKit+ (LSK) cell compartment, they can be further subdivided both functionally and phenotypically into multiple subtypes by a combination of other markers including CD34 (Morel et al., 1996), Flt3 (Yang et al., 2005) and the signaling lymphocyte activation molecule (SLAM) markers CD48 and CD150 (Kiel et al., 2005). Long-term HSCs (LT-HSC) are the most primitive HSC and fully reconstitute the hematopoietic compartment of lethally irradiated animals. LT-HSCs are highly enriched (1 of every 2 cells) within the subset of cells that are identified based on phenotypic profile LSKFIt3⁻CD48⁻ CD150⁺CD34⁻ (Wilson et al., 2007). They reside in a hypoxic niche and are generally quiescent (Cheshier et al., 1999; Wilson et al., 2007) Recent studies have subdivided the LT-HSC compartment into dormant and activated LT-HSC based on cell retention assays using bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) and histone-2B-GFP labeling. Dormant LT-HSCs rarely divide but can become activated to undergo asymmetric division in order to respond to environmental stresses such as chemotherapy treatment (for example, 5-fluorouracil, 5-FU), cytokine stimulation and hematopoietic reconstitution. When stimulation wanes and homeostasis is reestablished, activated LT-HSCs become dormant again (Wilson et al., 2008). In comparison, short-term HSCs (ST-HSC) have decreased ability for long term reconstitution of lethally irradiated animals and are more

proliferative than LT-HSCs (Figure 1). ST-HSCs can further differentiate to become multipotent progenitors (MPP), which retain the ability to generate all blood lineages, but lose the potential to self-renew. Subpopulations of MPP may differ in their ability to differentiate into various blood cell types (Wilson et al., 2007).

One way of measuring HSC function is by measuring their ability to reconstitute lethally irradiated hosts. There are multiple factors that contribute to HSC function in this regard (Figure 2). The numbers, homing and survival of HSCs can effect their ability to function. Defective asymmetric division also effects HSC function. Inability to self-renew or differentiate compromises HSC function. The ability of HSCs to self-renew and differentiate is regulated through their environmental niche, cytokine signaling and the orchestrated activities of various transcription factors including growth factor independent-1 (Gfi-1), Bmi, homeobox B4 (Hox4b) and Pu.1 (Blank et al., 2008). However, less is known about the signaling pathways that regulate HSC function. In this dissertation, I demonstrate that signaling downstream of 12/15-LOX-mediated fatty acid metabolism regulates HSC self-renewal.

The unique capacity of HSCs to both differentiate and self-renew is closely related to their proliferative capacity (Ficara et al., 2008; Nemeth et al., 2006). Highly proliferative HSCs are less efficient at reconstituting lethally irradiated mice (Passegue et al., 2005). Thus, HSCs that lack cell cycle inhibitors required to maintain quiescence, such as p21cip/WAF, are functionally defective

Contributing factors in HSC function

- Number of cells
- Localization and signaling within specialized niche
- Survival of HSC
- Proliferation
- Defective Asymmetric Division



Figure 2. Factors in HSC function. Multiple factors regulate HSC function including the numbers of HSCs, localization and signaling within the specialized stem cell niche, the survival of HSCs, proliferation of HSCs and the ability of HSCs to undergo asymmetric division. Asymmetric division is the balance between self-renewal and differentiation. (Cheng et al., 2000). This dissertation will demonstrate that HSCs from 12/15-LOX-deficient mice, Alox15, exhibit defective quiescence and HSC function. *Canonical Wnt Signaling*

As mentioned, little was known about signaling pathways that regulate HSC function. Canonical Wnt signaling is one such pathway that has been implicated to regulate HSC function although its importance remains debated. Canonical Wnt signaling is believed to regulate HSC self-renewal and is known to play a role in other cell types, such as promoting B and T lymphocyte development (Staal and Sen, 2008) and enhancing self-renewal of tumor cells (Fodde and Brabletz, 2007). There are 19 defined Wnt ligands that are lipid modified by palmitoylation, which is required for its secretion from the cell (Takada et al., 2006; Willert et al., 2003). Wnt ligands act on 10 different Frizzled receptors and two low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP) coreceptors.

Wnt signaling is based on the availability of the ligands, receptors and secondary messengers. Up to 10 signaling pathways have been implicated downstream of Wnt signaling. The canonical signaling pathway results in stabilization and nuclear translocation of the transcription factor β -catenin (Malhotra and Kincade, 2009). During canonical signaling, ligands such as Wnt3a or Wnt 10b activate the frizzled receptor and LRP co-receptor to activate disheveled. Disheveled functions by inhibiting the β -catenin destruction complex which is composed of axin, glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK-3 β) and adenomatous polyposis coli (APC). In the absence of canonical Wnt

signaling, this complex binds and phosphorylates β -catenin targeting it for ubiquitination and subsequent proteolysis. When members of this complex such as axin are over-expressed, β -catenin protein is degraded and signaling is reduced, resulting in decreased HSC function and self-renewal (Reya et al., 2003). However, in the presence of canonical Wnt signaling β -catenin and a related protein, γ -catenin, are stabilized and can translocate to the nucleus where it acts as a co-activator for the lymphoid enhancer factor (LEF) and T cell factor (TCF) transcription factors (Malhotra and Kincade, 2009). The noncanonical Wnt signaling pathway is activated in part by the Wnt5a ligand and can inhibit canonical Wnt signaling (Nemeth et al., 2007).

The role of canonical Wnt signaling in HSC function has been controversial because inducible deletion of β -catenin and inducible co-deletion of β -catenin/ γ -catenin using Mx-Cre had little effect on HSC function (Cobas et al., 2004; Jeannet et al., 2008; Koch et al., 2008). However, in these studies, the LEF/TCF reporter was still active (Jeannet et al., 2008). On the other hand, recent evidence points to a critical role for canonical Wnt signaling in regulation of HSC quiescence and self-renewal. For instance, deletion of β -catenin using Vav-cre, resulted in defective self-renewal of LT-HSCs (Zhao et al., 2007). HSC function was also compromised due to defective self-renewal when the canonical ligand Wnt3a was deleted (Luis et al., 2009). Over-expression of Dickkopf-1, an inhibitor of canonical Wnt signaling, increased HSC proliferation and decreased HSC self-renewal (Fleming et al., 2008). Conversely, when Wnt signaling was elevated, such as in Hmgb3-deficient HSCs, the ability of HSCs to self-renewal

and repopulate following hematopoietic stress were enhanced (Nemeth et al., 2006). Taken together, these data support a role of canonical Wnt signaling in HSC self-renewal. This dissertation defines 12/15-LOX as a novel regulator of canonical Wnt signaling.

Myelopoiesis

Myelopoiesis is the process whereby myeloid cells, monocytes and granulocytes, are generated. Although originally thought of as a linear pathway, recent studies have shown that immature intermediates once thought to give rise exclusively to cells of the lymphoid lineage also possess myeloid cell potential (Bell and Bhandoola, 2008). These studies have caused the field to rethink the hierarchical model of myeloid cell differentiation (Ceredig et al., 2009). However, in order to concentrate on myeloid lineage differentiation rather than cells arising during lymphoid differentiation, I will refer to the classical model of myeloid cell differentiation (Figure 3). However, it is important to note that the lineage decisions between monocytes and granulocytes remain a mutually exclusive cell fate decision that is conserved throughout various models of hematopoiesis.

HSCs are multipotent and can differentiate into any hematopoietic lineage. However, as HSC differentiate they lose their ability to self-renew and are more restricted in their differentiation potential. HSC differentiate into MPP, which lack the ability to self-renew but can still differentiate into all lineages. MPP initiate T cell differentiation by seeding the thymus (Schwarz and Bhandoola, 2004), initiate B cell differentiation by differentiating into common lymphoid progenitors (CLP) (Kondo et al., 1997) or initiate myeloid cell differentiation by becoming



Figure 3. Schematic of myelopoiesis. Myelopoiesis is the process whereby the HSC differentiates into the cells of the myeloid compartment in a branching continuum. It is regulated by cytokines and transcription factors including those shown.

common myeloid progenitors (CMP) (Akashi et al., 2000). CMPs can support erythroid cell differentiation by becoming megakaryocyte-erythroid progenitors (MEP) and subsequently produce megakaryocytes, red blood cells and platelets. On the other hand, CMPs can differentiate to produce granulocyte-macrophage progenitors (GMP), which in turn produce either granulocytes or macrophages and types of dendritic cells (Akashi et al., 2000).

The process of myelopoiesis is regulated by cytokines and by transcription factors (Figure 3). The cytokine granulocyte-macrophage stimulating factor (GM-CSF) promotes the production of GMP, while granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) and macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) instruct granulocyte and monocyte lineage fate decisions, respectively. The signaling pathways of G-CSF and M-CSF have recently been elucidated. M-CSF activates phospholipase $C\gamma 2$ (PLC $\gamma 2$), which in turn stimulates extracellular signalregulated kinase (Erk) activation. Activated Erk leads to transcriptional activity of c/EBP α :c-fos and c-jun heterodimers and Egr-1 which drives monocyte differentiation. On the other hand, G-CSF stimulates signal transducers and activators of transcription 3 (Stat3) activation leading to phosphorylation and increased activity of the phosphatase Src homology 2-containing tyrosine phosphatase-2 (SHP-2) and formation of CCAAT/enhancer binding protein- α $(c/EBP\alpha)$ homodimers, which mediate transcription of genes that promote monocyte differentiation (Jack et al., 2009). Though the exact role of SHP-2 during granulopoiesis is not known, it is known to dephosphorylate and subsequently inhibit the transcriptional activity of interferon regulatory factor-

8 (IRF-8, also known as interferon consensus sequence binding protein, ICSBP), which is a critical regulator of monocyte differentiation (Huang et al., 2006; Tamura and Ozato, 2002). Interestingly, SHP-1 and SHP-2 are subject to oxidative modification that results in inactivation (Chen et al., 2009a; Heneberg and Draber, 2005; Kwon et al., 2005; Weibrecht et al., 2007). Moreover, reactive oxygen species (ROS) generated by lipoxygenases have been implicated in oxidative inactivation of SHP-2 during density dependent inhibition of cell growth (Pani et al., 2000). In chapter 3, I demonstrate that inhibition of SHP-1/2 restores monocyte development and interleukin-12p40 (IL-12p40) production in Alox15 cells, suggesting a pathway by which 12/15-LOX-mediated redox signaling regulates myelopoeisis and inflammation through ICSBP/IRF-8

As described above, cytokines stimulate signaling pathways that result in the activation of transcription factors. The cell fate decision between monocyte and granulocytes are mutually exclusive and pathways that promote one cell fate often inhibit the other. For instance, the transcription factors early growth response factor-1 (Egr-1), Egr-2, ICSBP/IRF-8, NGFI-A binding protein 2 (Nab-2), c-Jun and HoxA10 promote monocyte differentiation and repress granulocyte differentiation while Gfi-1 promotes granulocyte differentiation and inhibits monocyte differentiation (Friedman, 2007; Hock et al., 2003). In addition, the relative levels of transcription factors function as a rheostat to control differentiation; increased levels of PU.1 promote monocyte differentiation while higher levels of the transcription factor C/EBP α promote granulocyte differentiation (Dahl et al., 2003).

ICSBP/IRF-8

The interferon regulatory factor family of transcription factors is known to regulate cell fate decisions and immune regulation (Tamura et al., 2008). One such family member, ICSBP/IRF-8 is an immune cell specific transcription factor important in development of multiple hematopoietic cell types. ICSBP/IRF-8-regulates B cell, dendritic cell and monocyte development and absence of ICSBP/IRF-8 in ICSBP/IRF-8-deficient mice leads to deficiencies of these populations (Lu et al., 2003; Tsujimura et al., 2002). Moreover, the disruption of myeloid cell development in ICSBP/IRF-8-deficient mice results in chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML)-like myeloproliferative disorder that progresses to a blast crisis (Holtschke et al., 1996).

The expression of ICSBP/IRF-8 and other members of the interferon regulatory factor family members are activated by interferon-γ (IFN-γ) signaling through Stat1 (Kanno et al., 1993). ICSBP/IRF-8 consists of 3 domains: DNA binding domain, transcription repressor domain and an IRF-association domain (Sharf et al., 1995). IRF-8 both represses and activates transcription of distinct subsets of genes. ICSBP/IRF-8 activates transcription of genes including neurofibromin (NF-1) (Zhu et al., 2004), p15INK4b (Schmidt et al., 2004), phagocyte oxidase91 (phox91) (Eklund et al., 1998), phox67 (Eklund and Kakar, 1999), B-lymphocyte-induced maturation protein-1 (Blimp-1) (Tamura et al., 2003) and IL-12p40 (Wang et al., 2000) and represses transcription of other genes including bcl-xl (Gabriele et al., 1999), bcl-2 (Burchert et al., 2004), and disabled-2 (Dab2) (Rosenbauer et al., 2002).

ICSBP/IRF-8-transcriptional activity is regulated post-translationally on multiple levels. The gene targeting and transcriptional activity of ICSBP/IRF-8 is conferred in part by its binding to other transcription factors such as PU.1 and other IRF family members (Eklund et al., 1998). The association of ICSBP/IRF-8 with other transcription factors is also believed to regulate whether it functions as a transcriptional activator or repressor. Tyrosine phosphorylation of ICSBP/IRF-8 inhibited its direct binding to DNA but allowed for ICSBP/IRF-8 to bind DNA in association with IRF-1 or IRF-2 (Sharf et al., 1997). On the other hand, the phosphatases SHP-1 and SHP-2 de-phosphorylated ICSBP/IRF-8 causing functional inactivation by inhibiting its association with other transcription factors such as PU.1 (Kautz et al., 2001; Huang et al., 2006). One mechanism whereby oncogenic constitutively active SHP-2 contributes to myeloid leukemia is by decreasing levels of the ICSBP/IRF-8-mediated gene target NF-1, which in turn increases cytokine sensitivity (Huang et al., 2006; Koenigsmann et al., 2009). Moreover, ICSBP/IRF-8 is subject to regulation by proteosomal degradation through Cbl ubiquitin ligase after LPS/IFN γ stimulation (Xiong et al., 2005). Lastly, previous data from our laboratory demonstrated that ICSBP/IRF-8 is also regulated at the level of nuclear accumulation. 12/15-LOX-deficient myeloid splenocytes exhibited similar levels of total but decreased nuclear accumulation of ICSBP/IRF-8. This regulation was mediated in part by PI3-K (Middleton et al., 2006b). In this dissertation, I elucidate that 12/15-LOX regulates ICSBP/IRF-8 nuclear accumulation through a redox-dependent mechanism.

ICSBP/IRF-8 and its target genes are implicated in HSC function.

ICSBP/IRF-8 expression is decreased in aging HSC (Stirewalt et al., 2008), which are known to be functionally compromised (Roobrouck et al., 2008). In addition, ICSBP/IRF-8 represses Dab2 transcription, and ICSBP/IRF-8-deficient cells express high levels of Dab2 (Rosenbauer et al., 2002). Others have shown that Dab2 negatively regulates canonical Wnt signaling by stabilizing axin and the β -catenin degradation complex while inhibiting disheveled (Hocevar et al., 2003; Jiang et al., 2008). Our data demonstrate that Dab2 expression is also increased in Alox15 HSC, which results in decreased canonical Wnt signaling. As described above, canonical Wnt signaling regulates HSC function and may contribute to the defects in Alox15 HSC.

ICSBP/IRF-8 critically promotes monocyte differentiation in conjugation with PU.1 by activating genes that stimulate monocyte differentiation while inhibiting genes that promote granulocyte differentiation (Tamura et al., 2000). ICSBP/IRF-8-deficient mice exhibited defective monocyte differentation and enhanced granulocyte differentiation that was corrected by retrovirally restoring IRF-8 expression (Tsujimura et al., 2002). Moreover, ICSBP/IRF-8-deficient mice developed a granulocytic chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML)-like leukemia that progresses into a blast crisis (Holtschke et al., 1996). In addition to its tumor suppressor role in murine leukemia, ICSBP/IRF-8 may also function as a tumor suppressor in human CML. ICSBP/IRF-8 is down-regulated in human CML (Schmidt et al., 1998; Schmidt et al., 2001) and has been shown to antagonize BCR-ABL-induced oncogenesis (Hao and Ren, 2000; Tamura et al., 2003; Burchert et al., 2004). Interestingly, ICSBP/IRF-8 also functions as a

tumor suppressor in other leukemias (Gurevich et al., 2006; Ma et al., 2006; Konieczna et al., 2008; Schwieger et al., 2002).

ICSBP/IRF-8 critically mediates immunity by transcribing IL-12p40 mRNA in antigen presenting cells, dendritic cells and macrophages (Hein et al., 2000) (Jayakumar et al., 2008; Scharton-Kersten et al., 1997). Loss of IL-12p40 gene expression in IRF-8/ICSBP-deficient mice results in susceptibility to myriad of viruses, parasites and bacteria including vaccinia virus, lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (Holtschke et al., 1996) Listeria monocytogenes (Fehr et al., 1997), Yersinia enterocolitica (Hein et al., 2000), Toxoplasma Gondii (Scharton-Kersten et al., 1997), and Leishmania major (Giese et al., 1997). Because of the development of a myeloproliferative disease in ICSBP/IRF-8 deficient mice, less is known about the role of ICSBP/IRF-8 during chronic inflammatory events. Development of a floxed ICSBP/IRF-8 mouse would facilitate further studies into the role of ICSBP/IRF-8 in immunity and chronic inflammation.

Myeloproliferative Neoplasms

Myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPN) are a result of defective myelopoiesis and are characterized by a clonal expansion of myeloid subsets. Human MPNs include CML, chronic neutrophilic leukemia, polycythemia vera, primary myelofibrosis, essential thrombocythemia, chronic eosinophilic leukemia, mastocytosis, and unclassifiable MPNs (Thiele, 2009).

Defects in transcription factors that regulate myelopoiesis contribute to myeloid leukemias in both mice and humans. For instance, ICSBP/IRF-8

regulates monocyte differentation and inhibits granulocyte differentiation (Tamura et al., 2000; Tsujimura et al., 2002). In ICSBP/IRF-8-deficient mice, a granulocytic CML-like myeloproliferative neoplasm results (Holtschke et al., 1996). Moreover, during human CML, ICSBP/IRF-8 expression is decreased (Schmidt et al., 1998). Similarly, the transcription factor JunB regulates myelopoiesis and loss of JunB in the myeloid lineage leads to a CML-like MPN (Passegue et al., 2001). Human CML is also associated with decreased JunB expression (Hoshino et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2003). Another example is PU.1, which regulates early myeloid differentiation. PU.1-deficient mice have an early block in myeloid differentiation and disruption of PU.1 results in an acute myeloid leukemia in both mice and humans (Anderson et al., 1998; Mueller et al., 2002).

Alterations in cell signaling can also underlie myeloid leukemogenesis. Loss of NF-1 gene expression in both mice and humans results in hyperactive Ras and cytokine signaling leading to juvenile chronic myelogenous leukemia (Shannon et al., 1994; Kalra et al., 1994; Bollag et al., 1996). Similarly, activating mutations in SHP-2 also stimulates Ras activation resulting in cytokine hypersensitivity and myelogenous leukemia (Niihori et al., 2005; Loh et al., 2004; Schubbert et al., 2005). Polycythemia vera, primary myelofibrosis and essential thrombocythemia represent related MPNs often caused by activating mutations in Jak2 (Levine and Gilliland, 2008). On the other hand, human CML is characterized by presence of a translocation known as the Philadelphia chromosome involving chromosomes 9 and 22. The Philadelphia chromosome is a fusion of Bcr to Abl that results in a constitutively active tyrosine kinase.

Bcr-Abl activates multiple signaling pathways to promote oncogenic signaling including activation of PI3-K and Ras signaling (Ren, 2005). Treatment of CML with the tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib has resulted in about 80% clinical and cytogenic remissions; however, treatment is not curative (Vardiman, 2009).

Since HSCs are the only stage at which self-renewal can occur during normal hematopoiesis often the mutations that lead to leukemia are found in HSCs. For instance, JunB deficiency must be in the HSCs and not in later stages of hematopoiesis for leukemia to result (Passegue et al., 2004). Moreover, deficiency of the tumor suppressor phosphatase tensin homolog (PTEN) in HSCs results in a myeloid leukemia (Yilmaz et al., 2006). In human leukemia, the Bcr-Abl translocation is found in HSCs and drives the chronic phase of disease. However, a secondary mutation develops in GMPs that confers the ability to selfrenew and drives the blast crisis disease phase (Jamieson et al., 2004). *Fatty acid metabolism*

Metabolism describes the chemical processes in living organisms that support cellular and organismal functions. Fatty acid metabolism describes chemical reactions that involve fatty acids, such as those found in triglycerides and membrane phospholipids. Triglycerides serve to generate energy for the body and are stored in adipose tissue. Meanwhile, the fatty acid components of cell membranes can be directly modified enzymatically or catabolized through the actions of phospholipases to generate free fatty acids. Fatty acid metabolism generates secondary messengers that serve as signaling molecules to regulate cellular processes including vascular homeostasis, platelet aggregation and

inflammatory responses.

During polyunsaturated fatty acid metabolism, lipid substrates such as arachidonic acid (AA) or lineolic acid are released from the cell membranes by phospholipase A₂. The major product AA is then metabolized through the action of oxidative enzymes including cytochrome p450, cyclooxygenases, and lipoxygenases to produce multiple bioactive lipid mediators including eicosanoids, prostaglandins, leukotrienes and lipoxins (Figure 4). These products are generated in a cell-context dependent manner and can signal in both autocrine and paracrine fashions (Harizi et al., 2008). Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are generated as a byproduct of the oxidation step of AA and as the lipid products are further metabolized by gluthathione reductase activity (Kim et al., 2008) (Figure 4). The myriad lipid mediators often have opposing functions and hence signaling is dependent on the relative concentration of multiple lipid mediators (Harizi et al., 2008).

Cytochrome p450 and Cyclooxygenases

The cytochrome p450 superfamily is composed of 57 members and is expressed in multiple cell types including liver, adrenal glands, and peripheral blood leukocytes where its expression can be induced by various stimuli (Dy and Schneider, 2004). Cytochrome p450 metabolizes AA to produce hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acids (HETE) and epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (EET). Cytochrome p450 functions in angiogenesis and plays a protective role during myocardial and cerebral ischemia. Moreover, lipid mediators produced by cytochrome p450 have been shown to play an anti-inflammatory role in



Figure 4. Overview of arachidonic acid fatty acid metabolism. Multiple enzymes including lipoxygenases, cytochrome450 and cyclooxygenaeses oxidize AA to produce many lipid products, some of which are shown here. ROS are generated in multiple reactions.
endothelium and in the kidney (Spector, 2009). Cytochrome p450 lipid products exert their effects extracellularly, through a putative EET receptor or by binding other lipid receptor agonists which are coupled to signaling pathways, and intracellularly by acting directly on ion channels, cell signaling proteins, transcription factors or by incorporation into membrane phospholipids. Interestingly, cytochrome p450 lipid products can have opposing functions. For example, 20-HETE acts on smooth muscle cells as a vasoconstrictor while EET acts as a vasodilator (Kroetz and Zeldin, 2002).

Cyclooxygenases catabolize AA to produce prostaglandins, which exert their pleiotropic effects by binding to multiple G-protein coupled receptors that vary in their secondary signaling pathways and cellular expression (Harizi et al., 2008). Cyclooxygenase-1 (COX-1) is constitutively expressed in most cell types and is highly expressed in endothelium, monocytes, platelets, renal collecting tubules and seminal vesicles. The expression of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) is inducible and restricted to cells involved in reproduction, immunity, renal physiology, neutrotransmission, bone resorption and pancreatic secretion. COX-2 is induced by multiple proliferative and inflammatory stimuli including tumor necrosis factor- α , lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and IL-1 and decreased by glucocortioids and anti-inflammatory stimuli (Smith et al., 2000). Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, such as aspirin and ibuprofen, target the COX isoforms as a treatment for pain, fever, and inflammation (Rouzer and Marnett, 2009). COX-2 is pro-inflammatory in peripheral tissues and participates in inflammatory diseases such as cancer and in rheumatoid arthritis (Obukowicz and

Ornberg, 1999; Rouzer and Marnett, 2009; Tuynman et al., 2008). COX-2 specific inhibitors have been developed to treat chronic inflammation but its use is limited due to cardiovascular toxicity, which is associated with decreased PGI₂ production in the blood vessel wall (Rho et al., 2009; Rouzer and Marnett, 2009). On the other hand, COX-2 can also decrease inflammation in a cell-context dependent manner. For instance, COX-2 through prostaglandin E2 (PGE₂) can decrease inflammation in secondary lymphoid organs by decreasing IL-12p40 production through an IL-10 dependent mechanism in dendritic cells (DC), inducing forkhead box P3⁺ (FoxP3) regulatory T cells, suppressing natural killer (NK) cell IFN γ production and inducing B cell immunoglobulin (Ig)-class switching (Harizi et al., 2008; Harizi and Gualde, 2006).

Lipoxygenases

Lipoxygenases are a diverse class of oxidative enzymes that catalyze oxygenation of AA and lineolic acid to generate numerous hydroperoxyeicosatetraeoic acid (HpETE) intermediates (Conrad, 1999). 5-Lipoxygenase (5-LOX) is an enzyme primarily expressed in leukocytes that catalyzes the conversion of AA to 5-HpETE and subsequently catalyzes the reaction of 5-HpETE to generate leukotriene A₄. 5-LOX is bound by 5-lipoxygenase activating protein that enhances its substrate binding. Leukotriene A₄ is subsequently converted to leukotriene C₄ (LTC₄) in cells that express LTC₄ synthase such as mast cells, eosinophils, and endothelial cells or converted to leukotriene B4 in cells that express LTA₄ hydrolase such as neutrophils and monocytes. LTC₄ can be further metabolized to produce LTD₄, and LTE₄. Leukotrienes are

released from the cell by protein transporters and signal by binding G-coupled protein receptors BLT₁, BLT₂, cysLT₁, cysLT₂ (Peters-Golden and Henderson, 2007). The leukotrienes produced depend on cellular context, and their signaling depends on the expression of receptors on neighboring cells. Leukotrienes stimulate leukocyte recruitment of multiple cell types to inflammatory sites and their subsequent activation (Islam et al., 2006; Tager et al., 2000; Lee et al., 1999; Shin et al., 2006; Taube et al., 2006). Leukotrienes also increase Th2 inflammatory responses, vascular permeability, and bronchoconstriction and contribute to the pathogenesis of asthma, cardiovascular disease, arthritis and cancer (Hyde and Missailidis, 2009; Peters-Golden and Henderson, 2007; Woszczek et al., 2005; Williams and Spector, 2009). Moreover, inhibitors of 5-LOX and cysLT1 are used in the treatment of asthma (Israel et al., 1996; Schmidt et al., 2005; Van Schoor et al., 1997).

5-LOX in concert with 15-lipoxygenase (15-LOX) or 12-lipoxygenase, generates lipoxin A₄ and lipoxin B₄. Not only does lipoxin production decrease leukotreine production, generally, the actions of lipoxins function to oppose the actions of leukotrienes (Serhan, 2005). Lipoxins control the resolution of inflammation by stimulating anti-inflammatory pathways such as inhibiting neutrophil infiltration, acting as a chemoattractant for macrophages and stimulating their uptake of apoptotic cells, and decreasing production of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 and IL-8 (Papayianni et al., 1996; Godson et al., 2000; Lee et al., 1989; Bonnans et al., 2002; Machado et al., 2008; Maddox et al., 1997; Sodin-Semrl et al., 2000; Wu et al., 2005). These actions play a

role in the resolution of inflammatory events such as airway inflammation, asthma, arthritis, and gastrointestinal disease (Kronke et al., 2009; Serhan, 2005; Janakiram and Rao, 2009; Levy et al., 2002; Wallace et al., 2005).

12/15-Lipoxygenase

In the process of metabolizing polyunsaturated fatty acids, 12/15lipoxygenase (12/15-LOX) generates multiple products. 12/15-LOX introduces molecular oxygen into AA and linoleic acids to produce bioactive labile lipid intermediates such as 12(S)-hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid (12(S)-HpETE), 15(S)-hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid (15(S)-HpETE) and 13(S)hydroperoxyoctadecadienoic acid (13(S)-HpODE). These intermediates are rapidly reduced by glutathione reductase to release ROS and produce additional bioactive lipid metabolites, including 12(S)-HETE, 15(S)-HETE, 13(S)-HODE, lipoxins, and hepoxilins (Kuhn and O'Donnell, 2006) (Figure 5). 12/15-LOX can also oxidize membrane-bound fatty acids directly to produce additional fatty acid products. Moreover, novel products of 12/15-LOX are still being defined (Wei et al., 2009).

Humans have multiple 12/15-lipoxygeneases, including leukocyte-type 12lipoxygenase, 15-lipoxygenase-1 and 15-lipoxygenase-2 all of which have the ability to produce 12(S)-HETE as well as 15(S)-HETE albeit in different ratios. 15-Lipoxygenase-1 is expressed in reticulocytes, leukocytes, bronchial epithelial cells and carcinoma cells while 15-lipoxygenase-2 is not expressed in peripheral leukocytes but rather in liver, spleen, kidney, intestines, testis, ovary, muscle, heart and brain. 15-Lipoxygenase-1 and 15-lipoxygenase-2 are co-



Figure 5. 12/15-LOX-Mediated Fatty Acid Metabolism. 12/15-LOX functions in part by adding a molecular oxygen onto the polyunsaturated fatty acid substrates arachidonic and linoleic acids to produce 12(*S*)-hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid (12(*S*)-HpETE), 15(*S*)-hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid (15(*S*)-HpETE) and 13(*S*)hydroperoxyoctadecadienoic acid (13(*S*)-HpODE). These intermediates are unstable and rapidly metabolized through gluthione peroxidase to release reactive oxygen species and additional bioactive lipid metabolites, including 12(*S*)-HETE, 15(*S*)-HETE, 13(*S*)-HODE. expressed in bronchial epithelial cells (Chanez et al., 2002). Leukocyte-type 12lipoxygenase is expressed in leukocytes, liver, lung, and endothelial cells (Funk et al., 1992). On the other hand, mice possess a single leukocyte-type 12/15lipoxgenase, which produces 12(S)-HETE and 15(S)-HETE at a ratio of 3:1 (Chen et al., 1994). Therefore, murine 12/15-LOX and human 12- and 15lipoxygenases differ in lipid mediator production. Some of the effects of murine 12/15-LOX are analogous to human leukocyte 12-lipoxgenase (Mullin et al., 2007) while others map to 15-lipoxygenase-1 (Kelavkar et al., 2004). Therefore, in order to elucidate the relevant human counterpart, it is important to understand the products of murine 12/15-LOX that mediate its biological effects. Platelet-type 12-lipoxygenases found in humans and mice but are less related to leukocyte-type 12-lipoxygenase and 15-lipoxygenase-1 both by sequence and function.

12/15-Lipoxygenase products can activate multiple signaling pathways resulting in activation of transcription factors including peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor γ, IRF-8, and nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) that then modulate gene transcription (Huang et al., 1999; Middleton et al., 2006a) (Figure 6). 12(S)-HETE and 15(S)-HETE both activate protein kinase C (PKC) while 15(S)-HETE and 13(S)-HODE activate the mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway. Products of 12/15-LOX can also be incorporated into cellular membranes to regulate cellular functions (Takata et al., 1994; Kuhn and Brash, 1990; van Leyen et al., 1998). 12/15-LOX lipid mediator signaling events have pleiotropic affects on myriad cell types.



Figure 6. 12/15-Lipoxygenase products initiate multiple signaling pathways. The products of 12/15-LOX can initiate multiple signaling pathways regulating gene transcription by a PI3-K-dependent and possibly independent regulation of the transcription factor ICSBP/IRF-8, and activation of NF-kB and PPAR_Y transcription factors.

Notably, 12/15-LOX regulates the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, psoriasis, arthritis, glomerular nephritits, and airway inflammation (Conrad, 1999).

Reactive Oxygen Species

ROS are another important product of fatty acid metabolism. Cellular ROS, such as superoxide O_2^{-} , hydrogen peroxides H_2O_2 , hydroxyl radial OH⁻ and hypochlorous acid HOCI, are produced through the actions of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidases (NAPDH oxidases), mitochondria and fatty acid metabolism (Ghaffari, 2008; Haddad, 2002a). ROS regulate multiple signaling processes. For instance, ROS play a paramount role during phagocyte killing of bacteria in a process known as the oxidative burst. ROS can also be highly toxic to cells by causing oxidative stress resulting in cellular and tissue damage through oxidative modification of cellular components and activation of apoptosis. Therefore, the levels of cellular ROS are tightly controlled by the presence of anti-oxidants. Cellular anti-oxidants are present in various forms including reducing agents such as vitamin E, vitamin C, glutathione and including enzymes such as catalase, superoxide dismutase and peroxidases. For example, superoxide is catalyzed by superoxide dismutase to produce hydrogen peroxide H_2O_2 , which is further metabolized by catalase to produce molecular oxygen and water (Ghaffari, 2008). Inhibition of anti-oxidants in the cell can result in oxidative stress (Jones, 2008).

ROS mediate redox reactions, which is the shuffling of electrons in chemical reactions. Redox signaling is always occurring within the cell in homeostatic conditions to regulate essential cellular functions. For instance,

redox signaling in the electron transport chain in mitochondria generates the majority of energy in the body as adenosine triphosphate (Hancock, 2009). Redox signaling also regulates protein function. Cysteines within proteins contain a thiol residue that is susceptible to oxidative modification, which can result in the formation of disulfide bonds if two cysteine residues are in close proximity. Oxidative modification of a protein residue can have multiple effects on protein function. If the residue is in a catalytic site of an enzyme, oxidative modification can cause functional inactivation. If the residue is in an allosteric site, oxidative modification can alter protein conformation and function as a rheostat for protein activity. Moreover, oxidative modification of proteins can alter protein binding and result in decreased or increased binding to substrates such as DNA, membranes, cytoskeleton or other proteins (Jones, 2008).

In theory, redox signaling can regulate any protein with an accessible cysteine residue. There is an average of 1.9 cysteine residues per protein in humans. Therefore, redox signaling could theoretically regulate many proteins. Because of the need for cysteine residues to be accessible it is likely that only 10-20% of human proteins are in fact directly regulated by redox signaling (Jones, 2008). Many protein targets of redox reactions have been identified including receptors such as α IIb β 3 integrin, phosphatases such as SHP-1/2, PTEN and protein phosphatase-1 α (PP1 α), cytoskeletal components such as actin and signal transducers such as caspases, ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1 (Rac1), IkB kinase (IKK) and kelch like-ECH-associated protein 1 (Keap1). Production of ROS mediates modulation of multiple signaling

pathways including activation of p-53, Ras, PI3-K and p38 MAPK signaling and modulation of gene transcription by NF_KB, nuclear factor erythroid-derived-like 2 (Nrf2), Egr-1 (Haddad, 2002a; Hainaut and Mann, 2001; Iiyama et al., 2006; Naughton et al., 2009; Pan et al., 2009). ROS signaling results in cellular functions such as proliferation and secretion of inflammatory cytokines (liyama et al., 2006) (Haddad, 2002b). On the other hand, hypoxia can result in migration of macrophages and DC and activation of transcription factors including HIF1 α , HIF2 α , activator protein-1 (AP-1), activating transcription factor-2/5 and Fos homolog B (Bosco et al., 2008; Haddad, 2002a). This dissertation elucidates a novel target downstream of redox signaling, the transcription factor IRF-8 and implicates the redox sensitive phosphatase SHP-1/2 in this regulation.

Alox15 mice

Mice deficient in 12/15-LOX, Alox15 mice, have been developed by targeted disruption of exon 3 to generate an in-frame stop codon prior to the catalytic domain (Sun and Funk, 1996). Alox15 mice have been extensively studied in the context of inflammation. For instance, Alox15 mice were protected against atherosclerosis (Cyrus et al., 2001; George et al., 2001). This protection was associated with decreased ox-LDL production in Alox15 macrophages (Sun and Funk, 1996) and decreased IL-12p40 production in Alox15 atherosclerotic lesions (Zhao et al., 2002). Alox15 mice were also protected against inflammation caused by allergic asthma (Andersson et al., 2008; Hajek et al., 2008) and acute lung injury (Zarbock et al., 2009). The attenuated inflammation was associated with decreased levels of the 12/15-LOX product 12(S)-HETE

(Zarbock et al., 2009). However, Alox15 mice exhibited exacerbated inflammation in a tumor necrosis factor transgenic model of arthritis (Kronke et al., 2009), which was associated with decreased levels of the anti-inflammatory 12/15-LOX-mediated product, LXA₄. Therefore, the signaling downstream of 12/15-LOX depends on the production and context of specific 12/15-LOXgenerated products.

12/15-LOX promotes IL-12p40 production in macrophages. Alox15 peritoneal macrophages but not bone marrow derived dendritic cells exhibited decreased levels of IL-12p40 in response to LPS and IFN- γ stimulation. This defect was associated with decreased levels of IRF-8 and NF-kB binding to the IL-12p40 promoter (Middleton et al., 2006a). Others also demonstrated that 12/15-LOX contributes to inflammatory gene expression in macrophages (Dioszeghy et al., 2008). 12/15-LOX regulation of IL-12p40 and inflammatory gene transcription in macrophages has implications for inflammatory diseases in which macrophages play a predominant role. As stated previously, 12/15-LOXdependent IL-12p40 production contributed to the inflammatory milieu and disease progression of atherosclerosis (Zhao et al., 2002). Moreover, Alox15 mice were defective in immunity to chronic toxoplasma gondii infection but not during acute infection (Middleton in press) highlighting the selective role of 12/15-LOX and macrophages during chronic inflammation. In this dissertation, I will demonstrate that 12/15-LOX regulates IL-12p40 production in macrophages at least in part through ROS signaling.

MPN in Alox15 mice

In the course of studying Alox15 mice in the context of chronic inflammation, our lab made the unexpected finding that Alox15 mice exhibit increased mortality due to development of a CML-like MPN in about 10-15% of the mice over the course of a year. The majority of Alox15 mice remained asymptomatic and exhibited splenomegaly, basophilia, and an increased percentage of granulocytes in blood and spleen. Alox15 Gr1⁺ splenocytes exhibited increased proliferation and decreased cell death compared to wild-type. Addition of the 12/15-LOX product 12(S)-HpETE increased cell death in both Alox15 cells and the human K562 CML cell line (Middleton et al., 2006b). Asympomatic Alox15 myeloid cells also exhibited increased phosphorylation of the tyrosine kinase Akt, and decreased nuclear accumulation and transcriptional activity of tumor suppresssor IRF-8. Meanwhile, the moribund mice exhibited a MPD characterized by massive splenomegly, accumulated granulocytes in the bone marrow, spleen, blood and skin and the presence of myeloid blasts. This phase of disease was associated with the loss of IRF-8 gene expression (Middleton et al., 2006b). Because a proportion of Alox15 mice develop a MPN, I hypothesized that 12/15-LOX regulates myelopoieis. In this dissertation, I will demonstrate that 12/15-LOX does indeed regulate myelopoiesis and elucidate the mechanisms whereby this regulation occurs.

12/15-LOX in Hematopoiesis

Although the relationship between fatty acid metabolism and inflammation in mature leukocytes has been extensively studied, little is known about the contributions of fatty acid metabolism to hematopoietic development. During

erythroid development in rabbits and humans, the 12/15-LOX products 15(S)-HETE and 13(S)-HODE modulate membrane degradation, an important step in erythroid differentiation (Kuhn and Brash, 1990; van Leyen et al., 1998). However prior to my studies, the role of 12/15-LOX in murine erythroid development was unknown.

Little was previously known about the role of 12/15-LOX and its products in myeloid development. Addition of 12/15-LOX lipid products 12(S)-HETE and 15(S)-HETE to cultures of human CD34⁺ cells decreased the numbers of granulocyte-macrophage colonies in methylcellulose assays (Desplat et al., 2000). However the role of 12/15-LOX in granulocyte and monocyte differentiation has remained unexplored. Data presented in this dissertation demonstrate that 12/15-LOX promotes monocyte development.

As stated earlier, previous studies in our lab demonstrated that 12/15-LOX is a novel suppressor of MPN (Middleton et al., 2006b). Approximately 15% of Alox15 mice develop a severe MPN over the course of a year. Moreover, the lipid mediators of 12-lipoxygenase are reduced in human CML (Stenke et al., 1991; Stenke et al., 1987; Takayama et al., 1983) implicating 12/15-LOX in the regulation of human disease as well. Although 12/15-LOX acts as a suppressor of myeloid leukemogenesis, its role in normal myeloid development was not previously known.

ICSBP/IRF-8, a critical regulator of lineage specification and immunity, is regulated by 12/15-LOX. Our lab previously demonstrated that IRF-8 DNA binding and nuclear accumulation were compromised in Alox15

macrophages and splenocytes (Middleton et al., 2006a; Middleton et al., 2006b). This resulted in decreased IL-12p40 transcription in Alox15 macrophages (Middleton et al., 2006a) and in a CML-like myeloproliferative disorder in Alox15 mice (Middleton et al., 2006b). IRF-8 was shown in these studies to be regulated by 12/15-LOX in part through phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3-K). PI3-K activity as measured by pAKT levels was increased in Alox15 BM-derived cells and inhibition of PI3-K resulted in increased nuclear accumulation of IRF-8 and restored gene transcription (Middleton et al., 2006b). Because 12/15-LOX regulates IRF-8 in mature myeloid cells, I hypothesized that 12/15-LOX also regulates IRF-8 in immature myeloid cells. Moreover, because IRF-8 is important to the development of multiple hematopoietic lineages, I hypothesized that 12/15-LOX may also regulate hematopoiesis by promoting ICSBP/IRF-8 nuclear accumulation and transcriptional activity.

ROS in Hematopoiesis

ROS, which are functional by-products of 12/15-LOX activity (Conrad, 1999), are known to regulate HSC function. Low levels of ROS maintained through interactions in the osteoblastic HSC niche are critical for LT-HSC function (Jang and Sharkis, 2007). The oxidative state of HSCs is also regulated in part by NAPDH-oxidases (Piccoli et al., 2007). However, the role of lipoxygenase-generated ROS has not yet been defined in HSC.

Increased levels of ROS can signal through p38 MAPK to cause defective HSC quiescence and self-renewal. Treatment of normal bone marrow with buthionine sulfoximine (BSO), which increases ROS by inhibiting synthesis

of the anti-oxidant gluthathione, increased p38 MAPK specifically in HSC and inhibited the ability of HSC to reconstitute lethally irradiated mice (Ito et al., 2006). Levels of ROS increased in HSC during serial transplantations and treatment with the anti-oxidant N-acetylcysteine (NAC) or with a p38 MAPK inhibitor extended the self-renewal ability of serial reconstituted HSC (Ito et al., 2006). Deletion of the DNA repair enzyme ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM) increased levels of cellular ROS, decreased guiescence and increased p38 MAPK activation in the HSC. This resulted in a defect of ATM-deficient HSC to reconstitute lethally irradiated mice. Treatment with a p38MAPK inhibitor (SB203580) restored HSC quiescence and function (Ito et al., 2006). ROS in HSC were also increased when members of the forkhead box subgroup O (FoxO) transcription factor family (FoxO1/3/4) were deleted. Similar to ATMdeficient HSC, FoxO-deficient HSC exhibited increased levels of ROS, decreased quiescence and a defect in the ability to reconstitute lethally irradiated mice. Treatment with the anti-oxidant NAC restored HSC quiescence and function (Tothova et al., 2007). The perturbed HSC function associated with FoxO deletion was also associated with activation of p38 MAPK. Moreover, FoxO3a-deficient HSC exhibited similar defects as FoxO1/3/4-deficient HSC. FoxO3a-deficient HSC exhibited increased activation of p38MAPK and treatment with a p38MAPK inhibitor restored HSC function in this mouse model (Miyamoto et al., 2007).

The tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC)-mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway also functions in HSC to suppress ROS production and

promote HSC quiescence and self-renewal. When TSC was conditionally deleted in hematopoietic cells, the HSC exhibited increased proliferation and defective self-renewal. These defects were accompanied by an increase of ROS in the HSC in part by increasing mitochondrial biogenesis. Treatment with the antioxidant NAC restored HSC function (Chen et al., 2008). Hence, accumulation of ROS negatively impacts HSC function and self-renewal in multiple mouse models. In this dissertation, I demonstrate that Alox15 HSC exhibit increased basal levels of ROS but decreased levels of ROS in response to AA that is likely 12/15-LOX-dependent. The increased basal levels of ROS in Alox15 HSC may contribute to their defective self-renewal and quiescence.

ROS may also have effects on myeloid cell fate decisions. ROS mediate cytokine receptor signaling, including in response to GM-CSF. Addition of ROS in the form of hydrogen peroxide increased tyrosine phosphorylation of cytokine receptors and signal transducers while addition of anti-oxidants had the converse effect (liyama et al., 2006; Sattler et al., 1999). Moreover, ROS generated by dominant negative NF- κ B inhibits granulocyte differentiation, which was restored by addition of an anti-oxidant (Nakata et al., 2004). However, this study did not examine the effects on mature monocyte development. In this dissertation, I demonstrate that ROS mediate monocyte development in Alox15 mice.

Summary

In summary, in the following chapters I will describe novel functions for 12/15-LOX in hematopoietic development. Because a percentage of Alox15 mice develop a myeloproliferative disorder, I hypothesized that 12/15-LOX

regulates hematopoietic development. To test this hypothesis, I characterized hematopoietic subsets in wild-type and Alox15 mice. I found that 12/15-LOX regulates HSC function and monocyte development. For my dissertation, I elucidated the mechanisms whereby this regulation occurs. An overview of my dissertation is shown in Figure 7.

Hypothesis: 12/15-LOX regulates hematopoiesis

- Aim 1: Characterize hematopoietic differentiation in Alox15 mice
- Aim 2: Determine the mechanisms whereby 12/15-LOX regulates hematopoietic stem cell function
- Aim 3: Determine the mechanisms whereby 12/15-LOX regulates myelopoiesis

Figure 7. Overview of hypothesis and aims.

EXPERIMENTAL METHODS

Mice- C57BL/6 (B6) and Alox15 mice (backcrossed to B6 11 generations) purchased from Jackson Laboratories, were housed and bred in the animal facility of the Wistar Institute. Mice were used between 8-10 weeks of age prior to the onset of MPD except where explicitly stated. Congenic B6.SJL mice were obtained from Taconic or NCI. All animal procedures were approved by Wistar Institute institutional care and animal use committee.

Hematologic analysis- Whole blood obtained via submandibular bleeding diluted with 1% PBS/PBS with 5 μ L of 0.5 M EDTA. Blood was analyzed on an Advia2120 hematology analyzer in the mouse mode (Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics).

Fetal liver isolation-Two female mice and 1 male mouse were placed in a cage overnight. Mice were then separated by sex and pregnant mice were sacrificed 14 days later to isolate fetal liver from day 14.5 embryos.

Macrophage isolation-To generate bone marrow derived macrophages, bone marrow from wild-type and Alox15 mice were isolated from the long bones. Cells were subject to RBC lysis using ammonium chloride and were cultured at 1×10^{6} cells per ml, in 10 ml of 10% L292 supernatant in RPMI containing 10% fetal calf serum (FCS), 50μ M β -Mercaptoethanol, 1% penicillin, streptomycin and fungizone on untreated $10cm^{2}$ tissue culture plates. After 5 days, non-adherent cells were washed away and purity was checked by flow cytometry. Cells were at least 85-90% macrophages by F4/80⁺ staining and flow cytometric analysis. To isolate thioglycolate-elicited macrophages, B6 and Alox15 mice were injected intraperitoneally with 2ml sterile 3% Brewer's thioglycollate broth (Sigma-Aldrich). Four days later macrophages were isolated peritoneal cavity with PBS. Cells were plated for 2 hours to overnight in 10% FCS in RPMI containing 50μ M β -Mercaptoethanol, 1% penicillin, streptomycin and fungizone. Non-adherent cells were washed away. The remaining cells were at least 90% pure by F4/80⁺ staining and flow cytometric analysis.

Flow cytometry- Single cell suspensions were prepared from thymus, spleen, fetal liver and BM isolated from tibia and fibulas. RBC were lysed using ammonium chloride except for erythroid progenitor analysis.

Immunocytochemistry reagents were obtained from the following sources: cKit, Invitrogen; CD34, CD45.1, Biolegend; CD3, IgM, Gr1, streptavidin-conjugates, BD Bioscience; all others, eBioscience. Differentiated cells were depleted with a cocktail of antibodies directed against: Gr-1, B220, CD3, IL-7Rα, Ter119, NK1.1, Mac1 and CD11c; anti-IL7Rα was omitted when analyzing CLP, ETP, DN2 and DN3. Cells were resuspended for staining in 1%BSA/PBS and blocked for nonspecific staining using murine IGG (Jackson ImmunoResearch) for 5 minutes room temperature before addition of antibodies. Cells were stained for 30 minutes at 4C and washed with PBS. Secondary antibody staining was in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) for 30 minutes at 4C. Cells were analyzed by flow cytometric analysis on a FACS Calibur or LSR II using Flowjo software (Treestar).

Cell cycle analysis- Bone marrow was isolated and stained at 1×10^6 cells/ml in 2% FCS RPMI with 10 µg/ml Hoechst 33342 at 37C incubator for 45 minutes

followed by addition of 300 ng/ml PyroninY (Sigma-Alrich) for an additional 45 minutes. Cells were then washed with cold PBS and kept at 4° C for subsequent multicolor flow cytometric analysis to identify progenitor populations. In some experiments, bone marrow was treated for 45 minutes or overnight with increasing concentrations of 12(S)-HETE or 15(S)-HETE (Cayman Chemical). *AnnexinV and TUNEL staining*- For AnnexinV staining, cells were stained for multicolor flow cytometry prior to incubation with 5 µl AnnexinV-FITC (Invitrogen) in 100 µl AnnexinV staining buffer for 10 minutes at room temperature after which 400 µl additional staining buffer was added.

In situ staining kit for Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL) was obtained from Roche. Staining was performed according to manufacturer's protocol. Treatment with DNAse was used as a positive control while fluorescence minus one (FMO) (without fluorescein-dUTP) was used as a negative control.

Bone marrow reconstitution and 5-FU assays -Recipient mice were irradiated with 1000 rads of γ irradiation from a Cesium J. L. Sheppard Mark irradiator. Mice were transplanted with 1.8×10^6 test: 2×10^5 competitor BM cells (9:1), 2×10^5 : 2×10^5 competitor BM cells (1:1), 1×10^6 E14.5 fetal liver cells: 0.5×10^6 competitor BM cells (2:1) and 0.5×10^6 E14.5 fetal liver cells: 0.5×10^6 competitor BM cells (1:1) for competitive reconstitution assays and 1×10^6 BM cells for noncompetitive and serial reconstitution assays. Mice were injected i.p. with 200 mg/kg 5-FU (Roche) to determine self-renewal ability.

Cell separation-Lin⁻cKit⁺ cells were obtained using MACS separation kit

(Miltenyi-biotech). Briefly, cells were resuspended in 40 μ l MACS Buffer (0.5%) BSA 2 mM EDTA PBS pH 7.2) per 10^7 cells and 10 μ L of lineage antibodies were added per 10⁷ cells. Cells were incubated for 10 minutes at 4°C prior to addition of 30 μ L MACS buffer per 10⁷ cells and 20 μ L anti-biotin microbeads. Cells were then incubated for an additional 15 minutes prior to washing with PBS. Cells were resuspended with 500 μ L MACS buffer per 10⁸ cells and the negative fraction was obtained on LS columns. For some experiments, cKit microbeads were used subsequent to the Lin- purification. Cells were counted and resuspended in 80µl MACS buffer per 10^7 cells and 20 µL cKit microbeads were added per 10⁷ cells. Cells were incubated for 15 minutes prior to washing and the positive fraction was collected on MS columns. In all experiments, purity was checked using flow cytometric analysis and determined to be at least 90% pure. Immunoblotting- Nuclear extracts were prepared using Nucbuster kit (EMB Biosciences) from Lin⁻cKit⁺ cells pooled from 3 mice and from bone marrowderived macrophages. MPER was used to obtain total (cytoplasmic and nuclear) cell lyates. Lysates were normalized to total protein using Bradford assay (Pierce) and resolved by 7.5% SDS PAGE, transferred to PVDF membranes, and immunoblotted with antibodies specific for ICSBP/IRF-8, Dab2, Rb, 12/15-LOX (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and β -catenin (BD Bioscience). Peroxidaseconjugated secondary antibodies were obtained from Jackson Immunoresearch. ROS and lipid analysis- ROS levels were analyzed on LSK enriched by cell sorting and on BMM by loading with 10 µM CM-H₂DCFDA (Invitrogen) in the presence (LSK) or absence (LSK, BMM) of 10 µM AA (Cayman Chemical)

(LSK) for 30 min at 37°C. Cells were then analyzed by flow cytometry. For lipid analysis, BM, Lin⁻ enriched cells and BMM were loaded for 30 minutes with 10 µM AA (Cayman Chemical), the supernatants were extracted and analyzed by stable isotope dilution normal phase chiral liquid chromatography coupled with electron capture atmospheric pressure chemical ionization/mass spectrometry. *Cell sorting and quantitative-PCR*-BM cells from 3-5 mice were pooled, stained and sorted on an Aria cell sorter at the University of Pennsylvania or Wistar Institute flow cytometry facility. mRNA was isolated using RNeasy microRNA kit (Qiagen) and cDNA synthesized using reverse transcriptase. Quantitive real time PCR was performed with Syber green master mix in an ABI 7000 cycler (Applied Biosystems) and normalized to glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) levels. Primer sequences were designed using Primer Express (Applied Biosystems).

Primer Sequences

Gapdh (forward) 5'-G A C G G C C G C A T C T T C T T G T and (reverse) 5'-C A C A C C G A C C T T C A C C A T T T T-3'; β - actin, (forward) 5'-T C A G C A A G C A G G A G T A C G A T G -3' and (reverse) 5'-A A C A G T C C G C C T A G A A G C A C T T-3'; lcsbp/lrf8 (forward) 5'T G G G C A G T T T T T A A A G G G A A G T T-3' and (reverse) 5'-A C A G C G T A A C C T C G T C T T C C A -3'; 12/15- Lox (forward) 5'-A C C C C A C C G C C G A T T T T and (reverse) 5'-A G C T T C G G A C C C A G C A T T T; Dab2(forward) 5'-G G C C A C A C C G C C T C A A- 3'(reverse) 5'-A G C G T C A C T G G G A A T G T C C T T-3'; Nf1 (forward) 5'-G G T A T G G A C A C A G G A C C T C T A G G A T-3'

and (reverse) 5'-CTGCGGGTACCATGAAGCA-3'; Blimp1 (forward) 5'-G G A G G A T C T G A C C C G A A T C A-3' and (reverse) 5'-T C C T C A A G A C G G T C T G C A T T G-3'; p15lnk4b(forward) 5'-T G G G T G G G T G CAGTCAGTAC-3' and (reverse) 5'-TCCCATTTAGCCTGTGGA T C A-3'; Hes-1 (forward) 5'-T C A G C G A G T G C A T G A A C G A-3' and (reverse) 5'-T G C G C A C C T C G G T G T T A A C-3'; Bmi (forward) 5'-T T C C G C C C G C T C A G A T C-3' and (reverse) 5'-C G A T G C A T T T C T G C T T G A T A A A A-3'; Hoxb4 (forward) 5'-G A A G G A A G C A A G A A A A G G A G G A A-3' and (reverse) 5'-G A T T A A A G A T G A A G C C T G G A T C CAT-3'; Gfi1 (forward) 5'-TGCTCCGAGTTCGAGGACTT-3' and (reverse) 5'-CAGAGAGCGGCACAGTGACTT-3'; PU.1 (forward) C CGGATGTGCTTCCCTTATC and (reverse) TCTACCCTCCTC C T C A T C T G A; C/EBP α (forward) G A C C A T T A G C C T T G T G T G T G T A C T G T A T G and (reverse) T G G A T C G A T T G T G C T T C A A G T T; Egr-1 (forward) C C A T G A A C G C C C A T A T G C T T and (reverse): G C T CATCCGAGCGAGAAAAG

Methylcellulose assays- 1.5x10⁵ splenocytes, 1.5x10⁴ bone marrow cells, 500 sorted LSK and CMP and 1000 GMP and MEP were plated in methylcellulose containing IL-3, IL-6, SCF and EPO (M3434, Stem Cell Technologies). In other methylcellose assays, 5x10⁵ wild-type or Alox15 bone marrow cells were plated in methylcellulose (M3234, Stem Cell Technologies) after addition of 10 ng/ml M-CSF, G-CSF, GM-CSF or IL-3 (Peprotech). After 10 days, colonies were enumerated using light microscopy in a blinded fashion. In some assays, 1

 μ M 12(S)-HETE (Cayman Chemical), 10 μ M or 50 μ M NSC-87877 (EMD bioscience) or 0.025 μ M BSO (Sigma) were added to the methylcellulose at the time of plating.

Rapamycin treatment- Rapamycin (LC, laboratories) was dissolved in absolute ethanol into 50 mg/ml stock and then further diluted in 5% Tween-80 (Sigma) and 5% PEG-400 (Sigma). Mice were injected intraperitoneally with 4 mg/kg rapamycin or vehicle control in a 200 μl volume daily for 7 days. *Retroviral Studies*- MigR retrovirus was obtained from Dr. W. Pear (University of Pennsylvania). Mutated nondegradable Beta-catenin MSCV was obtained from Dr. T. Reya (Duke University). 12/15-LOX in the MigR retroviral construct was constructed by introducing a Bgl II site using PCR amplification of a plasmid containing 12/15-LOX (C. Funk) followed by subcloning into Topo vector (Invitrogen). The MigR vector and the 12/15-LOX Topo plasmid were digested overnight with Bgl II and Xhol, purified and ligated. Sequence of 12/15-LOX was verified by sequencing (University of Pennsylvania).

To make the retroviral particles, 293T cells were plated at 2×10^6 cells/plate into 6 cm plates in 3 ml. The next day, the media was replaced with warm media containing 25 mM chloroquine. The transfection cocktail was prepared in 1.7ml eppendorf tubes in 500 µl total volume in sterile water: 50 µL 2.5 M CaCl₂, 5 µg pCL-Eco packaging vector (Imgenex), 10 µg retroviral plasmid. 500 µL HEPESbuffered saline HeBS (2X: 50 mM HEPES, 10 mM KCl, 12 mM Dextrose, 280 mM NaCl, 1.5 mM Na₂HPO₄ at pH 7.1 filtered and frozen aliquots at -20°C) was added drop-wise with a 1 ml serological pipette and then bubbled and

vortexed for 10 seconds each. The cocktail was slowly added to the side of the dish. After 5-7 hours, cells were washed and medium replaced. Medium was replaced again the following day. At 48 hours post-transfection, viral particles were isolated from the supernatant, filtered through a 0.45 μ M syringe and aliquots stored at -80°C. Titer was checked on 3T3 cells grown at 1x10⁶ overnight in 6 cell plates. 100 μ L supernatant and 2 μ g/mL polybrene was added and titer checked for GFP expression by flow cytometry 48-72 hours post-transduction.

For retroviral transduction, B6 and Alox15 E14.5 fetal liver cells were isolated and stimulated with 50 ng/ml SCF, 10 ng/ml IL-3 and IL-6 (Peprotech) at $2-3x10^{6}$ cells/ml in 4 ml 20% FCS RPMI in 6 well plates. After overnight incubation, 0.5-1 ml was taken, spun and replaced with 0.5-1 ml retroviral supernatant and 4 µg/ml polybrene (Sigma) was added. Cells were spun for 90 minutes at 2750 rpm and then put in an incubator overnight. The next day, the transduction procedure was repeated. Fetal liver cells were determined to be retrovirally tranduced by the expression of GFP in a percentage of the cells at day 3 in culture. Cells were at least 30% GFP⁺. On either day 2 or day 3, cells were washed 3X, counted and at least 1x10⁶ cells were injected via tail vein in 200 µl PBS into lethally irradiated mice (900 rads). For sublethal irradiation, 400-700 rads were used.

Statistical Analysis- One-way ANOVA, t-tests, or Mann-Whitney were applied using Graphpad Prism software or Excel as indicated for each data set. Results in which p<0.05 were considered statistically significant for all tests

CHAPTER 1: Alox15 mice exhibit alterations in hematopoietic

compartments

Hematopoiesis is the process whereby all the cells of the immune system develop. It is a tightly regulated process orchestrated by a balance of transcription factor and cytokine signaling that results in defined numbers of blood cell populations including lymphoid, erythroid, and myeloid cell lineages. HSCs are the only cells with both the ability to self-renew and to differentiate into all blood cell types. As cells further differentiate they become more limited in their differentiative capacity. Dysregulated hematopoiesis can result in leukemias, anemias or immunodeficiencies. Therefore, it is important to elucidate pathways that contribute to normal hematopoiesis. Although much is known about transcription factors that regulate cell fate decisions during hematopoietic development, less is known about signaling pathways that govern hematopoietic cell specification.

Although fatty acid metabolism has been extensively studied in the context of chronic inflammation mediated by hematopoietic cells, the role of fatty acid metabolism in general during hematopoietic development is not well understood. In the process of studying the role of 12/15-LOX-mediated fatty acid metabolism in the context of chronic inflammation, our lab discovered that a proportion of Alox15 mice, which lack 12/15-LOX, developed a CML-like disease over the course of a year. Moreover, the majority of Alox15 mice which lacked the CMLlike disease were referred to as "asymptomatic" and exhibited an increased percentage of Mac1⁺Gr1⁺ cells in the blood, spleen and bone marrow (BM)

(Middleton et al., 2006b). However, other hematopoietic compartments within Alox15 mice were not studied in depth. Because Alox15 mice exhibited an increased percentage of granulocytes and developed a leukemia, I hypothesized that 12/15-LOX regulates hematopoiesis. To formally test this hypothesis, I characterized the hematopoietic subsets in wild-type and Alox15 mice. This chapter describes the multiple hematopoietic defects in Alox15 mice which demonstrates that 12/15-LOX does indeed regulate hematopoiesis.

Alterations in WBC compartment

To establish the impact of 12/15-LOX deletion on the peripheral hematopoietic compartment, we performed hematologic analysis of peripheral blood from "asymptomatic" 12-15 week old Alox15 and B6 mice. Alox15 mice exhibited a lower white blood cell (WBC) count, largely attributable to a reduction in lymphocytes and monocytes. Although the number of eosinophils and neutrophils were similar, they accounted for a greater percentage of total cells in Alox15 mice. The absolute number of basophils in asymptomatic Alox15 mice was increased as noted previously (Figure 8A; (Middleton et al., 2006b).

To dissect the reduction in lymphocytes in Alox15 mice, we examined mature lymphoid populations in the spleen and lymphoid development in BM and thymus. The reduction in mature lymphocytes was mainly attributed to a reduction in B cells in the spleen (Figure 8B). Moreover, B cell development in the BM was defective in Alox15 mice. Although the percentage of earliest B lineage progenitors, including LSK (Lin⁻Sca1⁺cKit⁺), common lymphoid progenitors (CLP: Lin⁻IL-7R α ⁺cKit^{lo}Sca1^{lo}) and preproB (B220⁺CD43⁺HSA⁻

CD19⁻) cells were similar between wild-type and Alox15, the percentage of proB (B220⁺CD43⁺HSA⁺CD19⁺) and preB (B220⁺CD43⁻IgM⁻CD19⁺) cells were reduced in Alox15 BM (Figure 8C). We also observed a less dramatic but significant defect in T cell development. Double-positive thymocytes (CD4⁺CD8⁺) were decreased in Alox15 compared to B6, but early thymic progenitors (ETP: Lin⁻ CD25⁻cKit⁺), DN2 (Lin⁻CD25⁺cKit⁺) and DN3 (Lin⁻CD25⁺cKit⁻) were similar (Figure 8D).

We next determined whether the defects in the WBC compartment were also defective in younger (6 week), and older (26-30 weeks) mice using hematologic analysis of peripheral blood. Indeed the alterations in WBC, lymphocytes, monocytes and basophils were detected at multiple ages (Figure 9). Moreover, hematologic analysis of the subset of Alox15 mice exhibiting a CML-like MPN, demonstrated increased numbers of WBC compared to asympomatic Alox15 mice between 26-30 weeks of age. This increase was due primarily to an increase in neutrophils, which confirms the CML-like MPD in these mice (Figure 9).

12/15-LOX regulates RBC development

As 12/15-LOX regulates erythroid development in rabbits and humans, we also investigated whether 12/15-LOX regulates murine erythroid development. Alox15 mice exhibited a decrease in red blood cells (RBC) and a concomitant increase in reticulocyte number at 12-15 weeks of age. Moreover, hemoglobin (HGB) was decreased while mean cell volumes (MCV) of the RBC were increased, indicating that Alox15 mice developed a macrocytic anemia



Figure 8. Alox15 mice exhibit multiple hematopoietic defects. (A) Reduction in WBC,

lymphocytes, monocytes and increase in basophils in peripheral blood from 12-15 week Alox15 mice compared to B6. (B-C) Defective B cell development in Alox15 mice. (B) Splenocytes were isolated and stained for B cells (B220⁺) and T cells (CD3⁺). Shown is a representative plot and a summary of 5 experiments. (C) BM cells were stained for B cell progenitors and analyzed by flow cytometry: LSK(Lin·Sca1⁺cKit⁺), CLP(Lin·IL-7Ra⁺cKit^bSca1^{-b}), preproB(B220⁺CD43⁺HSA⁺CD19⁺), preB(B220⁺CD43⁺IgM⁻CD19⁺) and immature B (B220⁺CD43⁻gM⁺CD19⁺). (D) Thymocytes were stained for T cell progenitors and analyzed by flow cytometry: ETP(Lin·CD25⁺cKit⁺), DN3(Lin⁻CD25⁺cKit⁺) and DP(CD4⁺CD8⁺); *p<.05, **p<.01 compared to wild-type.



Figure 9. Disrupted hematopoiesis throughout Alox15 lifespan compared to B6. The

indicated blood cell populations determined using a cell analyzer demonstrate decreased WBC, lymphocytes, monocytes, and increased basophils in asymptomatic Alox15 mice at 6 weeks, 12-15 weeks, and 26+ weeks of age compared to B6. In Alox15 mice with documented myeloproliferative disease (MPD) there was an increase in the number of neutrophils (n=4). *p<.05, **p<.01 compared to wild-type.

(Figure 10A). ***

Because RBCs were decreased in Alox15 mice, we determined the percentage of erythroid progenitors in the BM and the spleen using Ter119 and CD71 (transferin receptor) erythroid markers. Despite the decrease in mature RBC, Alox15 erythroid progenitors were expanded, particularly in the spleen, the major site of stress erythropoiesis in mice (Figure 10B). Both proerythrocytes (CD71⁺Ter11^{lo}) and erythrocyte progenitors (Ter119^{hi}) were expanded. To determine at which point the defect in RBC development occured, I compared the frequency of B6 and Alox15 cells in erythroblasts fractions A, B and C using CD71 and forward scatter after gating on the Ter119⁺ progenitors. As erythroblasts develop they exhibit high forward scatter (size) and elevated levels of CD71 (transferrin receptor), which participates in iron transport (Fraction A). As the erythroid progenitors mature, they uptake iron and condense their membranes leading to decreased forward scatter (Fraction B). Eventually the erythroid cells are condensed and lose CD71 expression (Fraction C). Alox15 BM and spleen had increased fraction A, and the Alox15 spleen exhibited an increase in fraction B compared to wild-type. However, there was a comparable percentage of cells in fraction C between wild-type and Alox15 BM and spleen suggesting a block in erythroid differentiation at this stage (Figure 10C). The defect in RBC development likely occurs at the erythroblast B-C transition.

These data are consistent with the reported expansion of splenic red pulp in Alox15 mice (Middleton et al., 2006b). Therefore, I examined H&E stained splenic sections from wild-type and Alox15 mice to identify whether the



Figure 10. 12/15-LOX regulates erythroid development. (A) Hematologic analysis of peripheral blood from 12-15 week old B6 and Alox15 mice. Numbers of RBC, reticulocytes, hemoglobin (HGB) and mean corpuscular volume of the RBC (MCV-RBC) in B6 and Alox15 is depicted; (B) Stress erythropoiesis in Alox15 mice demonstrated by expansion of erythroid progenitors. BM cells and splenocytes from B6 and Alox15 mice were analyzed by flow cytometry. Proerythrocytes (CD71+Ter11^b) and erythrocytes (Ter119^h) are indicated as percentage of total cells for a representative experiment of n=3 in 3 independent experiments. (C) Erythroblast populations are indicated as percentage of total cells. Shown is a representative experiment after gating on Ter119⁺ cells.

expansion of the red pulp was due to the presence of erythroid progenitors. Indeed, Alox15 spleens contained an abundance of erythroid progenitors, which are identified as darkly stained cells, that are relatively absent in wild-type spleens (Figure 11A-B). The presence of erythropoiesis was also demonstrated by megakaryocytes, which were observed in the spleens of Alox15 but not wildtype (Figure 11C). In Alox15 mice with MPN, there was a complete loss of splenic architecture and accumulation of mature and immature granulocytes as previously reported (Figure 11D) (Middleton et al., 2006b).

Alterations in RBC parameters were defined in both young and old mice by hematologic analysis. Both young (6 week) and older (26-30 week) Alox15 mice exhibited decreased RBC and HCT. In addition, older Alox15 mice (26-30 week) exhibited a decrease in platelet count (Figure 12). We also determined the cellular subsets in the blood of the approximately 15% of Alox15 mice over the course of a year that were moribund (Middleton et al., 2006b). This analysis indicated there was a severe decrease in RBC and hematocrit (HCT) as the Alox15 mice progressed from the asymptomatic syndrome to the more aggressive disease (Figure 12).

No significant hematopoietic defects in Alox15 heterozygous mice

We also characterized the hematopoietic compartment of Alox15 heterozygous mice. First we determined that the splenocytes of heterozygous Alox15 mice express roughly half as much 12/15-LOX as wild-type and hence 12/15-LOX is expressed in a gene dose-dependent manner (Figure 13A). However, based on hematological analysis of peripheral blood subsets, there



Figure 11. Alox15 exhibits disrupted splenic architecture due to increased numbers of erythroid progenitors. (A) Representative H&E of 12 week B6 splenic section demonstrating separation of white pulp (WP) and red pulp (RP). (B) Representative Alox15 splenic section demonstrating expansion of red pulp by presence of darkly stained cell throughout. (C) 60X of Alox15 splenic section. Shown is a large megakaryocyte (arrow) and darkly stained erythroid progenitors throughout. (D) Loss of splenic architecture in Alox15 spleens with MPD.



Figure 12. Disrupted erythroid cell parameters throughout Alox15 lifespan compared to B6. The indicated blood cell populations determined using a cell analyzer demonstrate decreased RBC, Platelet (PLT) and HCT in asymptomatic Alox15 mice at 6 weeks, 12-15 weeks and 26+ weeks of age compared to B6. In Alox15 mice with documented myeloproliferative disease (MPD) there was an increase in the number of reticulocytes and a further decrease in RBC and HCT (n=4). *p<.05, **p<.01 compared to wild-type.




were no significant defects in the hematopoietic compartment (Figure 13B-C). This may be due to small numbers (n=4) and variability in age of the mice (5-12 weeks). Nonetheless, no significant differences were detected in WBC (Figure 13B) or RBC (Figure 13C) parameters.

Defects in Alox15 mice are cell-autonomous

To determine whether the defects in Alox15 mice were cell-autonomous, we performed adoptive transfer studies to define whether the phenotype was inherent to BM-derived cells and/or dependent on the host environment. B6 or Alox15 donor BM cells were engrafted into lethally irradiated congenic wild-type recipients. At 16 weeks post-engraftment, recipient mice reconstituted with Alox15 cells had decreased total WBC, lymphocytes and RBC in peripheral blood compared to mice reconstituted with B6 BM (Figure 14A), analogous to the defects observed in cells from Alox15 mice. Conversely, when congenic wild-type (B6.SJL) BM was used to reconstitute B6 or Alox15 mice, there were no differences in total or differential white blood counts (Figure 14B). These data indicate that 12/15-LOX regulates hematopoiesis in a cell-autonomous manner. *Implications*

Through the comparison of peripheral hematopoietic subsets in wild-type and Alox15 mice, we demonstrate that 12/15-LOX regulates multiple hematopoietic subsets in a cell-autonomous manner. However, although we demonstrate the the phenotype of the blood cell subsets of track with the genotype of the reconstituted bone marrow, it is possible that a subset of bone marrow cells function in a paracrine manner to regulate blood cell



Figure 14. Defects in Alox15 hematopolesis are cell-autonomous. (A) Assessment of hematopoletic reconstitution of lethally irradiated B6.SJL mice 16 weeks post-engraftment with 1x10⁶ B6 or Alox15 BM cells. (n=6). (B) Hematopoletic reconstitution of lethally irradiated B6 and Alox15 mice 16 weeks post-engraftment of 1x10⁶ B6.SJL BM cells. (n=3); *p<.05, **p<.01 compared to wild-type.



Figure 15. Summary of dysregulated hematopoietic compartment in Alox15 mice. Alox15 mice exhibit decreased DP T cells, decreased B cells due to a block at proB cell stage, macrocytic anemia, increased basophils and decreased monocytes.

development. We more definitely demonstrate that the defect in blood cell development is cell-intrinsic hematopoietic stem cells using competitive reconstitution assays in Chapter 2 of this dissertation. 12/15-LOX regulates T cell differentiation at the DP stage, B cell differentiation at the propreB cell stage, RBC generation, monocyte number and limits the number of basophils (Figure 15). The presence of multiple hematopoietic defects in the Alox15 mice suggests that 12/15-LOX may regulate a common progenitor such as the hematopoietic stem cell. The role of 12/15-LOX in hematopoietic stem cell function will be discussed in Chapter 2.

Although these data suggest that 12/15-LOX may regulate a common progenitor such as the HSC, it is also possible that 12/15-LOX may independently directly regulate multiple hematopoietic subsets. These possibilities are not mutually exclusive and our data as well as previous findings suggest that both these possibilities do in fact simultaneously occur. Our data imply that 12/15-LOX may possibly regulate development of B and T lymphocytes, erythrocytes, and monocytes by distinct mechanisms by which it regulates HSC function.

The mechanism whereby 12/15-LOX regulates B and T cell development remains to be elucidated. Interestingly, 12/15-LOX had not been previously shown to regulate lymphoid cell populations though its products were found in the thymus (Harizi et al., 2008). Interestingly, IRF-8, which we demonstrated is regulated by 12/15-LOX, had been shown to regulate B cell development at the same stage of development that is defective in Alox15 mice (pro-preB cell

stage) (Lu et al., 2003). However, whether 12/15-LOX regulates B cell differentiation through IRF-8 is currently unknown and is a potentially interesting future direction.

The defect in late stage erythroid differentiation in Alox15 mice is in concordance with previous observations that a functional homolog of 12/15-LOX, 15-LOX, and its specific products, 15(S)-HETE and 13(S)-HODE, in other species regulate reticulocyte maturation by modulating membrane degradation (Kuhn and Brash, 1990; van Leyen et al., 1998). 12/15-LOX had not been previously shown to regulate RBC development in mice and this is the first study that establishes its role in murine erythroid cell differentiation. To more fully understand the development of the macrocytic anemia in Alox15 mice, it would be an interesting future direction to elucidate the mechanism whereby 12/15-LOX regulates murine reticulocyte maturation.

There were decreased blood monocytes in Alox15 mice suggesting that 12/15-LOX may regulate monocyte development and myelopoiesis. The role of 12/15-LOX in myeloid cell development is of interest because of the potential implications for CML and will be addressed further in Chapter 3 of this thesis.

CHAPTER 2: 12/15-LOX is a critical regulator of LT-HSC self-renewal

The presence of multiple hematopoietic defects in Alox15 mice, detailed in Chapter 1, suggests two possibilities, either of which are plausible and not necessarily mutually exclusive. The first possibility is that 12/15-LOX regulates multiple stages of hematopoiesis independently. The second possibility is that 12/15-LOX regulates a common hematopoietic progenitor such as HSC. The data presented in this and subsequent chapters demonstrate that both these possibilities occur. Specifically, I will present data in Chapter 3 which demonstrate that 12/15-LOX drives myelopoiesis by promoting ICSBP/IRF-8 nuclear accumulation through redox signaling. In this chapter, I will present data which demonstrate that 12/15-LOX regulates HSC function and self-renewal in associated with modulation of canonical Wht signaling.

The signaling pathways that govern the complex processes of HSC function are not completely understood. HSCs are relatively rare yet must produce billions of new cells daily and be able to adjust their output to respond to environmental stresses such as infection, chemotherapy, blood loss, injury, etc. To accomplish this, HSCs must divide asymmetrically by balancing self-renewal and differentiation. Skewing of asymmetric division results in defective HSC function. Decreases in numbers, alterations in the balance of asymmetric division and increased proliferation decreases the ability of HSC to function (Ficara et al., 2008; Nemeth et al., 2006; Passegue et al., 2005). Although much is known about transcription factors that regulate these processes, such as Gfi-1, Bmi-1, Hox4b and Pu.1 (Hock et al., 2004; Iwama et al., 2004; Iwasaki et al., 2005;

Sauvageau et al., 1995), little is known about the signaling pathways that regulate HSC function. Canonical Wnt signaling is one known pathway that regulates HSC function by maintaining quiescence and initiating a self-renewal program of gene transcription (Fleming et al., 2008; Zhao et al., 2007; Luis et al., 2009). In this chapter, I determine that 12/15-LOX is a novel regulator of canonical Wnt signaling which in turn may regulate HSC function by maintaining quiescence and self-renewal.

Products generated by 12/15-LOX have been implicated in hematopoiesis. ROS, which are generated as a product of 12/15-LOX fatty acid metabolism, can impair HSC function by ROS-dependent regulation of the p38 MAPK pathway (Ito et al., 2006). Moreover, 12/15-LOX generated lipid products, 12(S)-HETE and 15(S)-HETE, can inhibit differentiation of human CD34⁺ hematopoietic progenitors in methylcellulose assays (Desplat et al., 2000). However, a role for 12/15-LOX per se has not been previously established in hematopoietic development and HSC function.

In this chapter, I define 12/15-LOX as a critical regulator of LT-HSCs. 12/15-LOX regulates HSCs by promoting quiescence and self-renewal. Defective HSC function in Alox15 mice is associated with defects in select products of 12/15-LOX including 12/15-LOX-generated ROS, 12(S)-HETE and 13(S)-HODE. 12/15-LOX regulates nuclear ICSBP/IRF-8 accumulation in hematopoietic progenitors, which results in altered expression of ICSBP/IRF-8 target genes, including increased production of Dab2, a negative regulator of canonical Wnt signaling. Consequently, canonical Wnt signaling measured by its

downstream mediator, β -cantenin, is disrupted in Alox15 progenitors. Thus, we have defined 12/15-LOX as a novel regulator of LT-HSC function and canonical Wnt signaling.

Alox15 mice exhibit a primary defect in HSC function

To test the possibility that 12/15-LOX regulates HSC function, we needed to determine expression of 12/15-LOX in HSC. Using real time PCR analysis, we determined that 12/15-LOX mRNA was expressed in wild-type HSC isolated by cell sorting (Figure 16A). Moreover, 12/15-LOX protein was expressed in B6 (but not Alox15) Lin⁻cKit⁺ hematopoietic progenitors by immunoblot (Figure 16B).

HSC function can be assessed by the ability to reconstitute the hematopoietic compartment of a lethally irradiated animal. Competitive reconstitution experiments, in which BM from control and experimental mice are mixed with wild-type BM and injected into lethally irradiated mice, are based on two assumptions: that HSC numbers and homing of the HSCs are similar between control and experimental BM cells. LSK were present in similar numbers in B6 and Alox15 BM (Figure 16C). Moreover, B6 and Alox15 BM cells homed with comparable efficiency to both normal and lethally irradiated recipient BM (Figure 16D). It was therefore appropriate to proceed with competitive reconstitution assays.

To elucidate whether 12/15-LOX regulates early hematopoietic progenitors such as the HSC, we set up competitive reconstitutions in which B6 or Alox15 BM cells (CD45.2) were mixed 9:1 with wild-type competitor B6.SJL BM cells (CD45.1) and engrafted into lethally irradiated B6.SJL recipient



Figure 16. 12/15-Lox is expressed in HSC and does not effect homing to BM. (A) Q-PCR of 12/15-LOX mRNA levels of the indicated populations obtained by cell sorting demonstrate that 12/15-LOX is expressed in HSCs (Lin-Sca1+cKit+Flt3-) (n=2). (B) 12/15-LOX protein expression in progenitors. 12/15-LOX expression was determined on columnpurified B6 and Alox15 Lin-cKit+ cells by immunoblot on whole protein lysates. (C-D) Similar homing of C57BL/6 and Alox15 bone marrow cells to bone marrow. C57BL/6 and Alox15 bone marrow cells were labeled with PHK67 or PHK26 (Sigma) as per manufacturer's instructions. Cells were then mixed in a 1:1 ratio and 4x10⁶ cells total were i.v. injected into (C) non-irradiated wild-type recipient mice or (D) recipient mice that were irradiated with 1000 rads. After 24 hours, the percentages of C57BL/6 or Alox15 bone marrow cells in the recipient bone marrow were assessed using flow cytometric analysis for PKH67 and PKH26 (n=3) p>.05

mice. Reconstitutions were monitored by bleeding the recipient mice every four weeks and analyzing the frequency of CD45.2 cells, which were derived from B6 or Alox15 BM cells, amongst the total CD45⁺ population (Figure 17). At all timepoints post-reconstitution, the contribution of Alox15-derived total CD45⁺ cells, T cells, B cells and granulocytes were dramatically reduced compared to the contribution of B6 donor-derived cells (Figure 18A). After 16 weeks, BM was isolated and analyzed for progenitor subsets. Alox15 HSC were at a profound disadvantage compared to B6-derived HSC under competitive conditions as evidenced by a marked reduction in the proportion of Alox15-derived HSC compared to B6-derived HSC in recipient mice (Figure 18B). In addition to the HSC compartment, we also examined the contribution of B6 and Alox15 cells to B, T and myeloid cell development by gating on CD45.2. In addition to the defect in HSC, Alox15-derived cells exhibited additional defects at later stages of differentiation similar to those described in Chapter 1 (Figure 19). There was a further bias toward competitor-derived cells within B cell and T cell compartments compared to Alox15-derived HSC (Figure 19A-B). Moreover, the defect in more mature Alox15-derived cells was evident as early as four weeks following reconstitution in the blood, when cells were derived from more differentiated progenitors rather than the HSC (Figure 18A).

Additional competitive reconstitution assays using B6 and Alox15 BM mixed 1:1 with congenic competitor cells demonstrated that limiting numbers of Alox15 BM resulted in a further decrease in Alox15-derived HSC during competitive reconstitution assays (Figure 20).



Figure 17. Schematic of competitive reconstitution assays. BM cells from B6 or Alox15 mice (CD45.2) were mixed 9:1 with congenic wild-type bone marrow (CD45.1) and injected into lethally irradiated mice. The reconstitution was monitored by bleeding the recipient mice every four weeks. At 16 weeks the recipient mice were sacrificed and the chimerism was assessed amongst the progenitor populations.



Figure 18. Alox15 HSCs are functionally defective. (A) Lethally irradiated congenic

B6.SJL mice were reconstituted with a 9:1 ratio of B6 (solid triangles) or Alox15 (open squares) (CD45.2, test) BM cells to B6.SJL (CD45.1, competitor) BM cells. Reconstitution was monitored by quantifying the percentage of donor-derived CD45.2⁺ blood cells in recipients using flow cytometry at the indicated times. The percentages of CD45.2⁺ total leukocytes (CD45⁺ cells), CD3⁺ cells, B220⁺ cells, and Mac1⁺Gr1⁺ are depicted (n=6); p<.01. (B) Reduction in Alox15 LT-HSCs following during competitive reconstitution. 16 weeks post-engraftment, the percentages of B6 and Alox15 CD45.2 donor-derived Flt3⁻LSK and Flt3⁺LSK in 9:1 competitively reconstituted mice were determined by flow cytometry (n=6); *p<.05, **p<.01.



Figure 19. Multiple defects in Alox15 progenitor development during 9:1 competitive reconstitution. After 16 weeks post-reconstitution, the contribution of C57BL/6 or Alox15derived cells to progenitor development was quantified by determining the percentage of CD45.2⁺ cells at the indicated developmental stage compared to LSK (Lin·Sca1+cKit⁺) cells (A) T cell progenitors in the thymus: ETP (Lin·CD25⁻ cKit⁺), DN2 (Lin·CD25⁺ cKit⁺), DN3 (Lin· CD25⁺ cKit⁻), DP (CD4⁺ CD8⁺) and in the blood mature T cells (CD3⁺);(B) B cell development in the bone marrow: CLP (Lin-IL-7Rα⁺ cKit^b Sca1^b), preproB (B220⁺ CD43⁺ HSA⁻ CD19⁻) proB (B220⁺ CD43⁺ HSA⁺ CD19⁺) preB (B220⁺ CD43⁻ IgM⁻ CD19⁺), immature B (B220⁺ CD43⁻ IgM⁺ CD19⁺), and in the blood mature B cells (B220⁺); (C) myeloid cell progenitors in the bone marrow CMP (Lin·Sca1⁻ cKit⁺ CD16/32^b CD34^{hl}) GMP(Lin·Sca1⁻ cKit⁺ CD16/32^{hl} CD34^{hl}), MEP (Lin·Sca1⁻ cKit⁺ CD16/32^b CD34^{bl}) Mac1⁺Gr1^{bl}, Mac1⁺Gr1^{hl} and in the spleen Mac1⁺Gr1⁺ cells (n=6). *p<.05 compared to the indicated progenitor stage



Figure 20. Alox15 hematopoietic development is defective during 1:1 competitive reconstitutions. (A) The percentage of cells derived from B6 and Alox15 bone marrow cells was determined by isolating blood from recipient mice every four weeks and quantifying CD45.2⁺ cells using flow cytometric analysis from the indicated subsets. (B) Representative flow cytometric analysis of CD45.2 cells gated on LSK cells 16 weeks post 1:1 reconstitution. (C) Summary of 1:1 competitive reconstitutions and adoptive transfer experiments. C57BL/6 or Alox15-derived bone marrow was considered to contribute to reconstitution if the percentage of CD45.2⁺ cells in the LSK compartment was greater than 2%. We also performed competitive reconstitution assays with Alox15 heterozygous cells. Similar to the lack of blood cell defects in Alox15 heterozygous mice (Chapter 1), HSCs from Alox15 heterozygous mice were not defective during competitive reconstitution assays compared to wild-type (Figure 21). Importantly, however, Alox15 HSCs were defective compared to Alox15 heterozygous HSC (Figure 21).

Defect in Alox15 HSC is primary

Multiple hematopoietic defects are present in Alox15 mice as described in Chapter 1, including lymphocytes, monocytes and RBCs. Rather than a primary defect in HSCs, it is possible that the reduced function of Alox15 HSCs is caused by their need to continually replenish the more mature hematopoietic compartments. Nonetheless, as the competitor cells provided a virtually normal hematopoietic compartment during competitive reconstitution assays, these data indicate that the defect in Alox15 HSCs was primary rather than secondary to abnormalities in hematopoietic cells at later stages of differentiation. However, to formally exclude the possibility that the defect in Alox15 HSCs was secondary to later hematopoietic defects, we repeated the competitive reconstitution assays with E14.5 fetal liver cells. Importantly, we found that Alox15 E14.5 fetal livers were similar to B6 based on H&E staining and by flow cytometric analysis of hematopoietic subsets and exhibited no overt phenotype (Figure 22A-B). In the competitive reconstitution assays, B6 and Alox15 fetal liver cells were mixed 2:1 with normal congenic bone marrow to ensure readout of fetal liver-derived HSC function in the context of a normal hematopoietic compartment. Even under



Figure 21. Alox15 heterozygous mice do not display gross defects in HSC function. (A) HSC function was assessed by mixing C57BL/6, Alox15 heterozygous mice or Alox15 homozygous bone marrow (CD45.2) 9:1 with congenic wild-type bone marrow (CD45.1) and injecting into lethally irradiated mice. Reconstitution was monitored by analyzing blood cell CD45.2 populations by flow cytometry. (B) 16 weeks post-engraftment, the percentages of B6, heterozygous and Alox15 CD45.2 donorderived Flt3⁻LSK and Flt3⁺LSK in 9:1 competitively reconstituted mice were determined by flow cytometry



Figure 22. 12/15-LOX directly regulates HSC function. (A) Morphology and (B) cellularity of Alox15 E14.5 fetal livers are normal. (A) Representative H&E staining of B6 and Alox15 E14.5 fetal livers (20X). (B) Hematopoietic subsets in B6 and Alox15 E14.5 fetal livers analyzed by flow cytometry. (C-D) HSC-derived from Alox15 fetal livers are functionally defective. Analysis of hematopoietic reconstitution of lethally irradiated congenic mice at indicated times post-engraftment of B6 or Alox15 E14.5 fetal liver cells mixed 2:1 with congenic competitor BM cells. (C) CD45.2⁺ white blood cell subsets were determined by flow cytometry. (D) Indicated progenitor populations in BM harvested 16 weeks post-transfer were analyzed for CD45.2⁺ cells (n=5). *p<.05, **p<.01.

these conditions, the contribution of Alox15-derived cells to the blood cell populations was significantly reduced compared to B6 at all times post-transfer into lethally irradiated congenic recipient mice (Figure 22C). Moreover, Alox15derived LSK and CD34⁻Flt3⁻LSK cells in the BM were significantly reduced compared to wild-type (Figure 22D). These experiments were also conducted with fetal liver cells mixed 1:1 with wild-type congenic competitive BM cells with similar results (Figure 23). These data effectively demonstrate that the defect in Alox15 HSCs is not secondary to defects in mature hematopoietic subsets. Rather, 12/15-LOX directly regulates HSC function.

12/15-LOX regulates numbers, proliferation and function of LT-HSC

We further compared the distribution of HSCs within the LSK population of B6 and Alox15 mice (Wilson et al., 2007; Wilson et al., 2008). Interestingly, Alox15 BM had a decreased percentage of primitive dormant LT-HSC (CD34⁻ CD150⁺CD48⁻Flt3⁻LSK) and an increased percentage of more differentiated MPP1 (CD34⁺CD150⁺ CD48⁺Flt3⁻LSK) compared to B6 (Figure 24A). The LT-HSC population is highly enriched for HSC function and quiescent cells while the more differentiated cells are highly proliferative and have decreased capacity to self-renew. These data suggest that 12/15-LOX regulates the most primitive LT-HSCs.

To determine whether the defect in Alox15 HSCs in the BM competitive reconstitution assays was due to 12/15-LOX regulation of the absolute number of LT-HSCs or the function of LT-HSCs, we performed competitive reconstitution assays using equal numbers of purified LT-HSCs. Five hundred CD34⁻Flt3⁻



Figure 23. HSC-derived from Alox15 fetal livers are functionally defective during 1:1 competitive reconstitutions. Analysis of hematopoietic reconstitution of lethally irradiated congenic mice at indicated times post-engraftment of B6 or Alox15 E14.5 fetal liver cells mixed 1:1 with congenic competitor BM cells. (A) CD45.2⁺ white blood cell subsets were determined by flow cytometry. (B) Indicated progenitor populations in BM harvested 12 weeks post-transfer were analyzed for CD45.2⁺ cells (n=5). *p<.05, **p<.01.



Figure 24. 12/15-LOX regulates the function of LT-HSCs. (A) Flow cytometric analysis of phenotypic subsets demonstrated depletion of the most primitive HSC phenotype and a concomitant increase in a more mature MPP phenotype in Alox15 compared to B6 LSK (n=5); (B-C) 12/15-LOX regulates the function of CD34·LSK. Lethally irradiated congenic mice were reconstituted with 500 CD34·FIt3·LSK cells from B6 or Alox15 BM mixed with 2x10⁵ competitor cells. (B) Reconstitution analyzed by flow cytometry of CD45.2⁺ of total CD45⁺ white blood cells. (C) 12 weeks post-transfer BM was analyzed for CD45.2⁺ LSK and CD34·FIt3·LSK by flow cytometric analysis (n=7)

LSK cells, purified by cell sorting from B6 or Alox15 BM, were mixed with wildtype congenic competitor BM cells and injected into lethally irradiated recipient mice. At all times post-reconstitution, there was a significant decrease in the percentage of Alox15-derived blood cells (Figure 24B). Analysis of BM at 12 weeks post-reconstitution showed a decrease in the percentage and absolute number of Alox15-derived LSK and CD34⁻Flt3⁻LSK compared to B6 (Figure 24C). These data demonstrate that 12/15-LOX regulates the function of LT-HSC.

To determine the mechanism whereby 12/15-LOX regulates LT-HSC, we compared the rates of cell death and proliferation in Alox15 and B6 HSC. B6 and Alox15 LSK exhibited comparable levels of cell death ex vivo using both TUNEL and AnnexinV/DAPI staining (Figure 25A-B). In addition, B6 and Alox15 LSK exhibited similar cell death after sorting and in vitro culture with limiting levels of cytokines (Figure 25C). Thus, 12/15-LOX does not regulate apoptosis of HSC. However, Alox15 LSK contained an increased percentage of cycling cells compared to wild-type (Figure 26A). This difference was most dramatic in the CD34⁻LSK subset in which there was a decrease in the percentage of Alox15 cells in G_0 (31.9% vs. 59.7%) but increased percentage of cells in G_1 (38.5% vs. 17.3%) and SG₂M (24.0% vs. 11.6%) (Figure 26B). Thus, 12/15-LOX regulates the number, proliferation and function of primitive LT-HSCs. As LT-HSCs proliferate, they may differentiate rather than self-renew leading to depletion of the LT-HSC population. To formally test this hypothesis, we next tested whether 12/15-LOX regulates self-renewal.



Figure 25. 12/15-LOX does not regulate apoptosis of LSK. (A-B) B6 and Alox15 LSK display similar levels of apoptosis *ex vivo* determined by (A) TUNEL and (B) AnnexinV/DAPI staining. A representative flow cytometric analysis gated on LSK cells is depicted and a negative control Fluorescence Minus One (FMO-shaded) and positive DNAse control (open) is shown for TUNEL staining (n=3); p>.05 (C) B6 and Alox15 LSK display similar levels of apoptosis *in vitro*. B6 and Alox15 LSK were isolated by cell sorting and cultured for 48 hours in the presence of 25ng/ml SCF. Apoptosis was determined by flow cytometric staining using AnnexinV and Topro.



Figure 26. Increased proliferation of Alox15 HSC compared to B6. Flow cytometric analysis by incorporation of Hoechst 33342 and PyroninY into DNA and RNA respectively of cells in the (A) total LSK population and (B) CD34⁻LSK gated population. Shown are a representative flow cytometric analysis and a summary of 4 experiments. *p<.05, **p<.01.

Defective self-renewal in Alox15 HSC

We tested whether 12/15-LOX regulates self-renewal capacity using two approaches. In the first, we compared the self-renewal capacity of Alox15 and B6 HSCs in serial transfer assays in the **absence** of competitors. B6 and Alox15 BM were transplanted into lethally irradiated mice. After 16 weeks, the bone marrow was isolated and transplanted into a second lethally irradiated recipient (Figure 27A). Alox15 BM was able to reconstitute lethally irradiated primary recipient mice but recapitulated the defects in Alox15 mice described above, compared to the hematopoietic profile of primary recipients of B6 BM (Figure 14). However, when BM cells from primary recipients were serially transferred, there was a marked reduction in the survival of secondary recipients of Alox15 BM compared to B6 (Figure 27B). The morbidity was not due to development of MPD because the secondary recipients had comparable levels of neutrophils (Figure 27C). These data demonstrate that Alox15 HSCs have a decreased capacity to selfrenew compared to wild-type HSC.

In the second approach we compared functionality of B6 and Alox15 HSCs following treatment with 5-FU (200 mg/kg, i.p.), which depletes the mature hematopoietic department resulting in division of HSCs. During competitive reconstitutions, HSCs must be able to home to a bone marrow environment that is altered after irradiation. The 5-FU approach has an advantage because it tests the ability of HSCs to self-renew in their native niches. HSC self-renewal capacity was assessed by determining the ratios of LSK to myeloid progenitors (MP) and CLPs at day 4 post-injection, when the HSC are expected to be cycling in



Figure 27. 12/15-LOX regulates self-renewal of HSC. (A) Schematic of serial reconstitution of WT or Alox15 BM. (B) Kaplan-Meier morbidity curve demonstrating decreased survival of secondary recipients of Alox15 BM compared to WT. (C) Neutrophil count in secondary B6 and Alox15 BM recipients demonstrating that the mortality in secondary recipients is not due to development of MPD.

order to replenish the hematopoietic compartment. If the ratios of CLP/LSK or MP/LSK are increased in 5-FU treated Alox15 BM compared to 5-FU treated wild-type controls, it would indicate a preference for Alox15 HSCs to differentiate rather than to self-renew while a reduced ratio indicates a preference for Alox15 HSCs to self-renew rather than differentiate (Figure 28). On day 4 post-5-FU treatment, Alox15 BM contained a greater percentage of differentiated cells compared to wild-type including an increase in the percentage of MP and increased percentage and numbers of CLPs (Figure 29A-C). Moreover, the ratios of MP/LSK, and CLP/LSK were increased compared to wild-type, demonstrating a decreased capacity for Alox15 HSC to self-renew and an asymmetric division skewed toward differentiation (Figure 29A). B6 and Alox15 LSK displayed similar resistance to 5-FU per se because at day 2 post-5-FU treatment, there were no differences in the numbers or percentages of LSK, MP or CLP. Furthermore, by day 8 post 5-FU treatment, the LSK subset in B6 had expanded while Alox15 exhibited a marked reduction in number and percentage of LSK. (Figure 29B-C). The reduction in LSK in BM of 5-FU-treated Alox15 mice on day 8 may be due to exhaustion of the capacity of HSC to self-renew as required to maintain the populations of LSK and progenitors. 5-FU-treated Alox15 mice also exhibited decreased survival; 87.5% (7/8) of Alox15 mice succumbed to treatment compared to 12.5% (1/8) for B6 mice (Figure 29D). The cause of death of the 5-FU-treated Alox15 mice appeared to be severe anemia, as the HCT at day 8 post-treatment was 14.52% + 4.81% for Alox15 mice versus 32.53% + 8.08% for B6 mice. The findings of increased proliferation but decreased numbers of









LT-HSC in Alox15 mice, decreased survival of recipients that received serially transferred Alox15 bone marrow and the increased ratios of Alox15 progenitor/LSK during 5-FU assays, when taken together, effectively demonstrate that 12/15-LOX regulates HSC self-renewal. Defective self-renewal of Alox15 HSC is associated with reduction 12/15-LOX-dependent generation of lipid mediators and ROS

In order to determine which products of 12/15-LOX activity mediate HSC function, we compared levels of ROS and lipid metabolites in B6 and Alox15 progenitors. Purified Alox15 LSK isolated by cell sorting exhibited increased basal ROS levels ex vivo using the oxygen-sensitive CM-H₂DCFDA probe compared to B6 (Figure 30A). Because ROS levels are known to be decreased in LT-HSC, the increase in basal ROS levels is likely a reflection of the decreased numbers of LT-HSC within the Alox15 LSK (Figure 24) (Jang and Sharkis, 2007). Interestingly, however, wild-type LSK exhibited a greater fold increase in ROS compared to Alox15 after loading with exogenous AA indicating that 12/15-LOX-mediated ROS production is in fact defective in Alox15 LSK (Figure 30B). Hence, we speculate that 12/15-LOX-mediated ROS production may contribute to 12/15-LOX signaling in HSCs. However, in the HSC it is difficult to restore 12/15-LOX dependent ROS without affecting basal ROS, which is increased due to other oxidases such as other enzymes involved in lipid metabolism, NADPH-oxidases and mitochondria. In the future, it would be interesting to elucidate the effects of these other oxidases in Alox15 HSC that may contribute to the increased basal ROS levels and may also effect HSC



Figure 30. Reduction in 12/15-LOX-generated ROS in Alox15 HSC. (A) Increased basal ROS in Alox15 HSC. B6 and Alox15 LSK were isolated by cell sorting and analyzed for ROS formation using the ROS sensitive indicator CM-H₂DCFDA and flow cytometry. Shown are a summary of Mean Florescense Intensity (MFI) of n=5 in 2 independent experiments and a representative flow cytometric analysis. Shaded-B6; Open-Alox15 (B) B6 and Alox15 LSK were loaded with 10µM AA prior to measuring ROS. Shown are a summary of n=4 in 2 independent experiments as fold increase MFI compared to unstimulated cells and respresentative flow cytometric analyses. Shaded, unstimulated; Open, Stimulated.

function. In Chapter 3, we will elucidate that one effect of 12/15-LOX-generated ROS is to regulate ICSBP/IRF-8 transcription factor nuclear accumulation through redox-dependent signaling.

We also compared the generation of 12/15-LOX-mediated lipid metabolites between B6 and Alox15 BM and progenitors. B6 and Alox15 BM or Lin⁻ cells enriched by column purification were loaded with 10 μ M AA and lipid products were detected using mass spectroscopy (Figure 31A). Alox15 BM exhibited decreased 12(S)-HETE and 15(S)-HETE production while Alox15 Lincells produced less 12(S)-HETE and 13(S)-HODE compared to B6 (Figure 31B). These differences were specific for 12/15-LOX products as there were no differences in the 5-LOX product 5(S)-HETE. Interestingly, Alox15 BM also exhibited decreased levels of the novel recently described 15(S)-HETE derivative 15-oxo-ETE, reported to inhibit proliferation in HUVEC cells (Wei et al., 2009). We speculate that 12/15-LOX lipid product signaling by 12(S)-HETE and 13(S)-HODE may mediate the effects of 12/15-LOX on HSC function.

As described in the introduction, 12/15-LOX produces multiple products found in both the cell membrane, in the cytoplasm and released outside the cell. The mass spectroscopy assay used only measures specific lipid products that are released into the supernatant and it is likely that other 12/15-LOX-generated products not measurable by our assay play a role in cell signaling that regulates HSC function. Moreover, products of 12/15-LOX often act in combination, which makes testing a single 12/15-LOX in isolation difficult to interpret. Product rediversion in the absence of 12/15-LOX occurs and another product of



Figure 31. Alox15 HSCs have select defects in 12/15-LOX generated lipid

mediators. (A) Overview of Lipoxygenease mediated catalysis of arachidonic acid (B) Lipid product formation in B6 and Alox15 BM and Lin⁻ cells after stimulation with 10μM AA; *p<.05, **p<.01 compared to wild-type. different AA-metabolizing enzyme such as 5-LOX may in fact regulate HSC function. Lastly, lipid metabolites are very short-lived and stable derivatives of the 12/15-LOX products may be needed to test their ability to regulate HSC function.

Despite these challenges, we tested the ability of 12/15-LOX products, 12(S)-HETE and 15(S)-HETE, to alter HSC proliferation *in vitro*. BM cells from Alox15 mice were isolated and treated with 12(S)-HETE and 15(S)-HETE in varying concentrations for 30 minutes or overnight prior to cell cycle analysis. Both 12(S)-HETE and 15(S)-HETE increased the percentage of cells in G_0 and decreased the percentage of cycling cells in the total BM population (Figure 32A). These effects were not dose-dependent and occurred at the lowest dose of 1 μ M for both 12(S)-HETE and 15(S)-HETE. However, neither 12(S)-HETE nor 15(S)-HETE alone had any effect on the proliferation of LSK cells (Figure 32B-C). Therefore, 12(S)-HETE nor 15(S)-HETE in isolation regulates HSC proliferation, rather 12/15-LOX likely regulates HSC with greater complexity. Products of 12/15-LOX may also regulate mature cells differently than LSK, as 12(S)-HETE and 15(S)-HETE both effected the proliferation of the total BM population but not the LSK cells. Moreover, to regulate their cell division in vivo HSC rely on signals provided by their niche, which is absent from this in vitro assay.

12/15-LOX regulates ICSBP/IRF-8 nuclear accumulation and consequently canonical Wnt signaling in hematopoietic progenitors

We previously reported that 12/15-LOX regulates ICSBP/IRF-8 nuclear accumulation in peritoneal macrophages and Mac1⁺Gr1⁺ splenocytes



Figure 32. 12(S)-HETE and 15(S)-HETE inhibit proliferation of bone marrow cells but not HSCs *in vitro*. BM from Alox15 mice was isolated and treated with varying concentrations of 12(S)-HETE and 15(S)-HETE for 30 minutes (A-B) or overnight (C) prior to staining for cell cycle analysis. Shown are data gated on total cells (A) and LSK (B-C).

(Middleton et al., 2006a; Middleton et al., 2006b). ICSBP/IRF-8 is also reduced in aging stem cells and its targets, including Dab2, are involved in signaling pathways implicated in HSC function (Hocevar et al., 2003; Stirewalt et al., 2008). Therefore, we investigated whether 12/15-LOX regulates ICSBP/IRF-8 in hematopoietic progenitors. ICSBP/IRF-8 protein in nuclear extracts of B6 and Alox15 Lin⁻cKit⁺ cells enriched by column purification was quantified by immunoblot *ex vivo*. The levels of nuclear ICSBP/IRF-8 protein were decreased in Alox15 progenitors compared to B6 (Figure 33A) due to dysregulation at a post-translational level as levels of ICSBP/IRF-8 total protein (MPER lysates) and mRNA were not statistically different (Figure 33B-C).

To determine whether the decrease in ICSBP/IRF-8 nuclear accumulation affected the expression of ICSBP/IRF-8 target genes in HSC, we analyzed mRNA levels of known ICSBP/IRF-8-regulated genes using Q-PCR in B6 and Alox15 LSK enriched by sorting. ICSBP/IRF-8 is known to negatively regulate Dab2 and positively regulate Nf-1, Blimp1 and p15INK4b (Rosenbauer et al., 2002; Schmidt et al., 2004; Zhu et al., 2004). Consistent with this, Dab2 mRNA was increased while Nf-1, Blimp1 and p15INK4b mRNA were decreased in Alox15 compared to wild-type LSK (Figure 33D).

We also analyzed expression of other genes that regulate HSC function not believed to be directly regulated by ICSBP/IRF-8 including Hes1, Bmi, Hoxb4 and Gfi-1. Of these genes, only Hes1 was significantly decreased in Alox15 compared to wild-type LSK (Figure 33D). Because Hes1 is also decreased when canonical Wnt signaling is inhibited (Fleming et al., 2008) and because the


Figure 33. 12/15-LOX regulates ICSBP/IRF-8 in HSC. (A) Immunoblot of nuclear extracts from BM Lin-cKit+ cells demonstrating decreased nuclear accumulation of ICSBP/IRF-8 in Alox15 progenitors.(B-C) Dysregulation of ICSBP/IRF-8 protein is post-transcriptional. Similar quantities of ICSBP/IRF-8 (B) total protein lysates and (C) mRNA B6 and Alox15 Lin-cKit+ cells (n=3). (D) Q-PCR of mRNAs of ICSBP/IRF-8-regulated genes (black bars) and genes known to regulate HSC self-renewal but not regulated by ICSBP/IRF-8 (white bars) in sorted B6 and Alox15 LSK presented as average fold change from B6 (n=3).

ICSBP/IRF-8 target Dab2 negatively regulates canonical Wnt signaling by inhibiting disheveled and stabilizing axin (Hocevar et al., 2003; Jiang et al., 2008), we investigated whether 12/15-LOX regulates canonical Wnt signaling. We first determined that Dab2 protein was increased in Alox15 Lin⁻cKit⁺ cells (Figure 34A). Because increased Dab2 leads to degradation of downstream mediators of canonical Wnt signaling including β -catenin, we measured β -catenin levels in wild-type and Alox15 progenitors. Indeed, β -catenin protein was decreased in total lysates of Alox15 Lin⁻cKit⁺ progenitors compared to wild-type (Figure 34B). These data implicate 12/15-LOX as a novel regulator of canonical Wnt signaling. Canonical Wnt signaling is known to regulate HSC quiescence and self-renewal (Fleming et al., 2008; Luis et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2007) and therefore the dysregulation of the Wnt signaling pathway including β -catenin, may be at least one important mechanism underlying the reduced quiescence and self-renewal capacity in Alox15 HSC.

The PI3-K pathway is another signaling pathway implicated in HSC function. We have previously shown that phosphorylated Akt, which is downstream of PI3-K was increased in developing Alox15 BM and that PI3-K regulated nuclear accumulation of ICSBP/IRF-8 in Alox15 splenocytes(Middleton et al., 2006b). Moreover, mice with activated PI3-K due to deletion of PTEN exhibited HSC defects including loss of quiescence and developed leukemia. These effects were mediated downstream by mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling. Treatment of these mice with the mTOR inhibitor rapamycin reduced proliferation of PTEN-deficient HSC (Yilmaz et al., 2006). Therefore,





Immunoblot (top) and densitometric quantification of (A) Dab2, an inhibitor of Wnt signaling, and (B) β -catenin, a downstream mediator of canonical Wnt signaling, in lysates of B6 and Alox15 Lin-cKit+ cells (n=4); *p<.05, **p<.01 compared to wild-type. we speculated that activated PI3-K signaling, specifically mTOR, may regulate the defective HSC function in Alox15 mice. We tested whether treatment with rapamycin reduced HSC proliferation in Alox15 mice. Treatment of Alox15 mice with rapamycin for seven days decreased the proliferation amongst the total Alox15 BM population (Figure 35A) demonstrating that the biological activity of rapamycin and that the enhanced proliferation in mature Alox15 cells may be due in part to mTOR signaling. On the other hand, Alox15 LSK displayed no difference in proliferation in the presence of rapamycin (Figure 35B). Therefore, the increased proliferation in Alox15 LSK is not due to the PI3-K-AKT-mTOR pathway.

In order to directly address whether β -catenin regulates HSC function in Alox15 mice, we attempted to introduce a murine stem cell retrovirus (MigR) containing non-degradable β -catenin into Alox15 BM. However, retroviral transduction of Alox15 cells was challenging. Treatment of Alox15 mice with 5-FU caused depletion of the LSK and progenitors (Figure 29). Therefore, we tested the feasibility of retroviral transduction of fetal liver cells, which do not need treatment with 5-FU. Alox15 fetal liver cells were retrovirally transduced at high levels initially. However, lethally irradiated recipients that received Alox15 retrovirally tranduced cells exhibited low survival rates, while all of the recipients of B6 retrovirally transduced cells survived (Figure 36A). The few surviving recipients of Alox15-tranduced cells exhibited low levels of GFP+ Mig retrovirus (A) while the B6 retrovirally transduced cells were present at high numbers (Figure 36A). Furthermore, surviving recipients of Alox15 transduced cells



Figure 35. Proliferation of Alox15 LSK is not dependent on mTOR. Alox15 mice were treated with rapamycin or vehicle control i.p. daily. After 7 days, BM was isolated and percentage of proliferating cells in the total BM (A) or LSK (B) were determined by Hoechst staining and multicolor flow cytometry. *p<0.05



Figure 36. Alox15 cells exhibit sensitivity to retroviral transduction. B6 and Alox15 fetal liver cells were retrovirally transduced with Mig retrovirus and then transferred into lethally irradiated congenic recipient host. (A) Survival curve demonstrating decreased survival of recipients receiving retrovirally transduced Alox15 cells n=10 for MigR, n=5 for MigR containing 12/15-LOX or β-catenin (B-C) After 8 weeks, peripheral blood was isolated from surviving recipients and analyzed using flow cytometry for presence of retrovirus by GFP (B) or presence of recipient cells by CD45.1 (C). Shown is a representative experiment.

but not recipients of B6 retrovirally tranduced cells, exhibited an expansion of rare host cells (Figure 36B). Thus, it appears that Alox15 cells exhibit greater sensitivity to retroviral transduction and do not survive/expand after transfer into irradiated recipients. Lowering the dose of irradiation to the host or the addition of competitor B6.SJL cells improved survival of recipients but did not improve recovery of Alox15 retrovirally tranduced cells. The retroviral reconstitution in Alox15 HSCs needs to be further optimized in future studies to directly address the pathway whereby 12/15-LOX regulates HSC.

Implications

These studies establish the importance of unsaturated fatty acid metabolism in hematopoiesis by demonstrating that Alox15 mice have a cellautonomous defect in hematopoietic development. Depletion of 12/15-LOX results in a primary defect in HSC function. 12/15-LOX directly regulates the number, proliferation and function of LT-HSCs. Furthermore, Alox15 HSCs exhibit a decreased capacity to self-renew. The defects in Alox15 HSCs are associated with a selective decrease in 12/15-LOX-mediated ROS and lipid metabolites and are at least partly due to dysregulation of the transcription factor ICSBP/IRF-8 and its downstream targets and to disruption of canonical Wnt signaling.

Because Alox15 HSCs exhibit decreased quiescence, the striking phenotype observed during the 5-FU assays at day 4 may be partially due to increased sensitivity of Alox15 LSK to 5-FU. However, the sensitivity of 5-FU at day 2 is similar between B6 and Alox15 LSK, suggesting that 5-FU is not

acting directly on Alox15 LSK. Moreover, the increased numbers of Alox15 CLP at day 4 compared to B6 demonstrate that Alox15 LSK are skewed in favor of differentiation rather than self-renewal. The increased ratio of progenitors compared to LSK at day 4, support the possibility that the exhaustion in the LSK population is at least partly due to a decrease in self-renewal. The conclusion that 12/15-LOX regulates self-renewal is also supported by the defect of Alox15 BM cells during serial reconstitution assays and by depletion of the LT-HSC population in Alox15 BM.

ROS, which are functional by-products of 12/15-LOX activity (Conrad, 1999), are known to regulate HSC function. Because LT-HSCs exhibit decreased ROS (Jang and Sharkis, 2007), the finding that Alox15 LSK exhibit increased basal levels of ROS is likely a reflection of the reduction in LT-HSCs amongst Alox15 LSK. Furthermore, basal ROS levels in HSCs may be determined by other oxidases, such as NADPH-oxidase (Piccoli et al., 2007). In any case, increased levels of ROS may contribute to the defect in HSC function and self-renewal (Ito et al., 2006; Miyamoto et al., 2007; Tothova et al., 2007; Jang and Sharkis, 2007). Moreover, ROS are known to regulate cell cycle progression (liyama et al., 2006) and hence may in fact contribute to the increased cycling in Alox15 LSK. However, we have demonstrated that 12/15-LOX-mediated ROS production is defective in Alox15 LSK and hence may contribute to 12/15-LOX signaling in HSCs.

Deficiency in 12/15-LOX also resulted in a marked reduction in the generation of select 12/15-LOX lipid mediators by hematopoietic progenitors.

12(*S*)-HETE and 13(*S*)-HODE were decreased while similar levels of 15(*S*)-HETE and the 5-LOX product 5(*S*)-HETE were produced by Alox15 compared to B6 progenitors. On the other hand, in Alox15 total BM cells there were decreased 12(*S*)-HETE and 15(*S*)-HETE but similar levels of 13(*S*)-HODE. The differences in product formation between BM cells and the enriched progenitors are likely due to the preference of murine 12/15-LOX to synthesize 12(*S*)-HETE rather than 15(*S*)-HETE and differences in substrate (AA vs linoelic acid) availability.

Lipid metabolites of 12/15-LOX may regulate HSC function intrinsically either individually or in combination and may act on multiple signal transduction pathways including activation of protein kinase C by 12(*S*)-HETE, and MAPK by 13(*S*)-HODE (Conrad, 1999). Some 12/15-LOX products function by incorporation into cell membranes, which can alter phosphoinositol (Girton et al., 1994) and receptor signaling (Takata et al., 1994). Moreover, 12/15-LOX products directly influence gene transcription by binding and activating transcription factors such as PPAR- γ (Huang et al., 1999). Recent studies have shown that the recently described 15(S)-HETE derivative 15-oxo-HETE inhibits HUVEC proliferation (Wei et al., 2009). Further studies are required to determine how 12/15-LOX lipid products regulate HSC proliferation and function.

Interestingly, fatty acid metabolism mediated by other enzymes that also target AA as their substrate have been implicated in normal and leukemic HSC function. The cyclooxygenase product prostaglandin E_2 is known to signal extrinsically through its receptor on HSC to promote self-renewal by enhancing canonical Wnt signaling and β -catenin accumulation (North et al., 2007)

(Goessling et al., 2009). Prostaglandin E₂ has also been shown to regulate HSC progression into cell cycle (Hoggatt et al., 2009). In addition, it was recently reported that 5-lipoxygenase-deficient mice are protected from BCR-ABL-induced CML through inhibition of leukemic stem cell differentiation. In this study, we demonstrate a seemingly opposing role for 12/15-LOX since 12/15-LOX promotes self-renewal of normal HSC and suppresses development of myeloid leukemia (Middleton et al., 2006b). Because cyclooxygenase, 5-LOX and 12/15-LOX share AA as a substrate, it will be interesting in the future to investigate whether substrate availability or substrate rediversion may contribute to the phenotypes observed in the HSC compartment in the absence of 12/15-LOX or 5-LOX.

We have demonstrated that 12/15-LOX regulates nuclear ICSBP accumulation in HSC. Intriguingly, ICSBP/IRF-8 has been proposed to play a role in HSC function as aging wild-type murine and human HSC have decreased levels of ICSBP/IRF-8 (Stirewalt et al., 2008). PU.1, a transcription factor that interacts with ICSBP/IRF-8 is required for the capacity of HSC to self-renew (Iwasaki et al., 2005). Both ICSBP/IRF-8 and PU.1 bind to the Dab2 promoter and ICSBP/IRF-8 inhibits Dab2 expression (Rosenbauer et al., 2002) (Figure 37). Dab2 functions as a negative regulator of canonical Wnt signaling by inhibiting dishevelled-3 and by stabilizing axin leading to degradation of mediators of canonical Wnt signaling including β -catenin (Hocevar et al., 2003; Jiang et al., 2008; Figure 34; Figure 37). Axin over-expression has been shown to negatively regulate HSC self-renewal (Reya et al., 2003). Other mediators of canonical

Wnt signaling including β -catenin have also been shown to regulate self-renewal, quiescence and function of HSCs (Nemeth et al., 2006; Zhao et al., 2007; Fleming et al., 2008; Luis et al., 2009). Consistent with these data, Dab2 gene and protein expression were amplified in Alox15 HSCs (Figure 37). Dab2 promotes β -catenin degradation leading to a decrease of β -catenin in Alox15 progenitors (Figure 37). The data presented indicate that 12/15-LOX may act upstream of ICSBP/IRF-8 to promote Wnt signaling and hence self-renewal by inhibiting transcription of Dab2. Therefore, 12/15-LOX is a novel regulator of canonical Wnt signaling.

HSC function and hematopoietic differentiation are related and disruptions in HSC function can lead to the development of leukemia; for example, in the floxed PTEN mouse (Yilmaz et al., 2006). Alox15 mice develop a chronic myelogenous leukemia-like MPD in 15% of the mice over the course of a year. It is possible that the disruption in HSC function contributes to the development of MPD in Alox15 mice (Middleton et al., 2006b). Dysregulation of ICSBP/IRF-8 and decreased 12/15-LOX activity, particularly levels of 12(*S*)-HETE, are also associated with human CML (Stenke et al., 1991; Takayama et al., 1983). The contribution of decreased lipid mediators to the leukemic state remains largely unknown, although eicosanoid products may induce apoptosis of myeloid leukemic cell lines (Li et al., 2005; Mahipal et al., 2007). Because of the development of a myeloid leukemia in Alox15 mice, we hypothesized that 12/15-LOX also regulates myelopoiesis which we will address in Chapter 3. In summary, we have found that 12/15-LOX-mediated fatty acid



Figure 37. Schematic of canonical Wnt signaling in (A) wildtype cells and (B) dysregulated signaling in Alox15 HSC. Normally ICSBP represses Dab2 transcription, allowing canonical Wnt signaling and β -catenin accumulation to occur. Alox15 HSC exhibit enhanced Dab2 expression due to decreased ICSBP nuclear accumulation. Dab2 then inhibits canonical Wnt signaling by inhibiting DvI and stabilizing the β -cantenin destruction complex leading to decreased β -catenin levels.

metabolism regulates the asymmetric division of HSCs by promoting quiescence and self-renewal of LT-HSC. In the absence of 12/15-LOX, HSCs exhibit increased proliferation and a bias in their asymmetric division toward differentiation rather than self-renewal. Furthermore, we show that depletion of 12/15-LOX products is associated with a defect in nuclear accumulation of ICSBP/IRF-8 and subsequent canonical Wnt signaling. Furthermore, I define 12/15-LOX as a novel regulator of canonical Wnt signaling. The data in this chapter demonstrate that signaling downstream of fatty acid metabolism is an important mechanism whereby HSC function is mediated. Further understanding of these mechanisms may have implications for hematopoiesis, leukemia and hematopoietic aging.

CHAPTER 3: IRF-8-driven monopoiesis is dependent upon 12/15-

lipoxygenase mediated redox signaling

Myelopoiesis is the process whereby myeloid cells, granulocytes and monocytes, are generated from HSCs. Hematopoietic differentiation from HSC gives rise to cells that are progressively more restricted in their potential fate as they commit to various lineages. For example, HSCs differentiate into MPP that propagate both myeloid and lymphoid cells (Wilson et al., 2007). Further differentiation of MPPs leads to the generation of CMP that can only sustain erythropoiesis by differentiating into MEP and myelopoiesis by differentiating into GMP, which in turn differentiate into either granulocytes or monocytes (Akashi et al., 2000). Although phenotypic profiles can be used to distinguish hematopoietic progenitors at various stages of differentiation, hematopoiesis occurs along a continuum so that phenotypically defined progenitor populations can exhibit heterogeneity with regard to their ability to commit and differentiate to alternative lineages.

During myelopoiesis, IRF-8 functions in conjunction with PU.1 to activate gene transcription that promotes monocytic differentiation while inhibiting gene transcription that promotes granulocytic differentiation (Tamura et al., 2000). Loss of IRF-8 transcriptional activity results in defects in monocytic development and enhanced granulocytic differentiation (Scheller et al., 1999; Tsujimura et al., 2002). Transcriptional activity of IRF-8 is dependent on its translocation to the nucleus from the cytoplasm and our lab previously showed that IRF-8 nuclear accumulation requires 12/15-lipoxygenase (12/15-LOX)-mediated signaling

(Middleton et al., 2006a; Middleton et al., 2006b). However, the mechanism whereby 12/15-LOX promotes nuclear accumulation of IRF-8 has not been elucidated. In this chapter, I present evidence which demonstrates that 12/15-LOX regulates ICSBP/IRF-8 by redox signaling and implicates SHP-2 as a redox sensitive factor.

Although much is known about the transcription factors that regulate myeloid cell specification, less is understood about the upstream signaling pathways required for these cell fate decisions. In this chapter, I present data which demonstrate that myelopoiesis is regulated by a novel 12/15-LOX-dependent signaling pathway. Little was previously known of the consequences of 12/15-LOX signaling during myelopoiesis. Although others reported that addition of 12(S)-HETE and 15(S)-HETE to human CD34⁺ progenitors decreased the numbers of granulocyte-macrophage colonies in methylcellulose assays (Desplat et al., 2000), the role of 12/15-LOX in regulation of granulocytic and monocytic lineage specification remained to be determined.

ROS generated as byproducts of 12/15-LOX-mediated lipid metabolism also function as second messengers by regulating cellular redox signaling. For instance, ROS generated by lipoxygenases can oxidatively modify proteins such as SHP-2 resulting in their inactivation (Pani et al., 2000; Chen et al., 2009a). Interestingly, SHP-2 negatively regulates ICSBP/IRF-8 transcriptional activity, known to promote monocyte differentiation (Huang et al., 2006; Tsujimura et al., 2002) and inhibition of SHP-2 results in decreased granulocyte differentiation (Jack et al., 2009). However, a role for ROS per se has not been previously

demonstrated in GMP or in the regulation of cell fate decisions.

Because monocyte numbers are reduced (Chapter 1) while the percentage of granulocytes is increased in Alox15 mice (Middleton et al., 2006b), I hypothesized that 12/15-LOX regulates myeloid cell fate decisions. In this chapter, I present data that establish that Alox15 myeloid cell development is skewed towards the granulocytic lineage at the expense of monopoiesis. Furthermore, the data indicate that the bias in cell fate is due to 12/15-LOXdependent redox signaling that mediates nuclear accumulation of IRF-8 to drive monopoiesis and inhibit granulopoiesis.

Alox15 progenitors exhibit enhanced granulopoiesis and decreased monopoiesis

We previously demonstrated that 12/15-LOX-deficient Alox15 mice had reduced numbers of monocytes in the blood and increased percentage of granulocytes in the blood, spleen and bone marrow (BM) (Kinder et al submitted; (Middleton et al., 2006b). Therefore, we hypothesized that 12/15-LOX regulates myelopoiesis. Using real time PCR analysis of enriched progenitor subsets, we determined that 12/15-LOX was expressed at varying levels throughout myelopoiesis (Figure 38) with the highest levels of 12/15-LOX expression in CMP and MEP. Because these progenitors have erythroid potential, these data were consistent with the fact that 12/15-LOX products were involved in erythroid differentiation (Chapter 1; Kuhn and Brash, 1990; van Leyen et al., 1998). However, 12/15-LOX was also expressed in HSC and GMP at levels similar to Gr1⁺ splenocytes.

To test the hypothesis that 12/15-LOX regulates myelopoiesis, we



Figure 38. 12/15-LOX is expressed during myeloid differentiation. B6 HSC (Lin-

Sca1+cKit+Flt3-),CMP (Lin-Sca1-cKit+CD34+CD16/32^b), GMP (Lin-Sca1-cKit+CD34+CD16/32^h) MEP (Lin-Sca1-cKit+CD34-CD16/32-) and Gr1+ splenocytes were enriched by cell sorting and subjected to real time PCR analysis for 12/15-LOX and normalized to actin gene expression levels (n=4). plated cells from B6 and Alox15 mice in methylcellulose containing IL-6, IL-3, stem cell factor (SCF) and erythropoietin (Epo) and compared the frequency of colony-forming units-granulocyte (CFU-G) to that of colony-forming units-macrophage (CFU-M). BM cells from Alox15 mice generated an increased ratio of CFU-G to CFU-M compared to BM cells from B6 mice (Figure 39A). BM cells from Alox15 mice gave rise to an increased number of total colonies, due to an increased number of CFU-G and CFU-granulocyte-macrophage (CFU-GM). In contrast, Alox15 BM cells gave rise to a decreased number of CFU-M compared to B6 (Figure 39A). Splenocytes from Alox15 mice had a trend towards increased total number of colonies and also generated an increased number of CFU-G to CFU-G to CFU-M. Like BM, splenocytes gave rise to an increased number of CFU-G and CFU-GM (Figure 39B). These data demonstrate that 12/15-LOX indeed regulates myelopoiesis and that absence of 12/15-LOX results in skewing of myelopoiesis towards granulocytic development.

Similar to BM cells plated in methylcellulose in the presence of IL-3, IL-6, Epo and SCF (Figure 40A), BM cells from Alox15 mice grown in the presence of GM-CSF also were skewed towards granulocyte development as indicated by an increased CFU-G/CFU-M ratio compared to B6 (Figure 40A). The skewing towards granulocyte development in the presence of GM-CSF was a result of increased numbers of Alox15 CFU-G colonies and hence enhanced granulopoiesis compared to B6. Similarly, the numbers of CFU-GM were also increased in Alox15 compared to B6 in the presence of GM-CSF (Figure 40A). These data provide additional evidence for enhanced granulopoiesis by



Figure 39. Enhanced granulopoiesis at the expense of monopolesis of Alox15 progenitors in methylcellulose assays. B6 and Alox15 BM (A) and spleen (B) were plated in methylcellulose assays in the presence of IL-3, IL-6, SCF and Epo. After 10 days, colonies were enumerated using light microscopy. Shown are the ratio of CFU-G/CFU-M and the numbers of colonies (n=3).



Figure 40. Alox15 progenitors have enhanced granulopoiesis and CFU-GM in the presence of myeloid cytokines. (A) B6 and Alox15 BM were cultured in methylcellulose assays in the presence of myeloid cytokines GM-CSF. Shown are a summary of three experiments as a ratio of CFU-G/CFU-M and phenotypes of CFU-M (black), CFU-G (checkered) and CFU-GM (white). (B) B6 and Alox15 BM were cultured in methylcellulose assays in the presence of myeloid instructive cytokines M-CSF and G-CSF as indicated on the x-axis. Shown are a summary of three experiments and phenotypes of colonies. *p<.05, **p<.01

Alox15 cells.

The cytokines provided in the experiments described above, IL-3, IL-6, SCF and Epo or GM-CSF, do not instruct lineage fate but rather support development of multiple myeloid cell fates. In order to determine the effect of instructive cytokines on the differentiation of B6 and Alox15 BM cells, we plated B6 and Alox15 BM cells in methylcellulose in the presence of M-CSF or G-CSF and quantified colony number and phenotype. Interestingly, cells from Alox15 BM gave rise to an increased number of total colonies in the presence of both M-CSF and G-CSF compared to cells from B6 BM. However, in the presence of M-CSF, cells from Alox15 BM generated more CFU-GM, but not CFU-M. In contrast, in the presence of G-CSF, cells from Alox15 BM gave rise to an increased number of both CFU-GM and CFU-G compared to cells from B6 BM (Figure 40B). Taken together, these data demonstrate that Alox15 BM cells exhibit an increased frequency of CFU-GM and enhanced granulocytic differentiation.

The increased number of total myeloid colonies that developed in methylcellulose assays with Alox15 cells suggested that there might be an increased number of myeloid progenitors in Alox15 BM compared to B6. Specifically, the increase in CFU-GM in the presence of all cytokines including M-CSF, suggest that the GMP population is specifically increased in Alox15 mice. *Accumulation of defective GMP in Alox15 mice*

To determine whether 12/15-LOX regulates the numbers of myeloid progenitor populations such as GMP in unmanipulated mice, we employed multicolor flow cytometric analysis to determine the percentage and numbers

of phenotypic progenitor populations. At all ages tested, Alox15 mice had similar percentages of Lin⁻Sca1⁺cKit⁺ cells (LSK, a population enriched for murine HSC), CMP and MEP but an increased percentage of GMP in the BM compared to B6 (Figure 41A-C). Using manual counts of total bone marrow cells coupled with the percentages of the progenitor populations determined by multicolor flow cytometric analysis, we determined that absolute numbers of GMP were also increased in Alox15 BM compared to B6 (Figure 41E). The increased percentage of GMP was also evident in Alox15 spleen (Figure 41D).

There are several potential explanations for the increased number of GMP progenitors in Alox15 mice. First, CMP may produce more GMP at the expense of MEP. Although possible, this is not likely as there were similar numbers of erythroid progenitors (BFU) produced from Alox15 BM in methylcellulose assays (Figure 39A), and similar numbers of MEP in B6 and Alox15 mice (Figure 41). Second, Alox15 GMP may expand by proliferating and/or through enhanced survival. Alternatively, Alox15 GMP differentiation may be blocked resulting in accumulation of GMP as they fail to progress from this differentiative stage.

To determine whether Alox15 GMP exhibit enhanced proliferation, we performed cell cycle analysis of B6 and Alox15 GMP *ex vivo* using incorporation of Hoechst dye, which determines DNA content. B6 and Alox15 GMP had comparable percentages of cells in SG₂M (Figure 42A). Moreover, cell survival was similar between B6 and Alox15 GMP as measured by the percentage of cells expressing AnnexinV, an apoptotic marker, *ex vivo* and after stimulation with SCF *in vitro* (Figure 42B-C). Therefore, Alox15 GMP do not appear to



Figure 41. Excess accumulation of GMP in Alox15 mice. BM cells from 5-8 week (A), 12-16 week (B,E), 20+ week (C) and spleens from 12-16 week (D) old B6 and Alox15 mice were isolated and subjected to multicolor flow cytometric analysis to determine the percentage and number x10⁴ (E) of myeloid progenitors: LSK, CMP, GMP, MEP *p<.05, **p<.01





be increased due to enhanced proliferation or decreased apoptosis.

To test the hypothesis that GMP accumulate in Alox15 mice due to a block in differentiation, we isolated enriched populations of LSK, CMP and GMP from BM of B6 and Alox15 mice by cell sorting and compared their capacity to differentiate in methylcellulose assays. LSK and CMP from Alox15 mice both generated increased numbers of CFU-G but decreased numbers of CFU-M compared to B6 resulting in increased ratios of CFU-G/CFU-M compared to B6 (Figure 43A-B). These data recapitulated results of the methylcellulose assays using whole BM cells.

On the other hand, GMP from Alox15 mice exhibited a defect in the capacity to differentiate in methylcellulose assays. GMP from Alox15 mice generated fewer total colonies, gave rise to significantly fewer M-CFU, and exhibited subtle decreases in CFU-G and CFU-GM. In spite of the subtle decrease in CFU-G, the ratio of CFU-G/CFU-M from Alox15 GMP was increased compared to B6 as we observed for LSK and CMP (Figure 43C). Although these data were consistent with a skewing towards granulocytic differentiation and defective monocytic development, it was not clear whether the defect in Alox15 GMP was specific for monocytic development. To determine the specificity of defective differentiation of Alox15 GMP, we compared differentiation of B6 and Alox15 GMP in the presence of the instructive cytokines M-CSF or G-CSF in methylcellulose assays. GMP from B6 and Alox15 mice produced similar numbers of granulocytic colonies in response to G-CSF demonstrating that Alox15 GMP did not exhibit defective differentiation nor cytokine





GMP (C) were enriched by cell sorting and plated in methylcellulose in the presence of IL-3, IL-6, SCF and Epo. Shown are a summary of three experiments as colonies enumerated and the CFU-G/CFU-M ratio. (D) B6 and Alox15 GMP were plated in the presence of M-CSF or G-CSF in methylcellulose assays. Shown are a summary of 3 experiments. *p<.05, **p<.01

hypersensitivity to G-CSF per se. However, GMP from Alox15 mice gave rise to fewer monocytic colonies in response to M-CSF than GMP from B6 mice (Figure 43D).

These data illustrate that there is an accumulation of GMP in Alox15 mice likely caused by a selective block in monocytic differentiation and decreased exit from this progenitor stage. In the absence of 12/15-LOX, there is enhanced granulocytic development at the expense of monopoiesis. Therefore, I conclude that 12/15-LOX functions to promote monocytic development and inhibit granulocytic development. (Figure 44).

Redox regulation of IRF-8 nuclear accumulation

We previously demonstrated that 12/15-LOX regulated IRF-8/ICSBP nuclear accumulation in mature myeloid cells (Middleton et al., 2006a; Middleton et al., 2006b) and in Lin⁻cKit⁺ immature myeloid progenitors (Chapter 2) (Kinder et al submitted). Moreover, IRF-8/ICSBP is known to critically promote monocyte differentiation and inhibit granulocyte development (Tamura et al., 2000; Tsujimura et al., 2002; Scheller et al., 1999). Therefore, we hypothesized that defective IRF-8/ICSBP transcriptional activity may cause the skewed granulopoieis and defective monopoiesis in Alox15 mice. To test this hypothesis, we analyzed IRF-8-regulated genes, NF-1 (Zhu et al., 2004) and Egr-1 (Tamura et al., 2000), in CMP and GMP from B6 and Alox15 mice. CMP and GMP from Alox15 mice expressed decreased levels of NF-1 and Egr-1 compared to B6 (Figure 45A) while the mRNA levels of genes important in myeloid differentiation but not regulated by IRF-8, such as PU.1 and c/EPBα (Tamura et al., 2000),



Figure 44. Diagram of GMP differentiation in Alox15 mice. 12/15-LOX inhibits granulocyte development and promotes monocyte development. In the absence of 12/15-LOX, Alox15 GMP accumulate and exhibit defective monocyte differentiation.

were comparable between B6 and Alox15 progenitor subsets (Figure 45A), indicating a selective defect in IRF-8-mediated gene transcription. The defect in IRF-8/ICSBP-mediated gene transcription was not due to decreased expression of IRF-8/ICSBP as levels of IRF-8/ICSBP mRNA were similar between B6 and Alox15 CMP and GMP (Figure 45A). These data are consistent with evidence that 12/15-LOX can regulate IRF-8/ICSCP in a post-transcriptional manner (Chapter 2) (Middleton et al., 2006b).

To determine how 12/15-LOX regulates IRF-8 transcriptional activity in developing monocytes, we used B6 and Alox15 BMM, which recapitulated the defect in NF-1 gene expression and expressed similar levels of IRF-8 in Alox15 CMP and GMP (Figure 45B). To determine which 12/15-LOX-products might regulate IRF-8-mediated gene transcription, we compared levels of lipid metabolites and ROS in B6 and Alox15 BMM. As expected, we found that Alox15 BMM were defective in production of the 12/15-LOX-generated lipid metabolite 12(S)-HETE and in basal levels of ROS compared to B6 (Figure 45C-D). Moreover, Alox15 BMM produced increased levels of the 5-LOX product 5(S)-HETE in response to AA suggesting substrate re-diversion into the 5-LOX pathway (Figure 45C).

To determine the potential impact of the reduction in ROS on IRF-8 mediated gene transcription, we treated B6 BMM overnight with a ROS scavenger, Tiron, which decreased levels of ROS (Figure 46A) and measured transcription of the IRF-8 target gene NF-1. Conversely, we treated Alox15 BMM with BSO, which increases ROS (Figure 46A) by inhibiting synthesis of the



Figure 45. Defective IRF-8 transcriptional activity in Alox15 CMP, GMP and BMM is associated with altered products of fatty acid metabolism. (A) Real time analysis of enriched B6 and Alox15 CMP and GMP demonstrate that Alox15 myeloid progenitors exhibit decreased levels of the IRF-8-mediated transcripts NF-1 and Egr-1 and similar levels of PU.1, c/EBP α and IRF-8. Gene expression was normalized by GAPDH. (n=3). (B) Alox15 BMM express decreased levels of NF-1 and similar levels of IRF-8 compared to B6 by real time analysis normalized to GAPDH (n=3). (C) Lipid product formation in B6 and Alox15 BMM after stimulation with 50 μ M AA demonstrating decreased 12(S)-HETE and increased 5(S)-HETE in Alox15 BMM compared to B6. (n=4 in two experiments). (D) Flow cytometric analysis of B6 and Alox15 BMM loaded with the ROS sensitive dye H₂DCFDA demonstrate decreased levels of ROS in Alox15 BMM. Shown are a representative experiment and a summary of 5 experiments.

cellular anti-oxidant gluthathione. Interestingly, we found that NF-1 gene expression was regulated in part by ROS levels. The ROS scavenger Tiron decreased NF-1 expression in B6 BMM while the ROS inducer, BSO, restored NF-1 transcription in Alox15 BMM (Figure 46B). To determine whether ROSsignaling alters NF-1 transcription by regulating the nuclear accumulation of IRF-8, levels of IRF-8 were quantified in nuclear lysates of B6 BMM treated with Tiron overnight. Both B6 BMM treated with Tiron and Alox15 BMM exhibited a decrease in IRF-8 nuclear accumulation compared to untreated B6 BMM, indicating that low ROS levels contribute to the decreased nuclear accumulation of IRF-8 (Figure 46C). Conversely, elevation of ROS levels in Alox15 BMM by the addition of BSO increased IRF-8 nuclear accumulation (Figure 46D). This regulation was not due to alterations in IRF-8 gene expression, which was similar between treated and untreated B6 and Alox15 BMM (Figure 46E). Moreover, the nuclear levels of ICSBP/IRF-8 with the addition of BSO in Alox15 BMM were restored to the levels observed in untreated B6 BMM, suggesting that redox signaling is the primary mediator of 12/15-LOX-dependent activation of IRF-8 (Figure 46F). These data indicate that 12/15-LOX regulates IRF-8 nuclear accumulation and subsequent gene transcription through ROS-mediated signaling.

Redox regulation of monocyte development in Alox15 progenitors

If 12/15-LOX regulates nuclear IRF-8 accumulation through ROSmediated signaling and as IRF-8 promotes monocyte development, we expected that increasing ROS-signaling should also restore monocytic differentiation in



Figure 46. ROS-signaling regulates IRF-8 nuclear accumulation in Alox15 cells. Addition of 10 mM Tiron, a ROS scavenger, to B6 BMM overnight decreases levels of ROS (A) and NF-1 transcription (B) while addition of BSO to Alox15 BMM, increases ROS (A shown at 100 μ M) and NF-1 transcription (B shown at 50 μ M) by real time analysis (n=3). (B) Low levels of ROS decrease IRF-8 nuclear accumulation. B6 BMM in the presence and absence of 10 mM Tiron and Alox15 BMM were cultured overnight demonstrated decreased IRF-8 nuclear accumulation in low levels or ROS. Expression of IRF-8 in nuclear lysates were determined by immunoblot. (C) ROS-signaling increases IRF-8 nuclear accumulation. Alox15 BMM were isolated and cultured alone or in the presence of 50 μ M and 100 μ M BSO overnight. Shown is a representative immunoblot of nuclear lysates and a summary of 3 experiments. (D) IRF-8 mRNA normalized to GAPDH determined by real time analysis demonstrates that 12/15-LOX regulates IRF-8 in a post-transcriptional manner (n=3). (E) Summary of BMM experiments show that BSO restores nuclear IRF-8 accumulation in Alox15 BMM. *p<.05, **p<.01

Alox15 progenitors. To determine the impact of redox signaling on Alox15 myeloid development, we plated BM cells from Alox15 mice in methylcellulose in the presence or absence of BSO. Interestingly, the presence of BSO increased Alox15 monocytic development (CFU-M) and decreased granulocyte development (CFU-G) in methylcellulose resulting in a decreased ratio of CFU-G/CFU-M (Figure 47A). Increasing ROS levels through the addition of BSO also increased monocyte development from Alox15 GMP in methylcellulose assays. GMP from Alox15 mice plated in the presence of BSO generated more CFU-M colonies than in the absence of BSO. This resulted in a decreased ratio of CFU-G/CFU-M in the presence of BSO (Figure 47B). Moreover, addition of BSO to B6 BM cells in methylcellulose had a slight trend towards increased CFU-M, though this was not significant (Figure 48A). The levels of ROS in B6 may be optimal for monocyte development and further increase of redox signaling may have a negative effect on cell survival (Jones, 2008). Taken together, these data indicate that 12/15-LOX regulates monocyte development through redox signaling and restoration of redox signaling in Alox15 progenitors is sufficient to restore monocyte development.

On the other hand, we also tested the effects of 12/15-LOX lipid products on B6 and Alox15 myeloid cell development during methylcellulose assays. 12/15-LOX products had no effect on B6 differentiation. While 12(S)-HETE and 13(S)-HODE had no effect on Alox15 myeloid cell development, addition of 15(S)-HETE to methylcellulose decreased the ratio of CFU-G/CFU-M ratio by Alox15 progenitors (Figure 48B). Others showed that 15(S)-HETE, but not





Alox15 BM (A) and sorted GMP (B) were plated in methylcellulose in the presence and absence of 0.025 μ M BSO. Shown are a summary of three experiments as colony number and ratio CFU-G/CFU-M. *p<.05, **p<.01



Figure 48. Increasing ROS levels in B6 cells or addition of 12SHETE in both B6 and Alox15 cells have no effect on myeloid cell development. (A) B6 BM was isolated and cultured in the absence or presence of 0.025 μM BSO. Shown are the numbers of each colony type after 10 days demonstrating that BSO at this concentration had no effect on B6 myeloid development. (B) B6 and Alox15 BM cells were plated in methylcellulose containing IL-3, IL-6 and SCF in the presence or absence of 1 μM of the indicated 12/15-LOX lipid product or 0.025 μM BSO. Shown is ratio of CFU-G/CFU-M demonstrating that 15(S)-HETE and BSO selectively regulates Alox15 myeloid development. ******p<.01 compared to untreated. 13(S)-HODE, can modulate redox signaling downstream to mediate some of its effects (Mahipal et al., 2007). Therefore, it is possible that 15(S)-HETE regulates myeloid differentiation in Alox15 progenitors through redox signaling. It would be an interesting future direction to discern the exact contribution of 15(S)-HETE signaling to Alox15 myeloid cell differentiation. However, since 15(S)-HETE levels were similar between B6 and Alox15 BMM and Lin⁻ progenitors (Figures 45, 31), I concentrated on the role of 12/15-LOX-dependent ROS signaling which was decreased both in Alox15 BMM and LSK. Moreover, 12(S)-HETE, which is decreased in both Alox15 BMM and Lin⁻ progenitors, had no effect on Alox15 myeloid cell differentiation (Figure 48B).

The data presented thus far demonstrate that ICSBP/IRF-8 is transcriptionally active at relatively high levels of ROS. Therefore at higher levels of ROS a redox modification of cysteine residue(s) in ICSBP/IRF-8 or an upstream signal transducer promotes ICSBP/IRF-8 nuclear accumulation. ICSBP/IRF-8 does contain cysteines in its protein sequence. However, it is likely that modifications of these cysteine residues would inactivate rather than activate its transcriptional activity similar to the action of phosphorylation on ICSBP/IRF-8 transcription of NF-1 (Huang et al., 2006). Moreover, most non-zinc finger transcription factors such as HIF1 α and NF- κ B are regulated by redox signaling by an upstream signal transducer that is the target for redox modifications (Haddad, 2002a). Although I cannot formally exclude that ICSBP/IRF-8 was directly regulated by oxidative modifications, I hypothesized that an upstream regulator of ICSBP/IRF-8 was the target for redox modifications. Indeed,
SHP-1 and SHP-2, which negatively regulate ICSBP/IRF-8 transcriptional activity (Huang et al., 2006; Kautz et al., 2001), are known targets of redox modifications (Chen et al., 2009a; Heneberg and Draber, 2005; Weibrecht et al., 2007). Therefore, I hypothesized that ROS produced by 12/15-LOX may oxidize SHP-1/2 leading to its functional inactivation. SHP-1/2 activity may be increased at low levels of ROS, such as in Alox15 progenitors and BMM. Moreover, I hypothesized that the higher activity of SHP-1/2 in Alox15 cells may inhibit ICSBP/IRF-8 transcriptional activity leading to a block in monocyte development and enhanced granulocyte development.

To test this hypothesis, we analyzed the effect a SHP1/2 inhibitor, NSC-87877 would have on differentiation of Alox15 BM cells in methylcellulose assays. Increasing concentrations of 10 μM and 50 μM NSC-87877 restored monocyte development and decreased granulocyte development in methylcellulose assays with Alox15 BM cells. Inhibition of SHP1/2 with 50 μM NSC-87877 resulted in an increase in CFU-M and an accompanying decrease in CFU-G (Figure 49A). However, this concentration of NSC-87877 (50 μM) was recently shown to effect differentiation of wild-type BM cells in methylcellulose assays (Jack et al., 2009). Importantly, we demonstrate that 10 μM of NSC-87877 had no effect on B6 myeloid differentiation, but still decreased the ratio of CFU-G/CFU-M generated by Alox15 BM cells (Figure 49B). Therefore, dysregulation of SHP1/2 activity may contribute to the skewed granulocyte differentiation of Alox15 progenitors.

Ideally, we would like to compare the activation of SHP-2 in B6 and



Figure 49. The SHP1/2 inhibitor NSC-87877 restores monocyte development in Alox15. Alox15 BM was isolated and cultured in methylcellulose assays with IL-3, IL-6 and SCF in the presence or absence of 50 μ M (A) or 10 μ M (B) NSC-87877, a SHP-2 inhibitor. Shown are a summary of three experiments done in triplicate. **p<.01

Alox15 progenitors. Although I have attempted to measure phosphorylated stimulation concentration, progenitor cells and kinetics. Moreover, although SHP-2 in BMM, my conditions were not optimal. I need to further optimize cytokine phosphorylation can increase the activity of SHP-2, it is not required (Lu et al., 2001) and therefore may not be the best measure of its activity. A future direction of these studies would be to measure oxidized SHP-2 in Alox15 progenitors. These studies will also require further optimization, as there is no specific antibody for oxidized SHP-2 and introduction of oxygen to the protein lysates would eliminate differences.

12/15-LOX regulates IL-12p40 expression in a redox-dependent mechanism

The data presented thus far indicate that 12/15-LOX regulates ICSBP/IRF-8 nuclear accumulation through redox signaling in Alox15 progenitors and immature BMM. I hypothesized that this novel pathway may be a common mechanism by which 12/15-LOX regulates ICSBP/IRF-8-dependent gene expression. Our lab previously showed that 12/15-LOX regulates IL-12p40 expression through ICSBP/IRF-8 in mature macrophages (Middleton et al., 2006a). Therefore, we tested whether 12/15-LOX also regulates ICSBP/IRF-8 transcriptional activity of IL-12p40 expression in mature macrophages through redox signaling. We measured levels of IL-12p40 mRNA by real time PCR analysis in thioglycollate-elicited macrophages from Alox15 mice in the presence or absence of 10 μM BSO following stimulation with 1 μg/ml LPS and 500 U/ml IFNγ for 4 hours. Addition of BSO restored IL-12p40 expression in Alox15 macrophages (Figure 50A) suggesting that 12/15-LOX regulates IL-12p40



Figure 50. ROS and SHP2 regulate IL-12p40 expression in Alox15 macrophages. B6 and Alox15 macrophages were isolated using thioglycollate. Alox15 macrophages were cultured with 10 μ M BSO (A) or 100 μ M NSC-87877 for 45 minutes prior to stimulation with 1 ug/ml LPS and 500 U/ml IFN- γ for 4 hours. RNA was then isolated and real time analysis was performed for IL-12p40 and GAPDH. Shown is a summary of 3 experiments. *p<0.05

expression in Alox15 macrophages through redox signaling. These results are consistent with the results in Dr. Middleton's dissertation, in which she treated B6 thioglycollate-elicited macrophages with the ROS scavenger, Tiron, and found decreased levels of ICSBP/IRF-8 nuclear accumulation and IL-12p40 expression. We also tested whether SHP-1/2 regulates IL-12p40 expression in Alox15 macrophages. Addition of 100 μ M NSC-87877 to Alox15 thioglycollate-elicited macrophages also increased levels of IL-12p40 expression (Figure 50B). Therefore, the mechanism by which 12/15-LOX regulates ICSBP/IRF-8 transcriptional activity in immature progenitors is conserved in the regulation of IL-12p40 expression by mature macrophages.

Taken together, these data demonstrate that 12/15-LOX generated ROS likely inhibits SHP1/2 activity. Inhibition of SHP1/2 appears to promote nuclear accumulation of ICSBP/IRF-8 and thus modulates its transcriptional activity resulting in monocyte development and inhibition of granulocyte development in hematopoietic progenitors and IL-12p40 gene expression in macrophages (Figure 51). In the absence of 12/15-LOX, ROS levels are decreased resulting in increased SHP1/2 activity. As others reported, increased SHP1/2 activity leads to de-phosphorylation of ICSBP/IRF-8 that inhibits its association with other transcription factors such as PU.1 (Kautz et al., 2001) (Huang et al., 2006). This dysregulation of ICSBP/IRF-8 results in decreased ICSBP/IRF-8 transcriptional activity leading to enhanced granulocyte differentiation and decreased monocyte differentiation by Alox15 myeloid progenitors and decreased IL-12p40 expression in mature Alox15 macrophages (Figure 51).



Figure 51. Model of 12/15-LOX regulation of IRF-8 nuclear accumulation. ROS generated by 12/15-LOX oxdatively modifies SHP-2 causing its activation. Inactive SHP-2 allows IRF-8 nuclear accumulation which results in monopoiesis during hematopoietic development and IL-12p40 expression in macrophages. In the absence of 12/15-LOX, SHP-2 activate and inhibits IRF-8 nuclear accumulation leading to granulopoiesis during hematopoietic development and decreased IL-12p40 expression in macrophages.

Implications

In this chapter, I present data that 12/15-LOX promotes monocyte development through redox regulation of the transcription factor ICSBP/IRF-8. Alox15 progenitors exhibit enhanced granulopoiesis at the expense of monopoiesis. The excess accumulation of functional (CFU-GM) and phenotypic GMP in Alox15 mice is accompanied by defective monocyte differentiation, which is likely a result of decreased IRF-8-mediated gene transcription. We showed that 12/15-LOX regulates IRF-8 nuclear accumulation downstream of redox signaling possibly through oxidation of SHP-2. ICSBP/IRF-8 nuclear accumulation and transcriptional activity subsequently promotes monocyte differentiations and promotes IL-12p40 expression in mature macrophages (Figure 51).

Because NSC-87877 recognizes both SHP-1 and SHP-2, we cannot discern from these experiments which mediator(s) regulate Alox15 myeloid differentiation. The contribution of SHP-1 versus SHP-2 is also currently not known in the case of normal differentiation of wild-type cells (Jack et al., 2009). Although the role of constitutively active SHP-2 mutations has been well documented in leukemia (Loh et al., 2004; Niihori et al., 2005; Schubbert et al., 2005), the role of SHP-1 during leukemia and myeloid differentiation is less well understood (Bruecher-Encke et al., 2001; Luo et al., 2004). However, both SHP-1 and SHP-2 are regulated by redox modifications of their catalytic cysteine residues (Chen et al., 2009a; Heneberg and Draber, 2005; Weibrecht et al., 2007) and both can bind to ICSBP/IRF-8 (Huang et al., 2006; Kautz et al.,

2001). A future direction would be to determine the impact on SHP-1 and SHP-2 on myeloid cell differentiation in B6 and Alox15 mice in order to further elucidate the pathway by which 12/15-LOX regulates ICSBP/IRF-8 through redox signaling. In addition, an ICSBP/IRF-8 reporter assay could further elucidate the effect of redox signaling on ICSBP/IRF-8 transcriptional activity.

The increased numbers of GMP in Alox15 mice is likely due to an accumulation as a result of defective differentiation. The accumulation of GMP could reflect enhanced proliferation or survival, increased differentiation of CMP to GMP, increased self-renewal or decreased ability of GMP to progress from this differentiative stage. These possibilities are not mutually exclusive. For instance, gfi-1 regulated the numbers of GMP progenitors through a Hox9A-dependent mechanism that was distinct from the mechanism whereby it regulated terminal granulocyte formation (Horman et al., 2009). In our study, we demonstrated that GMP from B6 and Alox15 mice had similar rates of proliferation and survival (Figure 42) eliminating the first possibility. B6 and Alox15 mice had similar numbers of MEP (Figure 41) and similar numbers of BFU in methylcellulose assays in which BM and LSK were plated (Figures 38, 41). Therefore, it is unlikely that Alox15 CMP are differentiating to GMP at the expense of MEP. The decreased BFU from spleen and CMP may be a result of the defective red blood cell development rather than a decrease in the numbers of MEP as 12/15-LOX is known to regulate red blood cell development (Kuhn and Brash, 1990; van Leyen et al., 1998). Moreover, the absence of 12/15-LOX results in the inability of cells to self-renew (Chapter 2) so it is unlikely that GMP from Alox15 mice were

expanded due to self-renewal. Taken together, our results suggest that the accumulation of GMP is largely due to a block in progression from this progenitor stage as demonstrated by the defective differentiation of Alox15 GMP in methylcellulose assays (Figure 43). However, we cannot formally exclude the possibility that 12/15-LOX also regulates the size of progenitor populations and monocyte differentiation through other distinct mechanisms.

BM cells, splenocytes, LSK and CMP from Alox15 mice gave rise to increased numbers of granulocytes compared to B6. On the other hand, GMP from Alox15 mice did not exhibit enhanced granulocyte differentiation during methylcellulose assays. These data suggest that GMP in the methylcellulose assays are relatively limited in their ability to differentiate to the granulocyte lineage in the presence of IL-3, IL-6 and SCF and a proportion may already be committed to the monocyte lineage. Indeed, GMP represent a stage along the continuum of myeloid cell differentiation and are a heterogonous population. A proportion of Alox15 GMP may already be committed to become monocytes. However, the defect in monocyte differentiation of Alox15 GMP may result in cell death rather than differentiation to the alternative granulocyte cell fate. Addition of BSO rescues the survival and differentiation of Alox15 GMP committed to the monocyte lineage. On the other hand, BM and spleen contain LSK and CMP, which are more immature and may exhibit a greater capacity to differentiate to the granulocytic lineage resulting in an increased number of Alox15 CFU-G in the methylcellulose assays. Increasing ROS levels by the addition of BSO decreased the number of CFU-G in methylcellulose assays with whole BM. In the

absence of 12/15-LOX, there may be rediversion of monocyte lineage into the granulocyte lineage. Indeed, signaling that promotes monocyte development represses granulocyte development including by transcriptional activity of IRF-8 (Friedman, 2007; Tsujimura et al., 2002; Scheller et al., 1999; Tamura et al., 2000). Moreover, when instructed to differentiate to granulocytes by G-CSF, B6 and Alox15 GMP have similar numbers of granulocytic colonies. Therefore, Alox15 GMP are not hypersensitive to G-CSF and skewing of myelopoiesis towards granulocyte differentiation in the presence of non-instructive cytokines occurs as a result of defective monocyte differentiation.

The establishment of a redox-dependent mechanism for ICSBP/IRF-8 nuclear accumulation suggests the possibility that other mediators of redox signaling may also regulate monocyte development. Though it was known that increased levels of ROS promote monocyte to macrophage transition (Yamamoto et al., 2009), our studies implicate an additional role for ROS-signaling at an earlier stage of monocytic differentiation. Our finding that increasing ROS levels by the addition of BSO in Alox15 BM decreased granulocyte development are in agreement with a previous study that demonstrated ROS signaling, generated by dominant negative NF- κ B, inhibited granulocyte differentiation (Nakata et al., 2004). However, the previous study did not examine the effects on mature monocyte development and the ROS generated in the previous study were at levels that mediated apoptosis. Rather, our studies were done at more physiological levels of ROS that did not cause apoptosis. ROS-signaling at physiological levels is known to promote

cytokine receptor signal transduction, including downstream of the cytokines Epo and GM-CSF (liyama et al., 2006; Sattler et al., 1999). It is likely that increasing ROS levels in Alox15 progenitors functions similarly to potentiate signal transduction resulting in ICSBP/IRF-8 nuclear accumulation and transcriptional activity and subsequent monocyte differentiation.

The increased levels of 5(S)-HETE in Alox15 BMM may reflect substrate re-diversion into the 5-LOX pathway in the absence of 12/15-LOX (Figure 5C). Interestingly, the 5-LOX pathway has been shown to promote granulocyte development through the production of leukotreine D₄ (Miller et al., 1990). Moreover, inhibition of 5-LOX potentiated monocyte development (Stixova et al., 2009). Although these studies were done on cell lines, they suggest that 5-LOX and 12/15-LOX have opposing roles in myeloid cell fate decisions. A balance of lipid mediator signaling may therefore be important for the regulation of myeloid cell development.

Because leukemia can result from aberrant myeloid cell development, elucidation of the processes that govern myelopoiesis may provide insight into leukemogenesis. Indeed, a small percentage of Alox15 mice developed a myeloid proliferative disease (MPD) over the course of a year, characterized by an accumulation of granulocytes (Middleton et al., 2006b). Moreover, IRF-8deficient mice, which exhibited a block in monocyte development and enhanced granulocyte development, developed a similar MPD (Holtschke et al., 1996). One can speculate that a block in monocyte development coupled with a skewing towards granulocyte development found in both Alox15 and IRF-8-deficient

mice may cause a favorable scenario for the development of a granulocytic leukemia. Indeed, an accumulation of GMP is also found during human chronic myelogenous leukemia and is believed to be the target of a secondary oncogenic event that drives the blast crisis phase of disease (Jamieson et al., 2004).

Redox regulation of IRF-8 nuclear accumulation and gene transcription may also play an important role during inflammation. Our lab previously showed that 12/15-LOX regulates IL-12p40 transcription in mature macrophages through IRF-8 (Middleton et al., 2006a). In this chapter we demonstrate that 12/15-LOX likely regulates IRF-8 nuclear accumulation and IL-12p40 gene transcription through ROS signaling in peripheral inflammatory macrophages, similar to our findings in immature BMM. Inflammation and inflammatory cytokines can induce ROS production and in turn ROS-signaling contributes to further inflammation and cytokine production (Haddad and Harb, 2005; Lambeth et al., 2008; Shakibaei et al., 2005). Similarly, increased ROS levels during inflammation may inhibit SHP1/2 leading to activation IRF-8 nuclear accumulation and transcriptional activity of inflammatory cytokines in mature macrophages.

In summary, we demonstrate that ROS-signaling regulates IRF-8 nuclear accumulation and subsequent monocyte differentiation in Alox15 mice. This results in an accumulation of defective GMP and a skewing towards granulopoiesis at the expense of monopoiesis in Alox15 mice. Restoration of ROS rescues Alox15 monocyte differentiation. Thus, these data establish a novel role for redox signaling in the regulation of nuclear accumulation and gene transcription by IRF-8 and in monocyte differentiation in Alox15 mice. These

findings have implications for leukemagenesis and inflammation.

DISCUSSION

My dissertation defined novel roles for polyunsaturated fatty acid metabolism mediated by 12/15-LOX during hematopoiesis. I found that 12/15-LOX regulates the development of multiple hematopoietic cells including B cells, T cells, basophils, RBC, and monocytes and the function of HSCs (Figure 52). I demonstrate that disruption of 12/15-LOX signaling in Alox15 mice results in macrocytic anemia, decreased numbers of lymphocytes, impaired HSC function and skewed myeloid cell differentiation. The impaired HSC function and skewed myeloid cell differentiation likely underlie the development of the granulocytic MPN in a portion of Alox15 mice. Moreover, my data suggest that 12/15-LOX may regulate HSC function at least in part through canonical Wnt signaling and implicate redox signaling downstream of 12/15-LOX in the regulation of ICSBP/IRF-8 transcriptional activity and monocyte development. These signaling pathways have implications in the pathogenesis of immunity and cancer. Moreover, my studies are the first to establish a role for polyunsaturated fatty acid metabolism in vivo in the regulation of hematopoietic development and HSC function.

Hematopoiesis

Although I have elucidated the mechanisms whereby 12/15-LOX regulates monocyte development and HSC function, the mechanisms whereby 12/15-LOX regulates B cell and T cell development remain of interest especially because 12/15-lipoxygenases have not been previously shown to regulate lymphoid subsets. As we showed that 12/15-LOX regulates ICSBP/IRF-8 in multiple



Figure 52. Schematic 12/15-LOX regulates multiple stages of hematopolesis. I have demonstrated that 12/15-LOX regulates HSC function through canonical Wnt signaling and β -catenin and monocyte development through the transcription factor ICSBP/IRF-8. 12/15-LOX also regulates development of T cells, B cells, RBC and basophils. However, future studies are required to understand this regulation.

cell types, it is likely that 12/15-LOX also regulates B cell development through ICSBP/IRF-8 as well. ICSBP/IRF-8 and a related transcription factor IRF-4 regulate B cell development at the preB cells stage and are required for rearrangment of the IgG light chain (Lu et al., 2003) in part by mediating transcription of Ikaros and Aiolos (Ma et al., 2008). Moreover, ICSBP/IRF-8deficient mice and Alox15 mice exhibit similar defects in B cell development (Lu et al., 2003). Although the mechanism whereby 12/15-LOX regulates T cell development is not known, lipoxygenase products are found in the thymus (Harizi et al., 2008) and thus the defect in DP T cells in Alox15 mice may be due directly to alterations in lipid mediators. In addition to lymphoid subsets, the role of 12/15-LOX during DC differentiation could be potentially interesting, although we have not yet explored this possibility. Because subsets of DC and monocytes share a common progenitor (Geissmann et al., 2008) and because ICSBP/IRF-8 is also known to regulate DC cell development (Aliberti et al., 2003; Tsujimura et al., 2003), it is also possible that 12/15-LOX effects DC subsets.

Myelopoiesis

Because the oxidative enzymes involved in unsaturated fatty acid metabolism compete for the same substrates, there may be cross-regulation between cytochrome p450s, cyclooxygenases and lipoxygenases during hematopoietic development due to substrate competition. In the absence of 12/15-LOX, there may be substrate re-diversion and enhanced activity of other fatty acid enzymes. Indeed, we have shown that Alox15 BMM have increased levels of 5(S)-HETE, a product of 5-LOX (Figure 45). 5-LOX has been shown

to regulate granulocyte development through its product Leukotreine D₄ (Miller et al., 1990). Moreover, inhibition of 5-LOX potentiates monocyte development, which is dependent upon p38MAPK activation (Stixova et al., 2009). On the other hand, inhibition of COX-2 has yielded mixed results during myeloid development (Hofmanova et al., 1998) (Bunce et al., 1994). Although, these studies were conducted in cell lines, they demonstrate a seemingly opposing effect for 5-LOX from what we have demonstrated for 12/15-LOX during monocyte development. It is likely a balance of these enzymes and their products regulate myeloid development (Figure 53).

The role of ROS signaling in myeloid development had not been previously established. Although ROS levels were known to increase macrophage development in part by NAPDH-oxidase (Barbieri et al., 2003), the role of ROS signaling in immature myeloid differentiation was not previously known. We demonstrated that ROS signaling generated by 12/15-LOX might actually specify monocyte differentiation by promoting ICSBP/IRF-8 nuclear accumulation. Moreover, we implicated SHP-2 as a redox sensitive factor important in the regulation of ICSBP/IRF-8 and in the subsequent specification of cell fate decisions. Although the role of ICSBP/IRF-8 in myeloid cell fate decisions had been well documented (Tsujimura et al., 2002; Tamura et al., 2000), its regulation by redox signaling was not previously known. Because ICSBP/IRF-8 is present in multiple cell types other than myeloid progenitors including B cells, dendritic cells, T cells and macrophages (Nelson et al., 1996; Masumi et al., 2002; Tsujimura et al., 2003; Burchert et al., 2004) the



Figure 53. Schematic of fatty acid metabolism in myelopoiesis. Summary of what is known about the role of arachidonic acid mediated fatty acid metabolism in myeloid development. 12/15-LOX and 5-LOX may oppose each other during myelopoiesis. Substrate competition may regulate myeloid cell fat decisions.

regulation of ICSBP/IRF-8 by redox signaling may play a role in multiple cell development and functions. Indeed, we showed that redox signaling might also regulate transcriptional activation of IL-12p40 in macrophages.

There are multiple pathways in which ROS are generated including NAPDH-oxidases, mitochondrial function and additional enzymes that participate in fatty acid metabolism (Haddad, 2002a). Therefore, other oxidative enzymes or cellular metabolism may participate in monocyte and granulocyte cell fate decisions through redox-mediated modulation of ICSBP/IRF-8 nuclear accumulation. However, it is possible that 12/15-LOX-mediated ROS production occurs in a site-specific and concentration-dependent manner to specifically regulate SHP-2 and ICSBP/IRF-8 during myelopoiesis and in mature macrophages. Our data from HSCs in Data Chapter 2, support this hypothesis. Although basal levels of ROS were increased in Alox15 LSK, 12/15-LOXdependent ROS were decreased. Moreover, Alox15 hematopoietic progenitors exhibited decreased nuclear accumulation of ICSBP/IRF-8 and Alox15 LSK had defective levels of ICSBP/IRF-8-mediated transcripts. Therefore, it is more likely that 12/15-LOX-dependent ROS is a specific regulator of ICSBP/IRF-8 transcriptional activity, particularly in LSK. Nonetheless, it would be of interest to determine the selectivity of ROS in the regulation of ICSBP/IRF-8 in various cell types.

Although the role of SHP-2 in myeloid leukemia has been well documented (Loh et al., 2004; Niihori et al., 2005; Schubbert et al., 2005), the regulation of SHP-2 in myeloid cell fate decisions has only recently been

demonstrated (Jack et al., 2009). Moreover, the role of SHP-2 in myeloid differentiation is still under active investigation, as the contribution of SHP-1 versus SHP-2 is not known (Jack et al., 2009). Both SHP-1 and SHP-2 are known to be negatively regulated by oxidative modification (Chen et al., 2009a; Heneberg and Draber, 2005; Meng et al., 2002; Weibrecht et al., 2007) and both can inhibit the transcriptional activity of ICSBP/IRF-8 through its de-phosphorylation (Huang et al., 2006; Kautz et al., 2001). Since there was not a selective inhibitor for SHP-1 or SHP-2, we used a phosphatase inhibitor, NSC-87877, which inhibited both SHP-1 and SHP-2. Therefore, either SHP-1, SHP-2 or both may play a role in our signaling pathway by regulating ICSBP/IRF-8 through ROS signaling generated by 12/15-LOX. A future direction would be to delineate the roles of SHP-1 and SHP-2 during monocyte and granulocyte cell fate decisions in both wild-type and Alox15 mice.

HSC function

In addition to myelopoiesis, substrate competition for AA during fatty acid metabolism may also regulate HSC function as summarized in Figure 54. COX-1 regulates formation of the hematopoietic niche while COX-2 directly regulates HSC self-renewal and function (North et al., 2007). Furthermore, the COX product PGE₂ increases the number and function of LT-HSC (North et al., 2007) by increasing homing, survival, proliferation and self-renewal (Hoggatt et al., 2009). PGE₂ functions by stimulating its receptor on HSC, activating PKA and cAMP leading to stabilization of β -catenin by phosphorylation of GSK-3 β and β catenin (Goessling et al., 2009). Although the specific mechanisms whereby



Figure 54. Schematic of Fatty Acid Metabolism in normal HSC function. 12/15-LOX and COX-2 may have similar functions during HSC function, while 5-LOX may play an opposing role. 12/15-LOX and COX-2 regulate canonical Wnt signaling differ, 12/15-LOX ultimately functions similarly to COX-2 by promoting β -catenin stabilization. Interestingly, although 5-LOX does not play a major role in HSC function, it does promote HSC differentiation to some extent (Chen et al., 2009b). Similar to its role during myelopoieis, 5-LOX signaling may oppose 12/15-LOX signaling, which we demonstrate functions to promote HSC self-renewal.

We demonstrated that basal levels of ROS are increased in Alox15 LSK. The increased basal levels of ROS in Alox15 LSK could be a result of decreased representation of LT-HSC, which express low levels of ROS compared to ST-HSC and MPP and are increased within Alox15 LSK (Jang and Sharkis, 2007). However, the 12/15-LOX-independent ROS in HSC may be generated through NAPDH-oxidases (Piccoli et al., 2007), mitochondrial function (Chen et al., 2008) or other fatty acid oxidative enzymes such as 5-LOX (Chen et al., 2009b), which have all been shown to contribute to HSC metabolism. It is possible that the increased basal levels of ROS signal to negatively regulate HSC self-renewal through activation of p38MAPK (Ito et al., 2006). The contribution of ROS by 12/15-LOX-dependent and independent mechanisms require further clarification. Because ROS can be generated by multiple mechanisms, ROS levels differ in various subcellular compartments, such as cell membrane versus mitochondrion, which may play a role in its subsequent signaling. Modulation of ROS levels in a subcellular compartment-dependent manner, will remain a challenge for future studies.

Leukemia

One result of altered hematopoiesis is leukemia. Disruptions in HSC signaling can result in myeloid leukemogenesis (Passegue et al., 2004; Jamieson et al., 2004; Yilmaz et al., 2006). Alternatively, a block in myeloid cell differentiation can also cause myeloid leukemias (Holtschke et al., 1996; Passegue et al., 2001; Mueller et al., 2002). However, these possibilities are not mutually exclusive. Furthermore, we demonstrate that Alox15-deficient mice exhibit disruptions in both HSC function and myeloid cell differentiation. It is likely that both altered HSC function and a block in monocyte differentiation contribute to the development of the CML-like leukemia in a proportion of Alox15 mice (Middleton et al., 2006b).

We demonstrate that 12/15-LOX-generated ROS regulated ICSBP/IRF-8 nuclear accumulation possibly through SHP-2 inactivation. Interestingly, regulation of ICSBP/IRF-8 by SHP-2 had been implicated in leukemia. Constitutively active SHP-2 mutants synergized with haplo-insufficiency of ICSBP/IRF-8 to mediate AML (Konieczna et al., 2008). Moreover, oncogenic constitutively active SHP-2 mutants negatively regulated ICSBP/IRF-8 expression of NF-1 (Huang et al., 2006). Loss of NF-1 expression by inhibition of ICSBP/IRF-8 contributed to leukemia progression (Koenigsmann et al., 2009). Our data proposes a model in which inhibition of 12/15-LOX found in myeloid leukemias (Stenke et al., 1991; Takayama et al., 1983) results in activation of SHP-2 and defective ICSBP/IRF-8 transcriptional activity contributing to leukemia progression.

Because 12/15-LOX regulated ICSBP/IRF-8 through redox regulation

of SHP-2, one would hypothesize that either increasing ROS or inhibiting SHP-2 in Alox15 progenitors during leukemia could restore nuclear ICSBP to treat the CML-like MPN in Alox15 mice. Since Alox15 cells lost transcriptional expression of ICSBP during the leukemic phase of disease (Middleton et al., 2006b), increasing ROS levels or inhibiting SHP-2 in Alox15 mice may be used to prevent the development of leukemia rather than treat active leukemia. On the other hand, increasing ROS levels or inhibiting SHP-2 in Alox15 mice may cause activation of inflammatory gene transcription. Moreover, modulating ROS levels are difficult since their effects are dose-, cell- and subcellular-context dependent.

In the setting of leukemic HSC, fatty acid metabolism mediated by 5-LOX and 12/15-LOX may still have opposing functions (Figure 55). 5-LOX- deficient HSC or treatment of wild-type HSC with a 5-LOX inhibitor protects against Bcr-Abl-induced CML (Chen et al., 2009b) demonstrating that 5-LOX positively regulates leukemic HSC function. During human CML, expression and activity of LTC₄ synthase, an enzyme downstream of 5-LOX, was increased resulting in higher levels of Leukotriene C₄ (Tornhamre et al., 2003). LTC₄ increased proliferation of normal and leukemic hematopoietic progenitors in response to GM-CSF (Snyder et al., 1989; Stenke et al., 1993). On the other hand, we previously demonstrated that 12/15-LOX functions as a tumor suppressor and protects against development of a CML-like disease (Middleton et al., 2006b). Moreover, the common product of 5-LOX and 12/15-LOX Lipoxin A₄ and a 12-LOX product, 12(S)-HETE were decreased during human CML (Stenke et al., 1991; Stenke et al., 1987). Furthermore, 12/15-LOX products promoted



Figure 55. Schematic of fatty acid metabolism in leukemic HSC function. 5-LOX and 12/15-LOX may oppose each other during leukemogenesis. It is possible

that substrate competition contributes to the a CML-like MPN in Alox15 mice.

apoptosis of K562 leukemic cell line (Mahipal et al., 2007). Therefore, 5-LOX promotes leukemogenesis and its products are increased during human CML, 12/15-LOX functions as a tumor suppressor and its products are decreased during human CML. It is possible that substrate re-diversion in the absence of 12/15-LOX contributes to the CML-like MPN in Alox15 mice.

While 5-LOX and 12/15-LOX may oppose each other during leukemogenesis, the role of COXs are less understood. While COX inhibitors did not effect proliferation or apoptosis of leukemic cell lines (Snyder et al., 1989), COX products Prostaglandin D₂ and Prostaglandin J₂ induced their cell death (Chen et al., 2005). Thus, the role of COX-1 and COX-2 during leukemic development requires further study.

Immunity

My data demonstrated that ROS signaling downstream of 12/15-LOX mediated IL-12p40 gene expression in macrophages. Although it was previously known that ROS signaling increases inflammatory gene transcription (Haddad, 2002b), we now demonstrate that signaling of ROS specifically generated by 12/15-LOX contributes to inflammatory cytokine gene expression. We identify ICSBP/IRF-8 as a novel target downstream of redox signaling. As we previously showed that NF-κB-mediated gene transcription of IL-12p40 was regulated by 12/15-LOX (Middleton et al., 2006a) and as it was known that NF-κB is regulated by redox signaling (Haddad, 2002a), it is likely that ROS signaling mediated by 12/15-LOX also regulates NF-κB transcriptional activity.

Although we demonstrated that ROS signaling downstream of 12/15-

LOX regulated ICSBP/IRF-8 transcriptional activity, it is also likely that ROS generated independently of 12/15-LOX regulates ICSBP/IRF-8 inflammatory gene transcription. Inflammation and inflammatory cytokines can induce ROS production through multiple mechanisms and in turn ROS-signaling contributes to further inflammation and cytokine production (Haddad and Harb, 2005; Lambeth et al., 2008; Shakibaei et al., 2005). Similarly, increased ROS levels during inflammation may activate IRF-8 nuclear accumulation and transcriptional activity of inflammatory cytokines in mature macrophages.

The role of 12/15-LOX has been extensively studied in the context of chronic inflammation. For instance, it was known that 12/15-LOX contributed to chronic inflammation and immunity in atherosclerosis and toxoplasma infection (Cyrus et al., 2001; George et al., 2001; Zhao et al., 2002; Middleton, et al in press). Moreover, it was known that 12/15-LOX regulated expression of inflammatory cytokines in macrophages (Middleton et al., 2006a; Dioszeghy et al., 2008). However, the signaling pathways whereby 12/15-LOX regulated inflammatory gene transcription were not well understood. My studies demonstrate a mechanism whereby 12/15-LOX may regulate inflammatory gene transcription through redox signaling.

Cancer

In addition to leukemia, fatty acid metabolism mediated by 12/15-LOX may also mediate solid tumor progression. Although my data demonstrate how 12/15-LOX mediates signaling in hematopoietic cell types, it would be interesting to determine whether 12/15-LOX promotes self-renewal during solid tumor

progression similarly to how it regulates self-renewal of LSK. On the other hand, since 12/15-LOX functions as a tumor suppressor in leukemia (Middleton et al., 2006b), it is possible that 12/15-LOX functions as a tumor suppressor during solid tumor progression. Our pathways demonstrate that 12/15-LOX may signal through the immune cell specific transcription factor ICSBP/IRF-8 in hematopoietic cells to mediate their effects. Nonetheless, since non-hematopoietic cells do not express ICSBP/IRF-8, it would be interesting to determine whether there are effects of 12/15-LOX independent of ICSBP/IRF-8 on self-renewal, proliferation and cellular differentiation. Importantly, 12/15-LOX may regulate canonical Wnt signaling and self-renewal independently of ICSBP/IRF-8, possibly in a similar manner as the COX-2 and its product PGE₂ (Goessling et al., 2009).

It was known that fatty acid metabolism of AA contributes to solid tumor progression (Figure 56). While COX-1 is constitutively expressed in the majority of both normal and neoplastic tissues, over-expression of COX-2 in both epithelial and leukocyte compartments has been observed in many cancer types including breast, esophageal, gastric, lung, prostate and pancreatic cancer (Furstenberger et al., 2006). Moreover, use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) such as aspirin, which function in part by targeting COX, can reduce incidence and recurrence of several human cancers by up to 50% (Hyde and Missailidis, 2009). More specific COX-2 inhibitors have been used in studies to prevent colon cancer in high-risk populations. However, its long-term use is limited because of increased risk of thrombotic events as described in the

Pro-carcinogenic	Anti-carcinogenic
COX-2: PGE ₂ , PFE ₂	15-LOX1 : 15(S)-HETE
5-LOX: 5(S)-HETE	15-LOX2: 15(S)-HETE
P12-LOX: 12(S)-HETE	
15-LOX1: 13(S)-HODE	

Figure 56. Fatty acid enzymes and metabolites during cancer progression play both pro-carcinogenic and anti-carcinogenic functions depending on the lipid mediator involved. introduction of this dissertation. COX-2 functions to promote cancer by stimulating inflammation, cancer cell proliferation, angiogenesis, cancer cell survival and invasiveness. It signals in part through its lipid products, PGE₂ and PGF₂ to activate RAS-MAPK and Wnt pathways (Furstenberger et al., 2006). Interestingly, COX-2 activates Wnt signaling in multiple cancers similarly to how it activates Wnt signaling in HSC, through inhibition of GSK3 β resulting in increased levels of β -catenin (Lim et al., 2008; Lu et al., 2009; Tuynman et al., 2008). Wnt signaling promotes cell proliferation and self-renewal during cancer, and its constitutive activation is oncogenic.

The role of lipoxygenases during cancer progression is more complicated. The isoenzymes 5-LOX, platelet-12-LOX (p12-LOX) are pro-carcinogenic while 15-LOX-2 (mouse ortholog 8-LOX) is anti-carcinogenic. The role of 15-LOX-1 (mouse ortholog 12/15-LOX) is pro-carcinogenic in prostate cancer but anticarcinogenic during other cancer types. 5-LOX and p12-LOX are absent from normal tissues, induced by inflammatory stimuli and over-expressed in colon, esophageal, lung, prostate and breast cancer. Meanwhile, 15-LOX-1 and 15-LOX-2 are generally expressed only in benign tissues and not in carcincomas. In some cancers decreased expression of 15-LOX coupled with increased expression of p12-LOX is a prognostic of poor tumor outcome. 5-LOX and p12-LOX increase cancer cell proliferation, survival and invasiveness. Both 5-LOX and p12-LOX promote angiogenesis by stimulating endothelial cell proliferation and inducing VEGF expression. Inhibition of 5-LOX or p12-LOX results in apoptosis of breast cancer, colon, gastric, lung and prostate cancers

(Pidgeon et al., 2007). Moreover, inhibition of multiple LOX and COX in combination (such has inhibition of 5-LOX and COX-2) may be beneficial since substrate re-diversion occurs resulting in increased activation of one pathway when the other is inhibited (Schroeder et al., 2007). On the other hand 15-LOX-2 functions as a tumor suppressor in multiple cancer types by promoting cell differentiation and senescence (Pidgeon et al., 2007; Tang et al., 2007).

Although 15-LOX-1 is anti-carcinogenic for most cancer types, its role in prostate cancer is pro-carcinogenic. 15-LOX-1 expression is correlated to tumor grade in human prostate cancers (Pidgeon et al., 2007) and expression of its murine ortholog 12/15-LOX is induced in multiple mouse models of prostate cancer (Shappell et al., 2003; Kelavkar et al., 2004). In addition, induced expression of 15-LOX-1 in the prostate results in epithelial proliferation and prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (Kelavkar et al., 2006). The apparent discrepancy in the role of 15-LOX-1 in distinct tumor types can be resolved by comparing the products involved. The lipid mediators 12(S)-HETE and 13(S)-HODE are pro-carcinogenic while 15(S)-HETE is generally anti-carcinogenic (Figure 56). 12(S)-HETE activated NF- κ B, Erk and p38MAPK to stimulate cell growth, angiogenesis and invasiveness. 13(S)-HODE increased MAPK and Akt activation while 15(S)-HETE decreased activation of MAPK and Akt (Pidgeon et al., 2007). Human p12-LOX generates 12(S)-HETE exclusively while 15-LOX-1 generates both 13(S)-HODE and 15(S)-HETE and 15-LOX-2 generates 15(S)-HETE exclusively. 15-LOX-1 may produce different levels of 13(S)-HODE and 15(S)-HETE in different cell types in the prostate. Nonetheless murine 12/15LOX produces 12(S)-HETE and 15(S)-HETE at a ratio of 3:1 (Chen et al., 1994) in addition to generating 13(S)-HODE. It is likely that murine 12/15-LOX functions more similarly to human p12LOX because of the higher levels of procarcinogenic 12(S)-HETE produced rather than its human ortholog 15-LOX-1 which does not produce a substantial amount of 12(S)-HETE. The study of 12/15-LOX products during tumor progression stresses the importance of understanding the balance of products and downstream signaling pathways. Substrate re-diversion may also play a role during Alox15 carcinogenesis. It would be interesting to explore whether increased COX and 5-LOX activity could contribute to carcinogenesis in Alox15 mice.

Since human p12-LOX and 12/15-LOX are pro-carcinogenic, it would be of interest to determine whether they promote cancer proliferation through Wnt activation similarly to COX-2. Specifically, because the pro-carcinogenic lipid mediators 12(S)-HETE and 13(S)-HODE were decreased in Alox15 HSC which had defective canonical Wnt signaling, 12(S)-HETE and 13(S)-HODE may regulate Wnt signaling and self-renewal to promote cancer progression. The effect of 12/15-LOX as a tumor suppressor in leukemia may be dependent on ICSBP/IRF-8 since it does not function as a tumor suppressor in solid tumors. Although 15(S)-HETE is anti-carcinogenic in solid tumors, it is unlikely to be anticarcinogenic during leukemia since its levels are not changed during human CML and Alox15 CML-like MPN (Middleton et al., 2006b) (Stenke et al., 1987). *Summary*

In summary, my dissertation demonstrates critical roles for 12/15-LOX

in hematopoietic development of multiple cell types. These are the first studies that effectively demonstrate a role for fatty acid metabolism in hematopoietic development *in vivo*. I have defined novel signaling pathways in HSC function and myeloid development. 12/15-LOX promotes self-renewal and maintains quiescence of HSC through canonical Wnt signaling. Moreover, 12/15-LOX mediates monocyte differentiation and inhibits granulocyte differentiation through redox regulation of ICSBP/IRF-8 transcriptional activity through SHP-2. I have shown that this signaling pathway is also likely intact during macrophage regulation of IL-12p40, which has implications for inflammation and immunity. Moreover, these data provide insight into HSC function and myelopoiesis. The signaling pathways that I have elucidated likely underlie development of the CML-like MPN in Alox15 mice and therefore have implications for leukemogenesis and tumorigenesis.

LITERATURE CITED

Akashi, K., Traver, D., Miyamoto, T., and Weissman, I. L. (2000). A clonogenic common myeloid progenitor that gives rise to all myeloid lineages. Nature *404*, 193-197.

Aliberti, J., Schulz, O., Pennington, D. J., Tsujimura, H., Reis e Sousa, C., Ozato,K., and Sher, A. (2003). Essential role for ICSBP in the in vivo development ofmurine CD8alpha + dendritic cells. Blood *101*, 305-310.

Anderson, K. L., Smith, K. A., Conners, K., McKercher, S. R., Maki, R. A., and Torbett, B. E. (1998). Myeloid development is selectively disrupted in PU.1 null mice. Blood *91*, 3702-3710.

Andersson, C. K., Claesson, H. E., Rydell-Tormanen, K., Swedmark, S.,

Hallgren, A., and Erjefalt, J. S. (2008). Mice lacking 12/15-lipoxygenase have attenuated airway allergic inflammation and remodeling. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol *39*, 648-656.

Barbieri, S. S., Eligini, S., Brambilla, M., Tremoli, E., and Colli, S. (2003). Reactive oxygen species mediate cyclooxygenase-2 induction during monocyte to macrophage differentiation: critical role of NADPH oxidase. Cardiovasc Res *60*, 187-197.

Bell, J. J., and Bhandoola, A. (2008). The earliest thymic progenitors for T cells possess myeloid lineage potential. Nature *452*, 764-767.

Blank, U., Karlsson, G., and Karlsson, S. (2008). Signaling pathways governing stem-cell fate. Blood *111*, 492-503.

Bollag, G., Clapp, D. W., Shih, S., Adler, F., Zhang, Y. Y., Thompson, P.,

Lange, B. J., Freedman, M. H., McCormick, F., Jacks, T., and Shannon, K.

(1996). Loss of NF1 results in activation of the Ras signaling pathway and leads to aberrant growth in haematopoietic cells. Nat Genet *12*, 144-148.

Bonnans, C., Vachier, I., Chavis, C., Godard, P., Bousquet, J., and Chanez, P.

(2002). Lipoxins are potential endogenous antiinflammatory mediators in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med *165*, 1531-1535.

Bosco, M. C., Puppo, M., Blengio, F., Fraone, T., Cappello, P., Giovarelli, M., and Varesio, L. (2008). Monocytes and dendritic cells in a hypoxic environment: Spotlights on chemotaxis and migration. Immunobiology *213*, 733-749. Bruecher-Encke, B., Griffin, J. D., Neel, B. G., and Lorenz, U. (2001). Role of the tyrosine phosphatase SHP-1 in K562 cell differentiation. Leukemia *15*, 1424-1432.

Bunce, C. M., French, P. J., Durham, J., Stockley, R. A., Michell, R. H., and Brown, G. (1994). Indomethacin potentiates the induction of HL60 differentiation to neutrophils, by retinoic acid and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, and to monocytes, by vitamin D3. Leukemia *8*, 595-604.

Burchert, A., Cai, D., Hofbauer, L. C., Samuelsson, M. K., Slater, E. P., Duyster, J., Ritter, M., Hochhaus, A., Muller, R., Eilers, M., *et al.* (2004). Interferon consensus sequence binding protein (ICSBP; IRF-8) antagonizes BCR/ABL and down-regulates bcl-2. Blood *103*, 3480-3489.

Ceredig, R., Rolink, A. G., and Brown, G. (2009). Models of haematopoiesis: seeing the wood for the trees. Nat Rev Immunol 9, 293-300.

Chanez, P., Bonnans, C., Chavis, C., and Vachier, I. (2002). 15-

lipoxygenase: a Janus enzyme? Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 27, 655-658.

Chen, C., Liu, Y., Liu, R., Ikenoue, T., Guan, K. L., Liu, Y., and Zheng, P. (2008). TSC-mTOR maintains quiescence and function of hematopoietic stem cells by repressing mitochondrial biogenesis and reactive oxygen species. J Exp Med 205, 2397-2408.

Chen, C. Y., Willard, D., and Rudolph, J. (2009a). Redox regulation of SH2domain-containing protein tyrosine phosphatases by two backdoor cysteines. Biochemistry *48*, 1399-1409.

Chen, X. S., Kurre, U., Jenkins, N. A., Copeland, N. G., and Funk, C. D. (1994). cDNA cloning, expression, mutagenesis of C-terminal isoleucine, genomic structure, and chromosomal localizations of murine 12-lipoxygenases. J Biol Chem *269*, 13979-13987.

Chen, Y., Hu, Y., Zhang, H., Peng, C., and Li, S. (2009b). Loss of the Alox5 gene impairs leukemia stem cells and prevents chronic myeloid leukemia. Nat Genet. Chen, Y. C., Shen, S. C., and Tsai, S. H. (2005). Prostaglandin D(2) and J(2) induce apoptosis in human leukemia cells via activation of the caspase 3 cascade and production of reactive oxygen species. Biochim Biophys Acta *1743*, 291-304.

Cheng, T., Rodrigues, N., Shen, H., Yang, Y., Dombkowski, D., Sykes, M., and Scadden, D. T. (2000). Hematopoietic stem cell quiescence maintained by p21cip1/waf1. Science 287, 1804-1808.

Cheshier, S. H., Morrison, S. J., Liao, X., and Weissman, I. L. (1999). In vivo proliferation and cell cycle kinetics of long-term self-renewing hematopoietic
stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 3120-3125.

Cobas, M., Wilson, A., Ernst, B., Mancini, S. J., MacDonald, H. R., Kemler, R., and Radtke, F. (2004). Beta-catenin is dispensable for hematopoiesis and lymphopoiesis. J Exp Med *199*, 221-229.

Conrad, D. J. (1999). The arachidonate 12/15 lipoxygenases. A review of tissue expression and biologic function. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol *17*, 71-89.

Cyrus, T., Pratico, D., Zhao, L., Witztum, J. L., Rader, D. J., Rokach, J.,

FitzGerald, G. A., and Funk, C. D. (2001). Absence of 12/15-lipoxygenase

expression decreases lipid peroxidation and atherogenesis in apolipoprotein e-

deficient mice. Circulation 103, 2277-2282.

Dahl, R., Walsh, J. C., Lancki, D., Laslo, P., Iyer, S. R., Singh, H., and Simon, M.

C. (2003). Regulation of macrophage and neutrophil cell fates by the

PU.1:C/EBPalpha ratio and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. Nat Immunol *4*, 1029-1036.

Desplat, V., Ivanovic, Z., Dupuis, F., Faucher, J. L., Denizot, Y., and Praloran, V. (2000). Effects of lipoxygenase metabolites of arachidonic acid on the growth of human blood CD34(+) progenitors. Blood Cells Mol Dis *26*, 427-436.

Dioszeghy, V., Rosas, M., Maskrey, B. H., Colmont, C., Topley, N., Chaitidis, P., Kuhn, H., Jones, S. A., Taylor, P. R., and O'Donnell, V. B. (2008). 12/15-

Lipoxygenase regulates the inflammatory response to bacterial products in vivo. J Immunol *181*, 6514-6524.

Dy, M., and Schneider, E. (2004). Histamine-cytokine connection in immunity and hematopoiesis. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev *15*, 393-410.

Eklund, E. A., Jalava, A., and Kakar, R. (1998). PU.1, interferon regulatory factor 1, and interferon consensus sequence-binding protein cooperate to increase gp91(phox) expression. J Biol Chem *273*, 13957-13965.

Eklund, E. A., and Kakar, R. (1999). Recruitment of CREB-binding protein by PU.1, IFN-regulatory factor-1, and the IFN consensus sequence-binding protein is necessary for IFN-gamma-induced p67phox and gp91phox expression. J Immunol *163*, 6095-6105.

Fehr, T., Schoedon, G., Odermatt, B., Holtschke, T., Schneemann, M., Bachmann, M. F., Mak, T. W., Horak, I., and Zinkernagel, R. M. (1997). Crucial role of interferon consensus sequence binding protein, but neither of interferon regulatory factor 1 nor of nitric oxide synthesis for protection against murine listeriosis. J Exp Med *185*, 921-931.

Ficara, F., Murphy, M. J., Lin, M., and Cleary, M. L. (2008). Pbx1 regulates selfrenewal of long-term hematopoietic stem cells by maintaining their quiescence. Cell Stem Cell *2*, 484-496.

Fleming, H. E., Janzen, V., Lo Celso, C., Guo, J., Leahy, K. M., Kronenberg, H.
M., and Scadden, D. T. (2008). Wnt signaling in the niche enforces
hematopoietic stem cell quiescence and is necessary to preserve self-renewal in
vivo. Cell Stem Cell *2*, 274-283.

Fodde, R., and Brabletz, T. (2007). Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in cancer stemness and malignant behavior. Curr Opin Cell Biol *19*, 150-158.

Friedman, A. D. (2007). Transcriptional control of granulocyte and monocyte development. Oncogene *26*, 6816-6828.

Funk, C. D., Funk, L. B., FitzGerald, G. A., and Samuelsson, B. (1992).

Characterization of human 12-lipoxygenase genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89, 3962-3966.

Furstenberger, G., Krieg, P., Muller-Decker, K., and Habenicht, A. J. (2006). What are cyclooxygenases and lipoxygenases doing in the driver's seat of carcinogenesis? Int J Cancer *119*, 2247-2254.

Gabriele, L., Phung, J., Fukumoto, J., Segal, D., Wang, I. M., Giannakakou, P., Giese, N. A., Ozato, K., and Morse, H. C., 3rd (1999). Regulation of apoptosis in myeloid cells by interferon consensus sequence-binding protein. J Exp Med *190*, 411-421.

Geissmann, F., Auffray, C., Palframan, R., Wirrig, C., Ciocca, A., Campisi, L., Narni-Mancinelli, E., and Lauvau, G. (2008). Blood monocytes: distinct subsets, how they relate to dendritic cells, and their possible roles in the regulation of Tcell responses. Immunol Cell Biol *86*, 398-408.

George, J., Afek, A., Shaish, A., Levkovitz, H., Bloom, N., Cyrus, T., Zhao, L., Funk, C. D., Sigal, E., and Harats, D. (2001). 12/15-Lipoxygenase gene disruption attenuates atherogenesis in LDL receptor-deficient mice. Circulation *104*, 1646-1650.

Ghaffari, S. (2008). Oxidative stress in the regulation of normal and neoplastic hematopoiesis. Antioxid Redox Signal *10*, 1923-1940.

Giese, N. A., Gabriele, L., Doherty, T. M., Klinman, D. M., Tadesse-Heath, L., Contursi, C., Epstein, S. L., and Morse, H. C., 3rd (1997). Interferon (IFN) consensus sequence-binding protein, a transcription factor of the IFN regulatory factor family, regulates immune responses in vivo through control of interleukin 12 expression. J Exp Med *186*, 1535-1546.

Girton, R. A., Spector, A. A., and Gordon, J. A. (1994). 15-HETE: selective incorporation into inositol phospholipids of MDCK cells. Kidney Int *45*, 972-980. Godson, C., Mitchell, S., Harvey, K., Petasis, N. A., Hogg, N., and Brady, H. R. (2000). Cutting edge: lipoxins rapidly stimulate nonphlogistic phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by monocyte-derived macrophages. J Immunol *164*, 1663-1667.

Goessling, W., North, T. E., Loewer, S., Lord, A. M., Lee, S., Stoick-Cooper, C.
L., Weidinger, G., Puder, M., Daley, G. Q., Moon, R. T., and Zon, L. I. (2009).
Genetic interaction of PGE2 and Wnt signaling regulates developmental specification of stem cells and regeneration. Cell *136*, 1136-1147.
Gurevich, R. M., Rosten, P. M., Schwieger, M., Stocking, C., and Humphries, R.
K. (2006). Retroviral integration site analysis identifies ICSBP as a collaborating tumor suppressor gene in NUP98-TOP1-induced leukemia. Exp Hematol *34*, 1192-1201.

Haddad, J. J. (2002a). Antioxidant and prooxidant mechanisms in the regulation of redox(y)-sensitive transcription factors. Cell Signal *14*, 879-897.

Haddad, J. J. (2002b). Redox regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines and IkappaB-alpha/NF-kappaB nuclear translocation and activation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *296*, 847-856.

Haddad, J. J., and Harb, H. L. (2005). L-gamma-Glutamyl-L-cysteinyl-glycine (glutathione; GSH) and GSH-related enzymes in the regulation of pro- and

167

anti-inflammatory cytokines: a signaling transcriptional scenario for redox(y) immunologic sensor(s)? Mol Immunol *42*, 987-1014.

Hainaut, P., and Mann, K. (2001). Zinc binding and redox control of p53 structure and function. Antioxid Redox Signal 3, 611-623.

Hajek, A. R., Lindley, A. R., Favoreto, S., Jr., Carter, R., Schleimer, R. P., and Kuperman, D. A. (2008). 12/15-Lipoxygenase deficiency protects mice from allergic airways inflammation and increases secretory IgA levels. J Allergy Clin Immunol *122*, 633-639 e633.

Hancock, J. T. (2009). The role of redox mechanisms in cell signalling. Mol Biotechnol *43*, 162-166.

Hao, S. X., and Ren, R. (2000). Expression of interferon consensus sequence binding protein (ICSBP) is downregulated in Bcr-Abl-induced murine chronic myelogenous leukemia-like disease, and forced coexpression of ICSBP inhibits Bcr-Abl-induced myeloproliferative disorder. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 1149-1161. Harizi, H., Corcuff, J. B., and Gualde, N. (2008). Arachidonic-acid-derived eicosanoids: roles in biology and immunopathology. Trends Mol Med *14*, 461-469.

Harizi, H., and Gualde, N. (2006). Pivotal role of PGE2 and IL-10 in the crossregulation of dendritic cell-derived inflammatory mediators. Cell Mol Immunol *3*, 271-277.

Hein, J., Kempf, V. A., Diebold, J., Bucheler, N., Preger, S., Horak, I., Sing, A., Kramer, U., and Autenrieth, I. B. (2000). Interferon consensus sequence binding protein confers resistance against Yersinia enterocolitica. Infect Immun *68*, 1408-1417.

Heneberg, P., and Draber, P. (2005). Regulation of cys-based protein tyrosine phosphatases via reactive oxygen and nitrogen species in mast cells and basophils. Curr Med Chem *12*, 1859-1871.

Hocevar, B. A., Mou, F., Rennolds, J. L., Morris, S. M., Cooper, J. A., and Howe, P. H. (2003). Regulation of the Wnt signaling pathway by disabled-2 (Dab2). Embo J 22, 3084-3094.

Hock, H., Hamblen, M. J., Rooke, H. M., Schindler, J. W., Saleque, S., Fujiwara, Y., and Orkin, S. H. (2004). Gfi-1 restricts proliferation and preserves functional integrity of haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *431*, 1002-1007.

Hock, H., Hamblen, M. J., Rooke, H. M., Traver, D., Bronson, R. T., Cameron, S., and Orkin, S. H. (2003). Intrinsic requirement for zinc finger transcription factor Gfi-1 in neutrophil differentiation. Immunity *18*, 109-120.

Hofmanova, J., Kozubik, A., Dusek, L., and Pachernik, J. (1998). Inhibitors of
lipoxygenase metabolism exert synergistic effects with retinoic acid on
differentiation of human leukemia HL-60 cells. Eur J Pharmacol *350*, 273-284.
Hoggatt, J., Singh, P., Sampath, J., and Pelus, L. M. (2009). Prostaglandin E2
enhances hematopoietic stem cell homing, survival, and proliferation. Blood *113*, 5444-5455.

Holtschke, T., Lohler, J., Kanno, Y., Fehr, T., Giese, N., Rosenbauer, F., Lou, J., Knobeloch, K. P., Gabriele, L., Waring, J. F., *et al.* (1996). Immunodeficiency and chronic myelogenous leukemia-like syndrome in mice with a targeted mutation of the ICSBP gene. Cell *87*, 307-317. Horman, S. R., Velu, C. S., Chaubey, A., Bourdeau, T., Zhu, J., Paul, W. E., Gebelein, B., and Grimes, H. L. (2009). Gfi1 integrates progenitor versus granulocytic transcriptional programming. Blood *113*, 5466-5475.

Hoshino, K., Quintas-Cardama, A., Radich, J., Dai, H., Yang, H., and Garcia-Manero, G. (2009). Downregulation of JUNB mRNA expression in advanced phase chronic myelogenous leukemia. Leuk Res 33, 1361-1366.

Huang, J. T., Welch, J. S., Ricote, M., Binder, C. J., Willson, T. M., Kelly, C., Witztum, J. L., Funk, C. D., Conrad, D., and Glass, C. K. (1999). Interleukin-4dependent production of PPAR-gamma ligands in macrophages by 12/15lipoxygenase. Nature *400*, 378-382.

Huang, W., Saberwal, G., Horvath, E., Zhu, C., Lindsey, S., and Eklund, E. A. (2006). Leukemia-associated, constitutively active mutants of SHP2 protein tyrosine phosphatase inhibit NF1 transcriptional activation by the interferon consensus sequence binding protein. Mol Cell Biol *26*, 6311-6332.

Hyde, C. A., and Missailidis, S. (2009). Inhibition of arachidonic acid metabolism and its implication on cell proliferation and tumour-angiogenesis. Int Immunopharmacol 9, 701-715.

Iiyama, M., Kakihana, K., Kurosu, T., and Miura, O. (2006). Reactive oxygen species generated by hematopoietic cytokines play roles in activation of receptor-mediated signaling and in cell cycle progression. Cell Signal *18*, 174-182.
Islam, S. A., Thomas, S. Y., Hess, C., Medoff, B. D., Means, T. K., Brander, C., Lilly, C. M., Tager, A. M., and Luster, A. D. (2006). The leukotriene B4 lipid

chemoattractant receptor BLT1 defines antigen-primed T cells in humans.

Blood 107, 444-453.

Israel, E., Cohn, J., Dube, L., and Drazen, J. M. (1996). Effect of treatment with zileuton, a 5-lipoxygenase inhibitor, in patients with asthma. A randomized controlled trial. Zileuton Clinical Trial Group. Jama *275*, 931-936.

Ito, K., Hirao, A., Arai, F., Takubo, K., Matsuoka, S., Miyamoto, K., Ohmura, M., Naka, K., Hosokawa, K., Ikeda, Y., and Suda, T. (2006). Reactive oxygen species act through p38 MAPK to limit the lifespan of hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Med *12*, 446-451.

Iwama, A., Oguro, H., Negishi, M., Kato, Y., Morita, Y., Tsukui, H., Ema, H., Kamijo, T., Katoh-Fukui, Y., Koseki, H., *et al.* (2004). Enhanced self-renewal of hematopoietic stem cells mediated by the polycomb gene product Bmi-1. Immunity *21*, 843-851.

Iwasaki, H., Somoza, C., Shigematsu, H., Duprez, E. A., Iwasaki-Arai, J., Mizuno, S., Arinobu, Y., Geary, K., Zhang, P., Dayaram, T., *et al.* (2005). Distinctive and indispensable roles of PU.1 in maintenance of hematopoietic stem cells and their differentiation. Blood *106*, 1590-1600.

Jack, G. D., Zhang, L., and Friedman, A. D. (2009). M-CSF elevates c-Fos and phospho-C/EBPalpha(S21) via ERK whereas G-CSF stimulates SHP2 phosphorylation in marrow progenitors to contribute to myeloid lineage specification. Blood *114*, 2172-2180.

Jamieson, C. H., Ailles, L. E., Dylla, S. J., Muijtjens, M., Jones, C., Zehnder, J. L., Gotlib, J., Li, K., Manz, M. G., Keating, A., *et al.* (2004). Granulocyte-macrophage progenitors as candidate leukemic stem cells in blast-crisis CML. N Engl J Med 351, 657-667.

Janakiram, N. B., and Rao, C. V. (2009). Role of lipoxins and resolvins as antiinflammatory and proresolving mediators in colon cancer. Curr Mol Med *9*, 565-579.

Jang, Y. Y., and Sharkis, S. J. (2007). A low level of reactive oxygen species selects for primitive hematopoietic stem cells that may reside in the low-oxygenic niche. Blood *110*, 3056-3063.

Jayakumar, A., Donovan, M. J., Tripathi, V., Ramalho-Ortigao, M., and McDowell, M. A. (2008). Leishmania major infection activates NF-kappaB and interferon regulatory factors 1 and 8 in human dendritic cells. Infect Immun *76*, 2138-2148.

Jeannet, G., Scheller, M., Scarpellino, L., Duboux, S., Gardiol, N., Back, J., Kuttler, F., Malanchi, I., Birchmeier, W., Leutz, A., *et al.* (2008). Long-term, multilineage hematopoiesis occurs in the combined absence of beta-catenin and gamma-catenin. Blood *111*, 142-149.

Jiang, Y., Prunier, C., and Howe, P. H. (2008). The inhibitory effects of Disabled-2 (Dab2) on Wnt signaling are mediated through Axin. Oncogene *27*, 1865-1875. Jones, D. P. (2008). Radical-free biology of oxidative stress. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol *295*, C849-868.

Kalra, R., Paderanga, D. C., Olson, K., and Shannon, K. M. (1994). Genetic analysis is consistent with the hypothesis that NF1 limits myeloid cell growth through p21ras. Blood *84*, 3435-3439.

Kanno, Y., Kozak, C. A., Schindler, C., Driggers, P. H., Ennist, D. L.,

Gleason, S. L., Darnell, J. E., Jr., and Ozato, K. (1993). The genomic structure of the murine ICSBP gene reveals the presence of the gamma interferonresponsive element, to which an ISGF3 alpha subunit (or similar) molecule binds. Mol Cell Biol *13*, 3951-3963.

Kautz, B., Kakar, R., David, E., and Eklund, E. A. (2001). SHP1 protein-tyrosine phosphatase inhibits gp91PHOX and p67PHOX expression by inhibiting interaction of PU.1, IRF1, interferon consensus sequence-binding protein, and CREB-binding protein with homologous Cis elements in the CYBB and NCF2 genes. J Biol Chem *276*, 37868-37878.

Kelavkar, U. P., Glasgow, W., Olson, S. J., Foster, B. A., and Shappell, S. B.
(2004). Overexpression of 12/15-lipoxygenase, an ortholog of human 15lipoxygenase-1, in the prostate tumors of TRAMP mice. Neoplasia *6*, 821-830.
Kelavkar, U. P., Parwani, A. V., Shappell, S. B., and Martin, W. D. (2006).
Conditional expression of human 15-lipoxygenase-1 in mouse prostate induces prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia: the FLiMP mouse model. Neoplasia *8*, 510-522.

Kiel, M. J., Yilmaz, O. H., Iwashita, T., Yilmaz, O. H., Terhorst, C., and Morrison,
S. J. (2005). SLAM family receptors distinguish hematopoietic stem and
progenitor cells and reveal endothelial niches for stem cells. Cell *121*, 11091121.

Kim, C., Kim, J. Y., and Kim, J. H. (2008). Cytosolic phospholipase A(2), lipoxygenase metabolites, and reactive oxygen species. BMB Rep *41*, 555-559. Koch, U., Wilson, A., Cobas, M., Kemler, R., Macdonald, H. R., and Radtke,

173

F. (2008). Simultaneous loss of beta- and gamma-catenin does not perturb hematopoiesis or lymphopoiesis. Blood *111*, 160-164.

Koenigsmann, J., Rudolph, C., Sander, S., Kershaw, O., Gruber, A. D., Bullinger, L., Schlegelberger, B., and Carstanjen, D. (2009). Nf1 haploinsufficiency and Icsbp deficiency synergize in the development of leukemias. Blood *113*, 4690-4701.

Kondo, M., Weissman, I. L., and Akashi, K. (1997). Identification of clonogenic common lymphoid progenitors in mouse bone marrow. Cell *91*, 661-672.
Konieczna, I., Horvath, E., Wang, H., Lindsey, S., Saberwal, G., Bei, L., Huang, W., Platanias, L., and Eklund, E. A. (2008). Constitutive activation of SHP2 in mice cooperates with ICSBP deficiency to accelerate progression to acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Invest *118*, 853-867.

Kroetz, D. L., and Zeldin, D. C. (2002). Cytochrome P450 pathways of arachidonic acid metabolism. Curr Opin Lipidol *13*, 273-283.

Kronke, G., Katzenbeisser, J., Uderhardt, S., Zaiss, M. M., Scholtysek, C., Schabbauer, G., Zarbock, A., Koenders, M. I., Axmann, R., Zwerina, J., *et al.* (2009). 12/15-lipoxygenase counteracts inflammation and tissue damage in arthritis. J Immunol *183*, 3383-3389.

Kuhn, H., and Brash, A. R. (1990). Occurrence of lipoxygenase products in membranes of rabbit reticulocytes. Evidence for a role of the reticulocyte lipoxygenase in the maturation of red cells. J Biol Chem *265*, 1454-1458. Kuhn, H., and O'Donnell, V. B. (2006). Inflammation and immune regulation by 12/15-lipoxygenases. Prog Lipid Res *45*, 334-356.

174

Kwon, J., Qu, C. K., Maeng, J. S., Falahati, R., Lee, C., and Williams, M. S. (2005). Receptor-stimulated oxidation of SHP-2 promotes T-cell adhesion through SLP-76-ADAP. Embo J *24*, 2331-2341.

Lambeth, J. D., Krause, K. H., and Clark, R. A. (2008). NOX enzymes as novel targets for drug development. Semin Immunopathol *30*, 339-363.

Lee, E., Lindo, T., Jackson, N., Meng-Choong, L., Reynolds, P., Hill, A., Haswell, M., Jackson, S., and Kilfeather, S. (1999). Reversal of human neutrophil survival by leukotriene B(4) receptor blockade and 5-lipoxygenase and 5-lipoxygenase activating protein inhibitors. Am J Respir Crit Care Med *160*, 2079-2085.

Lee, T. H., Horton, C. E., Kyan-Aung, U., Haskard, D., Crea, A. E., and Spur, B. W. (1989). Lipoxin A4 and lipoxin B4 inhibit chemotactic responses of human neutrophils stimulated by leukotriene B4 and N-formyl-L-methionyl-L-leucyl-L-phenylalanine. Clin Sci (Lond) *77*, 195-203.

Levine, R. L., and Gilliland, D. G. (2008). Myeloproliferative disorders. Blood *112*, 2190-2198.

Levy, B. D., De Sanctis, G. T., Devchand, P. R., Kim, E., Ackerman, K., Schmidt, B. A., Szczeklik, W., Drazen, J. M., and Serhan, C. N. (2002). Multi-pronged inhibition of airway hyper-responsiveness and inflammation by lipoxin A(4). Nat Med *8*, 1018-1023.

Li, X., Qiao, N., Reynaud, D., Abdelhaleem, M., and Pace-Asciak, C. R. (2005). PBT-3, a hepoxilin stable analog, causes long term inhibition of growth of K562 solid tumours in vivo. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *338*, 158-160. Lim, K., Han, C., Xu, L., Isse, K., Demetris, A. J., and Wu, T. (2008). Cyclooxygenase-2-derived prostaglandin E2 activates beta-catenin in human cholangiocarcinoma cells: evidence for inhibition of these signaling pathways by omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. Cancer Res *68*, 553-560.

Loh, M. L., Vattikuti, S., Schubbert, S., Reynolds, M. G., Carlson, E., Lieuw, K. H., Cheng, J. W., Lee, C. M., Stokoe, D., Bonifas, J. M., *et al.* (2004). Mutations in PTPN11 implicate the SHP-2 phosphatase in leukemogenesis. Blood *103*, 2325-2331.

Lu, R., Medina, K. L., Lancki, D. W., and Singh, H. (2003). IRF-4,8 orchestrate the pre-B-to-B transition in lymphocyte development. Genes Dev *17*, 1703-1708. Lu, W., Gong, D., Bar-Sagi, D., and Cole, P. A. (2001). Site-specific incorporation of a phosphotyrosine mimetic reveals a role for tyrosine phosphorylation of SHP-2 in cell signaling. Mol Cell *8*, 759-769.

Lu, W., Tinsley, H. N., Keeton, A., Qu, Z., Piazza, G. A., and Li, Y. (2009). Suppression of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling inhibits prostate cancer cell proliferation. Eur J Pharmacol *602*, 8-14.

Luis, T. C., Weerkamp, F., Naber, B. A., Baert, M. R., de Haas, E. F., Nikolic, T., Heuvelmans, S., De Krijger, R. R., van Dongen, J. J., and Staal, F. J. (2009). Wnt3a deficiency irreversibly impairs hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal and leads to defects in progenitor cell differentiation. Blood *113*, 546-554.

Luo, J. M., Liu, Z. L., Hao, H. L., Wang, F. X., Dong, Z. R., and Ryuzo, O. (2004).

Mutation analysis of hematopoietic cell phosphatase gene in acute leukemia.

Zhongguo Shi Yan Xue Ye Xue Za Zhi 12, 128-132.

Ma, S., Pathak, S., Trinh, L., and Lu, R. (2008). Interferon regulatory factors

4 and 8 induce the expression of Ikaros and Aiolos to down-regulate pre-B-cell receptor and promote cell-cycle withdrawal in pre-B-cell development. Blood *111*, 1396-1403.

Ma, S. L., Sorensen, A. B., Kunder, S., Sorensen, K. D., Quintanilla-Martinez, L.,
Morris, D. W., Schmidt, J., and Pedersen, F. S. (2006). The Icsbp locus is a
common proviral insertion site in mature B-cell lymphomas/plasmacytomas
induced by exogenous murine leukemia virus. Virology *352*, 306-318.
Machado, F. S., Esper, L., Dias, A., Madan, R., Gu, Y., Hildeman, D., Serhan, C.
N., Karp, C. L., and Aliberti, J. (2008). Native and aspirin-triggered lipoxins

control innate immunity by inducing proteasomal degradation of TRAF6. J Exp Med 205, 1077-1086.

Maddox, J. F., Hachicha, M., Takano, T., Petasis, N. A., Fokin, V. V., and Serhan, C. N. (1997). Lipoxin A4 stable analogs are potent mimetics that stimulate human monocytes and THP-1 cells via a G-protein-linked lipoxin A4 receptor. J Biol Chem 272, 6972-6978.

Mahipal, S. V., Subhashini, J., Reddy, M. C., Reddy, M. M., Anilkumar, K., Roy, K. R., Reddy, G. V., and Reddanna, P. (2007). Effect of 15-lipoxygenase metabolites, 15-(S)-HPETE and 15-(S)-HETE on chronic myelogenous leukemia cell line K-562: reactive oxygen species (ROS) mediate caspase-dependent apoptosis. Biochem Pharmacol *74*, 202-214.

Malhotra, S., and Kincade, P. W. (2009). Wnt-related molecules and signaling pathway equilibrium in hematopoiesis. Cell Stem Cell *4*, 27-36.

Masumi, A., Tamaoki, S., Wang, I. M., Ozato, K., and Komuro, K. (2002).

IRF-8/ICSBP and IRF-1 cooperatively stimulate mouse IL-12 promoter activity in macrophages. FEBS Lett *531*, 348-353.

Meng, T. C., Fukada, T., and Tonks, N. K. (2002). Reversible oxidation and inactivation of protein tyrosine phosphatases in vivo. Mol Cell *9*, 387-399. Middleton, M. K., Rubinstein, T., and Pure, E. (2006a). Cellular and molecular mechanisms of the selective regulation of IL-12 production by 12/15-lipoxygenase. J Immunol *176*, 265-274.

Middleton, M. K., Zukas, A. M., Rubinstein, T., Jacob, M., Zhu, P., Zhao, L., Blair, I., and Pure, E. (2006b). Identification of 12/15-lipoxygenase as a suppressor of myeloproliferative disease. J Exp Med *203*, 2529-2540.

Miller, A. M., Kobb, S. M., and McTiernan, R. (1990). Regulation of HL-60 differentiation by lipoxygenase pathway metabolites in vitro. Cancer Res *50*, 7257-7260.

Miyamoto, K., Araki, K. Y., Naka, K., Arai, F., Takubo, K., Yamazaki, S., Matsuoka, S., Miyamoto, T., Ito, K., Ohmura, M., *et al.* (2007). Foxo3a is essential for maintenance of the hematopoietic stem cell pool. Cell Stem Cell *1*, 101-112.

Morel, F., Szilvassy, S. J., Travis, M., Chen, B., and Galy, A. (1996). Primitive hematopoietic cells in murine bone marrow express the CD34 antigen. Blood *88*, 3774-3784.

Mueller, B. U., Pabst, T., Osato, M., Asou, N., Johansen, L. M., Minden, M. D., Behre, G., Hiddemann, W., Ito, Y., and Tenen, D. G. (2002). Heterozygous PU.1 mutations are associated with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood *100*, 998-1007. Mullin, B. H., Spector, T. D., Curtis, C. C., Ong, G. N., Hart, D. J., Hakim, A. J., Worthy, T., and Wilson, S. G. (2007). Polymorphisms in ALOX12, but not ALOX15, are significantly associated with BMD in postmenopausal women. Calcif Tissue Int *81*, 10-17.

Nakata, S., Matsumura, I., Tanaka, H., Ezoe, S., Satoh, Y., Ishikawa, J., Era, T., and Kanakura, Y. (2004). NF-kappaB family proteins participate in multiple steps of hematopoiesis through elimination of reactive oxygen species. J Biol Chem *279*, 55578-55586.

Naughton, R., Quiney, C., Turner, S. D., and Cotter, T. G. (2009). Bcr-Ablmediated redox regulation of the PI3K/AKT pathway. Leukemia *23*, 1432-1440. Nelson, N., Kanno, Y., Hong, C., Contursi, C., Fujita, T., Fowlkes, B. J.,

O'Connell, E., Hu-Li, J., Paul, W. E., Jankovic, D., *et al.* (1996). Expression of IFN regulatory factor family proteins in lymphocytes. Induction of Stat-1 and IFN consensus sequence binding protein expression by T cell activation. J Immunol *156*, 3711-3720.

Nemeth, M. J., Kirby, M. R., and Bodine, D. M. (2006). Hmgb3 regulates the balance between hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal and differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *103*, 13783-13788.

Nemeth, M. J., Topol, L., Anderson, S. M., Yang, Y., and Bodine, D. M. (2007). Wnt5a inhibits canonical Wnt signaling in hematopoietic stem cells and enhances repopulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 15436-15441.

Niihori, T., Aoki, Y., Ohashi, H., Kurosawa, K., Kondoh, T., Ishikiriyama, S., Kawame, H., Kamasaki, H., Yamanaka, T., Takada, F., *et al.* (2005). Functional analysis of PTPN11/SHP-2 mutants identified in Noonan syndrome and childhood leukemia. J Hum Genet *50*, 192-202.

North, T. E., Goessling, W., Walkley, C. R., Lengerke, C., Kopani, K. R., Lord, A. M., Weber, G. J., Bowman, T. V., Jang, I. H., Grosser, T., *et al.* (2007). Prostaglandin E2 regulates vertebrate haematopoietic stem cell homeostasis. Nature *447*, 1007-1011.

Obukowicz, M. G., and Ornberg, R. L. (1999). Mitigation of arthritis by high-dose administration of a COX-2 inhibitor in the collagen-induced arthritis model in the mouse. Adv Exp Med Biol *469*, 145-150.

Pan, J. S., Hong, M. Z., and Ren, J. L. (2009). Reactive oxygen species: a double-edged sword in oncogenesis. World J Gastroenterol *15*, 1702-1707.

Pani, G., Colavitti, R., Bedogni, B., Anzevino, R., Borrello, S., and Galeotti, T.

(2000). A redox signaling mechanism for density-dependent inhibition of cell growth. J Biol Chem *275*, 38891-38899.

Papayianni, A., Serhan, C. N., and Brady, H. R. (1996). Lipoxin A4 and B4 inhibit leukotriene-stimulated interactions of human neutrophils and endothelial cells. J Immunol *156*, 2264-2272.

Passegue, E., Jochum, W., Schorpp-Kistner, M., Mohle-Steinlein, U., and Wagner, E. F. (2001). Chronic myeloid leukemia with increased granulocyte progenitors in mice lacking junB expression in the myeloid lineage. Cell *104*, 21-32.

Passegue, E., Wagers, A. J., Giuriato, S., Anderson, W. C., and Weissman, I. L. (2005). Global analysis of proliferation and cell cycle gene expression in the

regulation of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell fates. J Exp Med 202, 1599-1611.

Passegue, E., Wagner, E. F., and Weissman, I. L. (2004). JunB deficiency leads to a myeloproliferative disorder arising from hematopoietic stem cells. Cell *119*, 431-443.

Peters-Golden, M., and Henderson, W. R., Jr. (2007). Leukotrienes. N Engl J Med 357, 1841-1854.

Piccoli, C., D'Aprile, A., Ripoli, M., Scrima, R., Lecce, L., Boffoli, D., Tabilio, A., and Capitanio, N. (2007). Bone-marrow derived hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells express multiple isoforms of NADPH oxidase and produce constitutively reactive oxygen species. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *353*, 965-972.
Pidgeon, G. P., Lysaght, J., Krishnamoorthy, S., Reynolds, J. V., O'Byrne, K., Nie, D., and Honn, K. V. (2007). Lipoxygenase metabolism: roles in tumor

progression and survival. Cancer Metastasis Rev 26, 503-524.

Purton, L. E., and Scadden, D. T. (2007). Limiting factors in murine

hematopoietic stem cell assays. Cell Stem Cell 1, 263-270.

renewal of haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 423, 409-414.

Ren, R. (2005). Mechanisms of BCR-ABL in the pathogenesis of chronic myelogenous leukaemia. Nat Rev Cancer *5*, 172-183.

Reya, T., Duncan, A. W., Ailles, L., Domen, J., Scherer, D. C., Willert, K., Hintz, L., Nusse, R., and Weissman, I. L. (2003). A role for Wnt signalling in self-

Rho, Y. H., Oeser, A., Chung, C. P., Milne, G. L., and Stein, C. M. (2009). Drugs Used in the Treatment of Rheumatoid Arthritis: Relationship between Current Use and Cardiovascular Risk Factors. Arch Drug Inf 2, 34-40.

Roobrouck, V. D., Ulloa-Montoya, F., and Verfaillie, C. M. (2008). Self-renewal and differentiation capacity of young and aged stem cells. Exp Cell Res *314*, 1937-1944.

Rosenbauer, F., Kallies, A., Scheller, M., Knobeloch, K. P., Rock, C. O.,

Schwieger, M., Stocking, C., and Horak, I. (2002). Disabled-2 is transcriptionally regulated by ICSBP and augments macrophage spreading and adhesion. Embo J *21*, 211-220.

Rouzer, C. A., and Marnett, L. J. (2009). Cyclooxygenases: structural and functional insights. J Lipid Res *50 Suppl*, S29-34.

Sattler, M., Winkler, T., Verma, S., Byrne, C. H., Shrikhande, G., Salgia, R., and Griffin, J. D. (1999). Hematopoietic growth factors signal through the formation of reactive oxygen species. Blood *93*, 2928-2935.

Sauvageau, G., Thorsteinsdottir, U., Eaves, C. J., Lawrence, H. J., Largman, C., Lansdorp, P. M., and Humphries, R. K. (1995). Overexpression of HOXB4 in hematopoietic cells causes the selective expansion of more primitive populations in vitro and in vivo. Genes Dev *9*, 1753-1765.

Scharton-Kersten, T., Contursi, C., Masumi, A., Sher, A., and Ozato, K. (1997). Interferon consensus sequence binding protein-deficient mice display impaired resistance to intracellular infection due to a primary defect in interleukin 12 p40 induction. J Exp Med *186*, 1523-1534.

Scheller, M., Foerster, J., Heyworth, C. M., Waring, J. F., Lohler, J., Gilmore, G. L., Shadduck, R. K., Dexter, T. M., and Horak, I. (1999). Altered

development and cytokine responses of myeloid progenitors in the absence of transcription factor, interferon consensus sequence binding protein. Blood 94, 3764-3771.

Schmidt, M., Bies, J., Tamura, T., Ozato, K., and Wolff, L. (2004). The interferon regulatory factor ICSBP/IRF-8 in combination with PU.1 up-regulates expression of tumor suppressor p15(Ink4b) in murine myeloid cells. Blood *103*, 4142-4149. Schmidt, M., Hochhaus, A., Nitsche, A., Hehlmann, R., and Neubauer, A. (2001). Expression of nuclear transcription factor interferon consensus sequence binding protein in chronic myeloid leukemia correlates with pretreatment risk features and cytogenetic response to interferon-alpha. Blood *97*, 3648-3650.

Schmidt, M., Nagel, S., Proba, J., Thiede, C., Ritter, M., Waring, J. F.,

Rosenbauer, F., Huhn, D., Wittig, B., Horak, I., and Neubauer, A. (1998). Lack of interferon consensus sequence binding protein (ICSBP) transcripts in human myeloid leukemias. Blood *91*, 22-29.

Schmidt, R., Staats, P., Groneberg, D. A., and Wagner, U. (2005). The cysteinylleukotriene-1 receptor antagonist zafirlukast is a potent secretagogue in rat and human airways. Eur J Pharmacol *527*, 150-156.

Schroeder, C. P., Yang, P., Newman, R. A., and Lotan, R. (2007). Simultaneous inhibition of COX-2 and 5-LOX activities augments growth arrest and death of premalignant and malignant human lung cell lines. J Exp Ther Oncol *6*, 183-192. Schubbert, S., Lieuw, K., Rowe, S. L., Lee, C. M., Li, X., Loh, M. L., Clapp, D. W., and Shannon, K. M. (2005). Functional analysis of leukemia-associated PTPN11 mutations in primary hematopoietic cells. Blood *106*, 311-317.

Schwarz, B. A., and Bhandoola, A. (2004). Circulating hematopoietic progenitors with T lineage potential. Nat Immunol *5*, 953-960.

Schwieger, M., Lohler, J., Friel, J., Scheller, M., Horak, I., and Stocking, C.

(2002). AML1-ETO inhibits maturation of multiple lymphohematopoietic lineages and induces myeloblast transformation in synergy with ICSBP deficiency. J Exp Med *196*, 1227-1240.

Serhan, C. N. (2005). Lipoxins and aspirin-triggered 15-epi-lipoxins are the first lipid mediators of endogenous anti-inflammation and resolution. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids *73*, 141-162.

Shakibaei, M., Schulze-Tanzil, G., Takada, Y., and Aggarwal, B. B. (2005). Redox regulation of apoptosis by members of the TNF superfamily. Antioxid Redox Signal *7*, 482-496.

Shannon, K. M., O'Connell, P., Martin, G. A., Paderanga, D., Olson, K., Dinndorf, P., and McCormick, F. (1994). Loss of the normal NF1 allele from the bone marrow of children with type 1 neurofibromatosis and malignant myeloid disorders. N Engl J Med *330*, 597-601.

Shappell, S. B., Olson, S. J., Hannah, S. E., Manning, S., Roberts, R. L.,
Masumori, N., Jisaka, M., Boeglin, W. E., Vader, V., Dave, D. S., *et al.* (2003).
Elevated expression of 12/15-lipoxygenase and cyclooxygenase-2 in a
transgenic mouse model of prostate carcinoma. Cancer Res *63*, 2256-2267.
Sharf, R., Azriel, A., Lejbkowicz, F., Winograd, S. S., Ehrlich, R., and Levi, B. Z.
(1995). Functional domain analysis of interferon consensus sequence binding
protein (ICSBP) and its association with interferon regulatory factors. J Biol

Chem 270, 13063-13069.

Sharf, R., Meraro, D., Azriel, A., Thornton, A. M., Ozato, K., Petricoin, E. F., Larner, A. C., Schaper, F., Hauser, H., and Levi, B. Z. (1997). Phosphorylation events modulate the ability of interferon consensus sequence binding protein to interact with interferon regulatory factors and to bind DNA. J Biol Chem 272, 9785-9792.

Shin, E. H., Lee, H. Y., and Bae, Y. S. (2006). Leukotriene B4 stimulates human monocyte-derived dendritic cell chemotaxis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *348*, 606-611.

Smith, W. L., DeWitt, D. L., and Garavito, R. M. (2000). Cyclooxygenases: structural, cellular, and molecular biology. Annu Rev Biochem *69*, 145-182. Snyder, D. S., Castro, R., and Desforges, J. F. (1989). Antiproliferative effects of lipoxygenase inhibitors on malignant human hematopoietic cell lines. Exp Hematol *17*, 6-9.

Sodin-Semrl, S., Taddeo, B., Tseng, D., Varga, J., and Fiore, S. (2000). Lipoxin A4 inhibits IL-1 beta-induced IL-6, IL-8, and matrix metalloproteinase-3 production in human synovial fibroblasts and enhances synthesis of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases. J Immunol *164*, 2660-2666.

Spector, A. A. (2009). Arachidonic acid cytochrome P450 epoxygenase pathway. J Lipid Res *50 Suppl*, S52-56.

Staal, F. J., and Sen, J. M. (2008). The canonical Wnt signaling pathway plays an important role in lymphopoiesis and hematopoiesis. Eur J Immunol *38*, 1788-1794. Stenke, L., Edenius, C., Samuelsson, J., and Lindgren, J. A. (1991). Deficient lipoxin synthesis: a novel platelet dysfunction in myeloproliferative disorders with special reference to blastic crisis of chronic myelogenous leukemia. Blood 78, 2989-2995.

Stenke, L., Lauren, L., Reizenstein, P., and Lindgren, J. A. (1987). Leukotriene production by fresh human bone marrow cells: evidence of altered lipoxygenase activity in chronic myelocytic leukemia. Exp Hematol *15*, 203-207.

Stenke, L., Mansour, M., Reizenstein, P., and Lindgren, J. A. (1993). Stimulation of human myelopoiesis by leukotrienes B4 and C4: interactions with granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. Blood *81*, 352-356.

Stirewalt, D. L., Choi, Y. E., Sharpless, N. E., Pogosova-Agadjanyan, E. L.,

Cronk, M. R., Yukawa, M., Larson, E. B., Wood, B. L., Appelbaum, F. R., Radich, J. P., and Heimfeld, S. (2008). Decreased IRF8 expression found in aging hematopoietic progenitor/stem cells. Leukemia.

Stixova, L., Prochazkova, J., Soucek, K., Hofmanova, J., and Kozubik, A. (2009). 5-Lipoxygenase inhibitors potentiate 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3)-induced monocytic differentiation by activating p38 MAPK pathway. Mol Cell Biochem. Sun, D., and Funk, C. D. (1996). Disruption of 12/15-lipoxygenase expression in peritoneal macrophages. Enhanced utilization of the 5-lipoxygenase pathway and diminished oxidation of low density lipoprotein. J Biol Chem *271*, 24055-24062. Tager, A. M., Dufour, J. H., Goodarzi, K., Bercury, S. D., von Andrian, U. H., and Luster, A. D. (2000). BLTR mediates leukotriene B(4)-induced chemotaxis and adhesion and plays a dominant role in eosinophil accumulation in a murine model of peritonitis. J Exp Med 192, 439-446.

Takada, R., Satomi, Y., Kurata, T., Ueno, N., Norioka, S., Kondoh, H., Takao, T., and Takada, S. (2006). Monounsaturated fatty acid modification of Wnt protein: its role in Wnt secretion. Dev Cell *11*, 791-801.

Takata, S., Matsubara, M., Allen, P. G., Janmey, P. A., Serhan, C. N., and Brady, H. R. (1994). Remodeling of neutrophil phospholipids with 15(S)-

hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid inhibits leukotriene B4-induced neutrophil migration across endothelium. J Clin Invest 93, 499-508.

Takayama, H., Okuma, M., Kanaji, K., Sugiyama, T., Sensaki, S., and Uchino, H.

(1983). Altered arachidonate metabolism by leukocytes and platelets in

myeloproliferative disorders. Prostaglandins Leukot Med 12, 261-272.

Tamura, T., Kong, H. J., Tunyaplin, C., Tsujimura, H., Calame, K., and Ozato, K. (2003). ICSBP/IRF-8 inhibits mitogenic activity of p210 Bcr/Abl in differentiating myeloid progenitor cells. Blood *102*, 4547-4554.

Tamura, T., Nagamura-Inoue, T., Shmeltzer, Z., Kuwata, T., and Ozato, K. (2000). ICSBP directs bipotential myeloid progenitor cells to differentiate into mature macrophages. Immunity *13*, 155-165.

Tamura, T., and Ozato, K. (2002). ICSBP/IRF-8: its regulatory roles in the development of myeloid cells. J Interferon Cytokine Res *22*, 145-152.

Tamura, T., Yanai, H., Savitsky, D., and Taniguchi, T. (2008). The IRF family transcription factors in immunity and oncogenesis. Annu Rev Immunol *26*, 535-584.

Tang, D. G., Bhatia, B., Tang, S., and Schneider-Broussard, R. (2007). 15-

lipoxygenase 2 (15-LOX2) is a functional tumor suppressor that regulates human prostate epithelial cell differentiation, senescence, and growth (size). Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat *82*, 135-146.

Taube, C., Miyahara, N., Ott, V., Swanson, B., Takeda, K., Loader, J., Shultz, L. D., Tager, A. M., Luster, A. D., Dakhama, A., and Gelfand, E. W. (2006). The leukotriene B4 receptor (BLT1) is required for effector CD8+ T cell-mediated, mast cell-dependent airway hyperresponsiveness. J Immunol *176*, 3157-3164. Thiele, J. (2009). Philadelphia chromosome-negative chronic myeloproliferative disease. Am J Clin Pathol *132*, 261-280.

Tornhamre, S., Stenke, L., Granzelius, A., Sjolinder, M., Nasman-Glaser, B.,
Roos, C., Widell, S., and Lindgren, J. A. (2003). Inverse relationship between
myeloid maturation and leukotriene C4 synthase expression in normal and
leukemic myelopoiesis-consistent overexpression of the enzyme in myeloid cells
from patients with chronic myeloid leukemia. Exp Hematol *31*, 122-130.
Tothova, Z., Kollipara, R., Huntly, B. J., Lee, B. H., Castrillon, D. H., Cullen, D.
E., McDowell, E. P., Lazo-Kallanian, S., Williams, I. R., Sears, C., *et al.* (2007).
FoxOs are critical mediators of hematopoietic stem cell resistance to physiologic
oxidative stress. Cell *128*, 325-339.

Tsujimura, H., Nagamura-Inoue, T., Tamura, T., and Ozato, K. (2002). IFN consensus sequence binding protein/IFN regulatory factor-8 guides bone marrow progenitor cells toward the macrophage lineage. J Immunol *169*, 1261-1269. Tsujimura, H., Tamura, T., Gongora, C., Aliberti, J., Reis e Sousa, C., Sher, A., and Ozato, K. (2003). ICSBP/IRF-8 retrovirus transduction rescues dendritic

cell development in vitro. Blood 101, 961-969.

Tuynman, J. B., Vermeulen, L., Boon, E. M., Kemper, K., Zwinderman, A. H., Peppelenbosch, M. P., and Richel, D. J. (2008). Cyclooxygenase-2 inhibition inhibits c-Met kinase activity and Wnt activity in colon cancer. Cancer Res *68*, 1213-1220.

van Leyen, K., Duvoisin, R. M., Engelhardt, H., and Wiedmann, M. (1998). A function for lipoxygenase in programmed organelle degradation. Nature *395*, 392-395.

Van Schoor, J., Joos, G. F., Kips, J. C., Drajesk, J. F., Carpentier, P. J., and Pauwels, R. A. (1997). The effect of ABT-761, a novel 5-lipoxygenase inhibitor, on exercise- and adenosine-induced bronchoconstriction in asthmatic subjects. Am J Respir Crit Care Med *155*, 875-880.

Vardiman, J. W. (2009). Chronic myelogenous leukemia, BCR-ABL1+. Am J Clin Pathol *132*, 250-260.

Wallace, J. L., de Lima, O. M., Jr., and Fiorucci, S. (2005). Lipoxins in gastric mucosal health and disease. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 73, 251-255.

Wang, I. M., Contursi, C., Masumi, A., Ma, X., Trinchieri, G., and Ozato, K. (2000). An IFN-gamma-inducible transcription factor, IFN consensus sequence binding protein (ICSBP), stimulates IL-12 p40 expression in macrophages. J Immunol *165*, 271-279.

Wei, C., Zhu, P., Shah, S. J., and Blair, I. A. (2009). 15-Oxo-Eicosatetraenoic Acid, a Metabolite of Macrophage 15-Hydroxyprostaglandin Dehydrogenase that Inhibits Endothelial Cell Proliferation. Mol Pharmacol.

Weibrecht, I., Bohmer, S. A., Dagnell, M., Kappert, K., Ostman, A., and Bohmer, F. D. (2007). Oxidation sensitivity of the catalytic cysteine of the protein-tyrosine phosphatases SHP-1 and SHP-2. Free Radic Biol Med *43*, 100-110.

Willert, K., Brown, J. D., Danenberg, E., Duncan, A. W., Weissman, I. L., Reya,

T., Yates, J. R., 3rd, and Nusse, R. (2003). Wnt proteins are lipid-modified and can act as stem cell growth factors. Nature *423*, 448-452.

Williams, F. M., and Spector, T. D. (2009). A new 5-lipoxygenase inhibitor seems to be safe and effective for the treatment of osteoarthritis. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol *5*, 132-133.

Wilson, A., Laurenti, E., Oser, G., van der Wath, R. C., Blanco-Bose, W.,

Jaworski, M., Offner, S., Dunant, C. F., Eshkind, L., Bockamp, E., et al. (2008).

Hematopoietic stem cells reversibly switch from dormancy to self-renewal during homeostasis and repair. Cell *135*, 1118-1129.

Wilson, A., Oser, G. M., Jaworski, M., Blanco-Bose, W. E., Laurenti, E., Adolphe, C., Essers, M. A., Macdonald, H. R., and Trumpp, A. (2007). Dormant and selfrenewing hematopoietic stem cells and their niches. Ann N Y Acad Sci *1106*, 64-75.

Woszczek, G., Pawliczak, R., Qi, H. Y., Nagineni, S., Alsaaty, S., Logun, C., and Shelhamer, J. H. (2005). Functional characterization of human cysteinyl leukotriene 1 receptor gene structure. J Immunol *175*, 5152-5159.

Wu, S. H., Lu, C., Dong, L., Zhou, G. P., He, Z. G., and Chen, Z. Q. (2005).

Lipoxin A4 inhibits TNF-alpha-induced production of interleukins and

proliferation of rat mesangial cells. Kidney Int 68, 35-46.

Xiong, H., Li, H., Kong, H. J., Chen, Y., Zhao, J., Xiong, S., Huang, B., Gu, H., Mayer, L., Ozato, K., and Unkeless, J. C. (2005). Ubiquitin-dependent degradation of interferon regulatory factor-8 mediated by Cbl down-regulates interleukin-12 expression. J Biol Chem *280*, 23531-23539.

Yamamoto, T., Sakaguchi, N., Hachiya, M., Nakayama, F., Yamakawa, M., and Akashi, M. (2009). Role of catalase in monocytic differentiation of U937 cells by TPA: hydrogen peroxide as a second messenger. Leukemia *23*, 761-769.

Yang, L., Bryder, D., Adolfsson, J., Nygren, J., Mansson, R., Sigvardsson, M.,

and Jacobsen, S. E. (2005). Identification of Lin(-)Sca1(+)kit(+)CD34(+)Flt3-

short-term hematopoietic stem cells capable of rapidly reconstituting and

rescuing myeloablated transplant recipients. Blood 105, 2717-2723.

Yang, M. Y., Liu, T. C., Chang, J. G., Lin, P. M., and Lin, S. F. (2003). JunB gene expression is inactivated by methylation in chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood *101*, 3205-3211.

Yilmaz, O. H., Valdez, R., Theisen, B. K., Guo, W., Ferguson, D. O., Wu, H., and Morrison, S. J. (2006). Pten dependence distinguishes haematopoietic stem cells from leukaemia-initiating cells. Nature *441*, 475-482.

Zarbock, A., Distasi, M. R., Smith, E., Sanders, J. M., Kronke, G., Harry, B. L., von Vietinghoff, S., Buscher, K., Nadler, J. L., and Ley, K. (2009). Improved survival and reduced vascular permeability by eliminating or blocking 12/15lipoxygenase in mouse models of acute lung injury (ALI). J Immunol *183*, 4715-4722. Zhao, C., Blum, J., Chen, A., Kwon, H. Y., Jung, S. H., Cook, J. M., Lagoo, A., and Reya, T. (2007). Loss of beta-catenin impairs the renewal of normal and CML stem cells in vivo. Cancer Cell *12*, 528-541.

Zhao, L., Cuff, C. A., Moss, E., Wille, U., Cyrus, T., Klein, E. A., Pratico, D.,

Rader, D. J., Hunter, C. A., Pure, E., and Funk, C. D. (2002). Selective

interleukin-12 synthesis defect in 12/15-lipoxygenase-deficient macrophages

associated with reduced atherosclerosis in a mouse model of familial

hypercholesterolemia. J Biol Chem 277, 35350-35356.

Zhu, C., Saberwal, G., Lu, Y., Platanias, L. C., and Eklund, E. A. (2004). The interferon consensus sequence-binding protein activates transcription of the gene encoding neurofibromin 1. J Biol Chem 279, 50874-50885.